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Yes, 1t does.

II >

Q And your initial affidavit that
was sworn in July of 2014 denied that you had
provi ded any confidential information to West Face,
correct?

A | thought ny initial affidavit
mentioned an enmail | sent to Tom Dea.

Q Ri ght, but in your affidavit you
deni ed that there was anything confidential about
t hose docunents, right?

A. Yes.
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9 17 H I And can we
10 agree now that you were not accurate when you

11 initially gave your evidence that you hadn't

12 provi ded any confidential information to West Face?
13 A | think I -- giving it a lot nore
14 t hought since then, that may have been i naccurate.

15 18 Q May have been or was?

16 A They did contain sonme confidenti al
17 I nf or mati on.

18| H
19 I

20 I

21 I
22 e
23 e
24 -

25 I
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1 I

2 20 Q So can we agree now that the

3 docunents you provided to West Face, those

4 i nvest nent nmenos that you spoke of in your original
5 affidavit did contain confidential information?

6 A Some of them did.

7 21 Q kay. How many of themdid of the
8 four that you provided? | think there were four,

9 right?

10 A Yes. | would think maybe one.

11 22 Q One, okay. So which neno?

12 A Maybe two, but...

13 23 Q So which of the four menobs that

14 you provi ded can we now take off the table and

15 specifically agree contai ned confidenti al

16 i nformation?

17 A The Honmberg neno probably.

18 24 Q Al right. Wat about the others?
19 A Maybe the NSI neno.

20 25 Q So you seemto hedge your answer
21 on both of those. Are you saying they contain

22 confidential information or are you saying they

23 don't?

24 A | m saying they did contain sone
25 confidential information.
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Brandon Moyse 10
1 26 Q Al right. So the other two nenos
2 that you provided in your view still, the position
3 is, just so | understand going into trial here, do
4 not contain confidential information?

5 A | think the nmenos are proprietary,

6 | don't think there's any confidential information

7 in them

8 27 Q So that gets back into our initial

9 exchange when | first cross-exam ned you in July.

10 Are you suggesting that in your view the nenos

11 t hensel ves weren't confidential?

12 A They may have been.

13 28 Q "May have been" doesn't hel p us,

14 M. Mbyse.

15 A The nenos thensel ves, yes, may --

16 were confidential, | would say.

17 29 Q So it's a distinction you're

18 drawi ng, just so | understand, it's a distinction

19 you' re draw ng between the fact that the nenbs were

20 confidential but that they may not have contai ned

21 any confidential information in them is that the

22 di stinction you're trying to draw?

23 A |"mnot trying to draw that.

24 That's what | believe.

25 30 Q Ckay. So that's the distinction
neesonsreporting. com 2016- 05-12
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1 you' re maki ng?
2 A Yes.
3 31 Q But there's no question in your
4 m nd that you should not have provided those to a
5 third party?
6 A | agree with that.
7 32 Q And when you say you had done sone
8 further reflection on the matter since you gave
9 your initial evidence, was that reflection that was
10 done between the period of your July affidavits and
11 your April 2015 affidavit?
12 A It's been a continuous process.
13 33 Q Al right. Ws the reflection
14 that you perfornmed as a result of the decision that
15 was nmade on the injunction? Just trying to
16 under stand how you fornmed a different view of what
17 may have been confidential at different points in
18 time.
19 A Like | said, it was an evol ution.
20 34 Q Al right. And was the injunction
21 deci sion sonething that inforned the evol ution?
22 A It did. | don't know if that was
23 the turning point.
24 H H .
25 .|
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1 |
2 |
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4 .|
5 |
¢ 1l H
/ I
8 H
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10 134 Q Right. Wuld part of your role

11 have invol ved attendi ng what we' ve cal |l ed Monday

12 norni ng neetings? | think you tal ked about that in
13 one of your affidavits as well.

14 A Yes.

15 135 Q Al right. And tell ne about

16 t hose neeti ngs?

17 A So the neetings were usually over
18 | unch, alnost -- sorry, pretty nuch always over

19 | unch. They --

20 136 Q That's not norning to nme, but in
21 any event...

22 A They start at 12: 30.

23 137 Q Pretty casual day if your norning
24 i ncl udes | unch.

25 A They start at 12:30. So they
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1 would -- so the, in Catalyst, call it investnent
2 team woul d attend, so that would be Newt G assnman,
3 the head of Catal yst, Gabriel de Al ba, partner, Jim
4 Ril ey, partner, and then whatever VPs, anal ysts,
5 associ ates were there. It also frequently included
6 Chester Dawes who is the CFO and treasurer of
7 Catal yst Capital G oup, and they sonetines included
8 Davi d Reese, who is the head of Callidus, a conpany
9 t hat Catal yst owns.

10 138 Q Ckay. And apart from havi ng

11 | unch, apparently, what kinds of things would be

12 di scussed at those Monday neetings?

13 A The bul k of the neetings were

14 spent discussing, call it, macroecononm c and

15 geopolitical issues. At the tail end of the

16 nmeetings, |less consistently but the portfolio

17 conpani es woul d be di scussed, so Gabriel mght give
18 an update on what was going on with specific

19 portfolio conpanies and we m ght al so di scuss deal s
20 we were actively working on.

21 139 Q How about potential deals or

22 I nvest ment s?

23 A That's what | neant by actively

24 wor ki ng on.

25 140 Q Ckay. So not just deals that were
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1 in the pipeline, but deals that you m ght want to

2 becone invol ved i n?

3 A Certainly those cane up but |ess

4 frequently than active deals or portfolio

5 conpani es.

6 141 Q Was the Wnd opportunity ever

7 di scussed at a Monday neeting?

8 A |"msure it was, yeah.

9 142 Q Do you have any recollection of

10 it?

11 A Specifically, no, but it certainly
12 was.

13 143 Q Al right. And you would have

14 been at those neetings, you just have no

15 recoll ection of was discussed at this point?

16 A | know it was discussed. | just
17 don't remenber specifics.

18 144 Q Al right. You're famliar wth a
19 gentl eman by the nanme of Andrew Yeh, | think is the
20 way you pronounce his nane?

21 A That's right.

22 145 Q Y- E- H.

23 A Yes.

24 146 Q And who is he?

25 A He was an associ ate at Catal yst.

q QQS O r'\IS neesonsreporting. com 2016- 05-12




Brandon Moyse 34
1 He started a few nonths after | did, so | think in
2 the summer of 2012, and he left Catalyst | believe
3 in late March of 2014.

4 147 Q Do you recall when he gave notice
5 of his intention to | eave?

6 A | think it was, | want to say,

7 | ate January or early February.

8 148 Q O 2014, obviously?

9 A Yeah.

10 149 Q And was he working on Mbilicity
11 before he left Catalyst?

12 A He was.

13 150 Q You al so had some invol venent with
14 Mobilicity; is that correct?

15 A Prior to his |eaving?

16 151 Q Vell, I"'mnot -- I'"mnot actually
17 measuring it by when he left, but did you have any
18 i nvol verent with Mobilicity?

19 A | nmean, the presentations to the
20 Canadi an governnent did touch on Mobilicity and |
21 probably, you know, created a couple of tables or
22 graphs, but really | didn't do very nmuch work on
23 Mobilicity, to ny nenory.

24 152 Q Al'l right. You understood that
25 Catal yst had certain debt in Mbilicity?
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1 Yes.

2 153 Q And you knew presunabl y that

3 Catal yst had an interest in pursuing further

4 opportunities in the tel ecommunications industry?

5 A Yeah. Yes.

6 154 Q At |east by early 2014 you woul d

7 have known that, right?

8 A Yes.

9 155 Q And you were aware that Catal yst
10 was consi dering how to possibly build out a fourth
11 wirel ess carrier in Canada?

12 A Yes.

13 156 Q Was that a subject of discussion

14 at the Monday neetings fromtine to tinme?

15 A Fromtinme to tinme probably, yeah.

16 157 Q But you have no specific

17 recol | ecti on?

18 A No.

19 158 Q Was it a subject that you recall

20 M. de Al ba discussing with you?

21 A Me personal |l y?

22 159 Q Yes.

23 A Just me and hi n®?

24 160 Q Not just you and hi m necessarily,

25 but do you recall M. de Al ba discussing that
neesonsreporting. com 2016- 05- 12
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1 subject while you were present?
2 A At the Monday norning neetings he
3 woul d have been involved in that discussion but |
4 don't renmenber him you know, ever pulling the deal
5 t eam asi de and explaining Catal yst's pl ans, no.
6 161 Q As part of the discussions that
7 you say woul d have occurred in relation to building
8 out a fourth wireless carrier, is it fair to say
9 that it was inportant to understand the regul atory
10 envi ronnent ?
11 A From whose perspective?
12 162 Well, fromthe Catal yst
13 per specti ve.
14 A | agree it woul d have been
15 i nportant from Catal yst's perspective to understand
16 t he regul atory environnent.
17 163 Q And it woul d have been i nportant
18 to understand the governnent's position on spectrum
19 transfers?
20 A That nmakes sense.
21 164 Q And who the governnent woul d
22 approve to receive spectrunf
23 A That al so makes sense.
24 165 Q And that was certainly inportant
25 to Catalyst's investnent in Mbilicity; you
neesonsreporting. com 2016- 05-12
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1 A | remenber him saying that.
2 289 Q And do you renenber in your
3 cross-exam nation on May 1lth that you di sagreed
4 with M. Rley on that point?
5 A | renmenber that.
6 290 Q Your recollection was, | believe,
7 that it related exclusively to Mbilicity?
8 A Correct.
9 291 Q Was that recollection wong?
10 A | think it's a bit of both because
11 there were two presentations. One | think
12 certainly related very nuch nore to Mbilicity; the
13 other | think did relate nore to Wnd, so | think
14 it's a bit of both.
15 292 Q Right. So I think when you said
16 in your evidence that it related exclusively to
17 Mobilicity, that was not right?
18 A Havi ng seen it now, ny
19 recol |l ection was not correct, a hundred percent
20 correct.
21| H
22 I
23 I
24 B
25 -
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 01         -- Upon commencing at 10:00 a.m.

 02                     BRANDON MOYSE:  AFFIRMED.

 03                     EXAMINATION BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 04     1               Q.   Good morning, Mr. Moyse.

 05                     A.   Hi.

 06     2               Q.   Just let's recap where we stand in

 07         terms of the various affidavits that you have

 08         previously sworn in this proceeding.  Do you recall

 09         swearing two affidavits in July of 2014, one on

 10         July 4th and one on July 16th?

 11                     A.   Yes.

 12     3               Q.   And you swore a further affidavit

 13         on October 10th, 2014 but I believe that that

 14         affidavit is similar or substantially similar to

 15         the one you swore on July 16th; do you recall that?

 16                     A.   It sounds right.

 17     4               Q.   And there was a further affidavit

 18         that you swore on April 2nd, 2015.  Do you recall

 19         that?

 20                     A.   I do.

 21     5               Q.   And have you reviewed all of those

 22         affidavits prior to attending today?

 23                     A.   I have.

 24     6               Q.   You were also cross-examined on

 25         two previous occasions, first on July 31, 2014; do
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 01         you recall that?

 02                     A.   I do.

 03     7               Q.   And then again on May 11th, 2015?

 04                     A.   Yes.

 05     8               Q.   And presumably you have reviewed

 06         the transcripts of the questions and answers in

 07         those cross-examinations prior to coming here

 08         today?

 09                     A.   I have.

 10     9               Q.   In addition to the substantive

 11         affidavits that we have reviewed, you have also

 12         provided us with three Affidavits of Documents, two

 13         of which I understand have been sworn, one that is

 14         yet to be sworn but will be sworn.  The first

 15         Affidavit of Documents that you provided was on

 16         July 22nd, 2014?

 17                     A.   That sounds right.

 18    10               Q.   And then you provided a

 19         supplementary Affidavit of Documents on July 29th,

 20         2014.  Do you remember that?

 21                     A.   Yes.

 22    11               Q.   And finally, your counsel has

 23         provided us with an unsworn second supplementary

 24         Affidavit of Documents I believe dated April 15th,

 25         2016.  Does that sound right?
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 01                     A.   Yes, it does.

 02    12               Q.   And before we get into the body of

 03         my examination, let me just review with you sort of

 04         what the bidding was in those affidavits and the

 05         cross-examinations and let's see if we can find

 06         some common ground.

 07                     First of all, do you recall you and I

 08         having a discussion about confidential information

 09         in the course of your first cross-examination?

 10                     A.   I do.

 11    13               Q.   And your initial affidavit that

 12         was sworn in July of 2014 denied that you had

 13         provided any confidential information to West Face,

 14         correct?

 15                     A.   I thought my initial affidavit

 16         mentioned an email I sent to Tom Dea.

 17    14               Q.   Right, but in your affidavit you

 18         denied that there was anything confidential about

 19         those documents, right?

 20                     A.   Yes.

 21    15               Q.   And when I cross-examined you

 22         early in July of 2014, you initially denied having

 23         a real understanding of what confidential

 24         information was.  Do you remember that?

 25                     A.   I don't think I generally said I
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 01         didn't know what confidential information was.  I

 02         think I was speaking in the context of those

 03         documents.

 04    16               Q.   So you didn't understand

 05         specifically what was confidential about those

 06         documents or any of the other documents you may

 07         have worked on; is that fair?

 08                     A.   Those documents, yeah.

 09    17               Q.   Those documents, okay.  And can we

 10         agree now that you were not accurate when you

 11         initially gave your evidence that you hadn't

 12         provided any confidential information to West Face?

 13                     A.   I think I -- giving it a lot more

 14         thought since then, that may have been inaccurate.

 15    18               Q.   May have been or was?

 16                     A.   They did contain some confidential

 17         information.

 18    19               Q.   So your initial evidence when you

 19         gave your affidavit to us in early July was not

 20         accurate in that regard?

 21                     MR. CENTA:  Mr. DiPucchio, your partner

 22         yesterday took the position that material that had

 23         already been cross-examined on was not going to be

 24         the subject of examination for discovery, and we

 25         yesterday governed our examinations in accordance

�0008

 01         with his instruction, which I think are, to be fair

 02         to him, consistent with Justice Newbould's

 03         direction.

 04                     I'm happy to let you, you know, warm up

 05         for your questions, but if we're going to get into

 06         examining him today on what his evidence was over a

 07         year ago, I'm going to ask you to turn up the

 08         specific passages and take him to them.

 09                     But secondly, I'm not sure that's

 10         consistent with the position your partner took

 11         yesterday on the proper scope.

 12                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  I think you're going to

 13         find I'm not going to be long on this topic so give

 14         me some leeway.

 15                     MR. CENTA:  Absolutely, yes.

 16                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  But just to respond to

 17         what you've said, what I'm trying to understand is

 18         whether we still have a dispute about

 19         confidentiality or whether the position is in fact

 20         that those documents that were given to West Face

 21         are confidential and therefore that's not in

 22         dispute anymore.  So I'm just trying to understand

 23         where we stand because there was some conflicting

 24         evidence on that, obviously, right?

 25                     MR. CENTA:  Okay.
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 01                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 02    20               Q.   So can we agree now that the

 03         documents you provided to West Face, those

 04         investment memos that you spoke of in your original

 05         affidavit did contain confidential information?

 06                     A.   Some of them did.

 07    21               Q.   Okay.  How many of them did of the

 08         four that you provided?  I think there were four,

 09         right?

 10                     A.   Yes.  I would think maybe one.

 11    22               Q.   One, okay.  So which memo?

 12                     A.   Maybe two, but...

 13    23               Q.   So which of the four memos that

 14         you provided can we now take off the table and

 15         specifically agree contained confidential

 16         information?

 17                     A.   The Homberg memo probably.

 18    24               Q.   All right.  What about the others?

 19                     A.   Maybe the NSI memo.

 20    25               Q.   So you seem to hedge your answer

 21         on both of those.  Are you saying they contain

 22         confidential information or are you saying they

 23         don't?

 24                     A.   I'm saying they did contain some

 25         confidential information.
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 01    26               Q.   All right.  So the other two memos

 02         that you provided in your view still, the position

 03         is, just so I understand going into trial here, do

 04         not contain confidential information?

 05                     A.   I think the memos are proprietary,

 06         I don't think there's any confidential information

 07         in them.

 08    27               Q.   So that gets back into our initial

 09         exchange when I first cross-examined you in July.

 10         Are you suggesting that in your view the memos

 11         themselves weren't confidential?

 12                     A.   They may have been.

 13    28               Q.   "May have been" doesn't help us,

 14         Mr. Moyse.

 15                     A.   The memos themselves, yes, may --

 16         were confidential, I would say.

 17    29               Q.   So it's a distinction you're

 18         drawing, just so I understand, it's a distinction

 19         you're drawing between the fact that the memos were

 20         confidential but that they may not have contained

 21         any confidential information in them; is that the

 22         distinction you're trying to draw?

 23                     A.   I'm not trying to draw that.

 24         That's what I believe.

 25    30               Q.   Okay.  So that's the distinction
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 01         you're making?

 02                     A.   Yes.

 03    31               Q.   But there's no question in your

 04         mind that you should not have provided those to a

 05         third party?

 06                     A.   I agree with that.

 07    32               Q.   And when you say you had done some

 08         further reflection on the matter since you gave

 09         your initial evidence, was that reflection that was

 10         done between the period of your July affidavits and

 11         your April 2015 affidavit?

 12                     A.   It's been a continuous process.

 13    33               Q.   All right.  Was the reflection

 14         that you performed as a result of the decision that

 15         was made on the injunction?  Just trying to

 16         understand how you formed a different view of what

 17         may have been confidential at different points in

 18         time.

 19                     A.   Like I said, it was an evolution.

 20    34               Q.   All right.  And was the injunction

 21         decision something that informed the evolution?

 22                     A.   It did.  I don't know if that was

 23         the turning point.

 24    35               Q.   And then when you initially gave

 25         your evidence in July of 2014 you denied having any
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 01         involvement on the Catalyst/Wind potential

 02         transaction other than in one instance having

 03         transcribed handwritten notes into a PowerPoint

 04         presentation; is that fair?

 05                     A.   No, I don't think so.

 06    36               Q.   Okay.  Do you want to go to your

 07         original affidavit and what you said.  All right,

 08         let's go to that.  So this is, counsel, the July

 09         7th affidavit I'm referring to.

 10                     And you say in paragraph 11 of that

 11         affidavit --

 12                     MR. CENTA:  Just give us one minute.

 13                     MS. COONEY:  Can you give us a second?

 14                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Sorry, I apologize.

 15                     MS. COONEY:  Sorry, which paragraph?

 16                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  11.

 17                     THE DEPONENT:  Yes.

 18                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 19    37               Q.   Have you read that?

 20                     A.   Give me one second, please.

 21    38               Q.   No problem.

 22                     A.   (Witness reads document).  Yes, I

 23         have read it.

 24    39               Q.   So you said in that affidavit --

 25         first of all, this paragraph was the totality of
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 01         what you said in relation to your work on the Wind

 02         file, right?

 03                     A.   I believe that's the case but I

 04         would need to double-check.

 05    40               Q.   And what you said was that you had

 06         been working on the Wind file prior to giving your

 07         notice of resignation, you were privy to very

 08         little, if any, confidential information about the

 09         transaction.  And let's just stop right there.  Is

 10         that a true statement?

 11                     A.   I was privy to the data room that

 12         Wind provided, so that would have been all

 13         confidential information.  In terms of Catalyst's

 14         plans for Wind, I believe very little, yeah.

 15    41               Q.   Very little or no?

 16                     A.   Very little.

 17    42               Q.   And when you say you played a

 18         minor role essentially limited to contributing to a

 19         memo, was that true?

 20                     A.   Yes.

 21    43               Q.   So you only contributed to one

 22         memo and that's the only work you performed in

 23         relation to the Wind file?

 24                     A.   I did -- so I helped -- I helped

 25         with business due diligence which was used for that
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 01         memo.  So as part of contributing to that memo, I

 02         conducted due diligence.

 03    44               Q.   So the due diligence was the

 04         contribution, your contribution to the memo?

 05                     A.   That -- well, some of that and in

 06         terms of the direct contribution to the memo, I

 07         created some charts based on the information Wind

 08         had provided in the data room.

 09    45               Q.   So you participated in the due

 10         diligence process as well?

 11                     A.   Yes.

 12    46               Q.   And then you also contributed to

 13         the memo that was prepared?

 14                     A.   Yeah, I view them as two sides of

 15         the same coin though.

 16    47               Q.   And were you privy to any

 17         discussions that occurred in relation to the deal?

 18                     A.   Discussions amongst whom?

 19    48               Q.   Amongst any of the team members at

 20         Catalyst, any of the outside advisors?

 21                     A.   Some discussions, yes.

 22    49               Q.   Okay.  Would you have seen that as

 23         having played a role in the Wind transaction or no?

 24                     A.   I don't see that as my playing a

 25         role in it but I'm not disagreeing that I was privy
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 01         to some of those conversations.

 02    50               Q.   Okay.  So you don't acknowledge

 03         today, just so I understand, you don't acknowledge

 04         today that you had extensive involvement in the

 05         Wind transaction?

 06                     A.   Correct.

 07    51               Q.   You don't acknowledge that you

 08         were part of the deal team?

 09                     A.   No, I was part of the deal team.

 10         I disagree that I had extensive involvement in it.

 11    52               Q.   All right.  So can you

 12         characterize for me what involvement you would have

 13         had specifically?

 14                     A.   Sure.  So I remember we met with

 15         Wind management and VimpelCom on May 9th.

 16    53               Q.   Where is that in your first

 17         affidavit?  Sorry --

 18                     A.   You're referring in the context of

 19         this?

 20    54               Q.   Well, no, you've now told me you

 21         met with Wind management.

 22                     A.   Um-hmm.

 23    55               Q.   You hadn't mentioned that before.

 24                     A.   I thought I mentioned that I had

 25         participated in a diligence meeting.

�0016

 01    56               Q.   Is that a diligence meeting?

 02                     A.   Yes.

 03    57               Q.   So that's part of the diligence

 04         process?

 05                     A.   Yes.

 06    58               Q.   What else did you do?

 07                     A.   I contributed to the list of due

 08         diligence items that was prepared ahead of that

 09         meeting.

 10    59               Q.   Okay.  What else?

 11                     A.   And then, like I said, I went

 12         through the data room to help contribute to the

 13         memo to pull basic information on Wind together.

 14    60               Q.   And what was in the data room?

 15                     A.   There was a lot of documents, some

 16         related to Wind's financial, like a financial

 17         summary of Wind, so maybe historical financial

 18         statements, there would have been presentations

 19         provided by management giving their overview of the

 20         business, a lot of stuff like, you know, property

 21         registration, security registrations, things like

 22         that.

 23    61               Q.   Anything else that you can recall

 24         being in the data room?

 25                     A.   Maps of coverage zones, towers,
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 01         things like that.

 02    62               Q.   How long did you spend in the data

 03         room for the purposes of the due diligence

 04         assignment?

 05                     A.   I was working on it for a week, so

 06         probably -- I mean, it wasn't like I was spending

 07         the time in the data room so much as referring to

 08         documents within it as needed.  So it's hard to

 09         say.  But it would have formed a basis of the work

 10         I was doing on the memo.

 11    63               Q.   Okay, but you have no recollection

 12         of how long you would have actually spent in the

 13         data room?

 14                     A.   Again, I'm just referring to

 15         documents so it's not as if I carved out time

 16         specifically to go through the data room.

 17    64               Q.   All right.  And what else did you

 18         do beyond that?

 19                     A.   Beyond that?  Through the Wind

 20         transaction, I don't remember doing anything else

 21         really.

 22    65               Q.   Did you have any assignments

 23         vis-a-vis the government?

 24                     A.   Yeah, I helped create two

 25         PowerPoint presentations so I was given handwritten
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 01         notes and I transcribed those notes into a

 02         presentation.

 03    66               Q.   That's all you did?

 04                     A.   There were a couple of charts I

 05         created with information we already had on hand,

 06         but yeah.

 07    67               Q.   So short of creating charts, and

 08         we'll come to the presentation in a moment, but

 09         short of creating charts, all you did was you

 10         performed a secretarial task basically, you

 11         transcribed notes that were given to you into a

 12         PowerPoint presentation?

 13                     A.   That's correct.

 14    68               Q.   And whose notes were they?

 15                     A.   They were a combination of Gabriel

 16         de Alba and I think Jim Riley's notes and Zach

 17         Michaud might have had some contributions.

 18    69               Q.   Were they any of your notes?

 19                     A.   No.

 20    70               Q.   You didn't take any notes?

 21                     A.   I don't recall now.

 22    71               Q.   Do you -- I take it you don't

 23         deny, obviously, that you're copied on probably

 24         between 50 to a hundred emails that circulated in

 25         the May timeframe and earlier?
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 01                     A.   I was.

 02    72               Q.   In relation to the Wind -- the

 03         Wind file?

 04                     A.   Yes, I was.

 05    73               Q.   And you would have reviewed those

 06         emails?

 07                     A.   Many of them but not all of them.

 08    74               Q.   Okay.  But many of them you did

 09         review?

 10                     A.   If they were before I went on

 11         vacation, I probably did review them.  If they were

 12         after I went on vacation, I probably did not review

 13         them.

 14    75               Q.   But even -- and we'll come to it

 15         in a second, but even when you were on vacation you

 16         did review at least one if not more emails?

 17                     A.   What I did was I looked to see if

 18         there was any work I was being directed to do,

 19         quickly scanning them.  Other than that I did not

 20         review them.

 21    76               Q.   Do you not recall testifying that

 22         you reviewed an analysis specifically?

 23                     A.   That was the one email I am

 24         referring to.

 25    77               Q.   So what did you do when you

�0020

 01         reviewed that email?

 02                     A.   It was an email from Zach Michaud

 03         to myself and Lorne directly asking us to look at

 04         an Excel file that Morgan Stanley had prepared and

 05         he wanted to know if we had any comments on it.

 06    78               Q.   All right.  So you did that.  You

 07         reviewed the file and you presumably reviewed it

 08         carefully and diligently and then decided whether

 09         you had any comments on it?

 10                     A.   I was on vacation so I reviewed

 11         it.  I didn't review it in a large amount of depth

 12         but I did review it.

 13    79               Q.   Do you never work on vacation?

 14                     A.   On this vacation I didn't work

 15         very much, no.

 16    80               Q.   Very much or not at all?

 17                     A.   With the exception of this, not at

 18         all.

 19    81               Q.   And apart from the emails that you

 20         received while you were on vacation, you would

 21         agree with me that whatever was transmitted to you,

 22         you would have read and you would have known?

 23                     A.   Probably, yes.

 24    82               Q.   And one of the emails that was

 25         delivered to you in that timeframe was a draft
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 01         offer, right?  A draft share purchase agreement?

 02                     A.   Prior to my going on vacation?

 03    83               Q.   I can't recall, frankly.  We can

 04         look at it if you want but --

 05                     MR. CENTA:  Why don't we.

 06                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Okay, let me first just

 07         get his recollection.

 08                     MR. CENTRA:  Sure.

 09                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 10    84               Q.   Do you recall receiving a draft

 11         share purchase agreement?

 12                     A.   I don't.  What I recall is that

 13         while I was on vacation I was expecting a draft

 14         share purchase agreement to be sent because I think

 15         the due date for it was while I was on vacation and

 16         I don't remember having seen it while I was on

 17         vacation.

 18    85               Q.   Okay.  And do you ever recall

 19         reviewing a draft share purchase agreement?

 20                     A.   I don't.

 21    86               Q.   Okay.  So your evidence is that

 22         you never, despite perhaps having received it, you

 23         never actually reviewed it?

 24                     A.   I don't remember doing that, no.

 25    87               Q.   Are you saying you don't remember
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 01         doing it or are you saying it didn't happen?

 02                     A.   Probably didn't happen but I don't

 03         remember doing it.

 04    88               Q.   And is there any particular reason

 05         why, of all the emails you received, the email in

 06         relation to the draft share purchase agreement is

 07         the one that stands out in your head as you not

 08         having read it?

 09                     MR. CENTA:  I'm going to ask you to

 10         take him to the date of the email so he can

 11         identify whether it was on vacation or before.

 12                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  We'll come back to it

 13         because we're having a problem with our internet

 14         connection here, so rather than delay, let's come

 15         back to it.

 16                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 17    89               Q.   All right.  Do you agree with me

 18         that you would have been part of meetings or calls

 19         in which the Wind transaction was discussed?

 20                     A.   So I remember attending at least

 21         one meeting and I remember being on one or two

 22         calls.

 23    90               Q.   Okay.  What is the meeting that

 24         you recall attending?

 25                     A.   I recall attending a meeting, the
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 01         May 9th, the initial meeting.

 02    91               Q.   With the Wind management team?

 03                     A.   Yes.

 04    92               Q.   And that's the one meeting you

 05         recall attending?

 06                     A.   That's the one I recall attending.

 07    93               Q.   Do you recall attending any

 08         internal meetings of Catalyst in which the Wind

 09         opportunity was discussed?

 10                     A.   Not specifically, no.

 11    94               Q.   Hold on a second.  There is a lot

 12         of hedging language.  "Not specifically," what does

 13         that mean?  Does that mean that there were meetings

 14         at which the Wind opportunity was discussed but

 15         they were part of a larger meeting?

 16                     A.   No, it just means that it's

 17         possible it was discussed but I don't remember

 18         being in any internal meeting where we discussed

 19         the transaction.

 20    95               Q.   Okay.  So apart from you working

 21         on what you said you worked on, you actually don't

 22         recall any meetings at which any of this work was

 23         discussed internally at Catalyst?

 24                     A.   Certainly the work was discussed

 25         internally in terms of what should we do next, what
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 01         should we look at next, but I don't remember a

 02         meeting in any kind of formal sense.

 03    96               Q.   All right.  So it's just a

 04         distinction in your mind between sort of informal

 05         office talk and a formal meeting --

 06                     A.   Yes.

 07    97               Q.   -- that's been scheduled for the

 08         purpose of discussing it?

 09                     A.   I don't remember any discussions.

 10         I remember questions back and forth.  I don't

 11         remember discussions.

 12    98               Q.   And do you agree with me that in

 13         the course of performing whatever work it was that

 14         you were performing on the Wind opportunity, that

 15         you acquired confidential information as a result

 16         of that work?

 17                     A.   Yes, I did.

 18    99               Q.   And what was the confidential

 19         information that you say you acquired?

 20                     A.   It would have been the information

 21         in the data room which was provided under a

 22         non-disclosure agreement, the two PowerPoints I

 23         worked on would be confidential, the memo that

 24         Catalyst was working on would have been

 25         confidential.
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 01   100               Q.   Well, it was the memo you were

 02         working on as well?

 03                     A.   Well, I was really creating charts

 04         for Lorne who was driving the substance of the

 05         memo.

 06   101               Q.   All right.  Understood.  Anything

 07         else that you say was confidential?

 08                     A.   There may have been but that's

 09         just what I specifically remember.

 10   102               Q.   All right.  As I understand it,

 11         you're currently employed by Stornoway Portfolio

 12         Management?

 13                     A.   That's correct.

 14   103               Q.   And you've worked there since

 15         December of 2015?

 16                     A.   Correct.

 17   104               Q.   And Stornoway is the investment

 18         manager of the Ravensource Fund?

 19                     A.   That is one of the funds they

 20         manage, yes.

 21   105               Q.   And your role now is to focus on

 22         due diligence and analysis of potential investment

 23         opportunities?

 24                     A.   That's correct.

 25   106               Q.   Are you the most junior member of
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 01         the Investment Committee?

 02                     A.   Probably.  There's only two of us.

 03   107               Q.   All right.  And so it's not hard

 04         to determine whether you're the junior member of

 05         that.

 06                     A.   He writes my cheques so...

 07   108               Q.   Your profile, we've got it here if

 08         we need to go to it, describes you as having

 09         "earned your stripes analyzing and investing in

 10         numerous distressed investments and performing the

 11         critical wet work associated with intensive

 12         operational restructurings."

 13                     Can you and I agree that the statement

 14         that you've "earned your stripes" includes your

 15         experience in the field of distressed investments?

 16                     A.   Yes.

 17   109               Q.   And what is meant by "wet work"?

 18         This is just personal curiosity more than anything.

 19                     A.   You know, that is -- that was not

 20         my choice of words.

 21   110               Q.   Okay.

 22                     A.   Those were not my choice of words.

 23         So let's call it my boss's characterization.  I

 24         think what he is getting at is in-the-weeds type of

 25         work.
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 01   111               Q.   Sort of getting your hands wet,

 02         that type of thing?

 03                     A.   I'm not sure what the metaphor is.

 04   112               Q.   Getting your feet wet, I don't

 05         know exactly what the phrase is.  Maybe it's

 06         getting your feet wet.  Okay.  In any event, let's

 07         move on to something more significant.

 08                     While you were at Catalyst, typically

 09         what would your role have been on a deal?

 10                     A.   It would have been not dissimilar

 11         from Wind, helping with due diligence and helping

 12         with the investment memo.

 13   113               Q.   All right.  And as part of that,

 14         you would perform research on particular

 15         industries?

 16                     A.   Sometimes, yes.

 17   114               Q.   And would you ever meet with the

 18         management team prior to embarking on preparing the

 19         investment memo?

 20                     A.   That happened on I believe three

 21         occasions, but other than that, no.

 22   115               Q.   Okay.  And would you have to have

 23         any discussion at all on the investment thesis with

 24         management?

 25                     A.   It might have come up.  I don't
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 01         really remember that specifically.  Management is

 02         certainly trying to sell, pitch the business, but I

 03         don't really remember in-depth discussions on the

 04         merits of the investment.

 05   116               Q.   But part of your role would have

 06         been to develop an investment thesis?

 07                     A.   I don't agree.

 08   117               Q.   Who would be responsible for

 09         developing the investment thesis?

 10                     A.   I'm not sure I was ever really

 11         exposed to a thesis in the sense that when I think

 12         of a thesis, it's here are the merits of an

 13         investment, here are the risks, this is why we are

 14         deciding to make the investment.  I don't think I

 15         was ever really exposed to any of that.

 16   118               Q.   So none of the work you did while

 17         you were at Catalyst involved developing any

 18         investment thesis?

 19                     A.   I don't recall any that happened.

 20   119               Q.   All right.  As part of the due

 21         diligence process, would you have been responsible

 22         or involved in managing information requests?

 23                     A.   Yes.

 24   120               Q.   And you would review target

 25         companies' financial and operational information,
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 01         as you said you did for Wind?

 02                     A.   Yes.

 03   121               Q.   Would you prepare presentations

 04         summarizing critical deal points?

 05                     A.   On occasion, yeah.  Yes.

 06   122               Q.   And you certainly would build

 07         financial models?

 08                     A.   Again, on occasion.  Not always

 09         but yes.

 10   123               Q.   Evaluation analysis?

 11                     A.   Yes.

 12   124               Q.   How about analyzing acquisition

 13         structures?

 14                     A.   What do you mean by that?

 15   125               Q.   Or contributing to a discussion of

 16         acquisition structure.  Well, how a deal could be

 17         structured, were you involved in those discussions

 18         at all?

 19                     A.   Structured how?

 20   126               Q.   That's what I'm asking.

 21                     A.   You can structure things from a

 22         tax perspective, you can structure things from a

 23         legal perspective.

 24   127               Q.   Were you involved in any of those

 25         discussions?

�0030

 01                     A.   Sometimes from a financial

 02         perspective but not from a legal or tax perspective

 03         ever, that I remember.

 04   128               Q.   Fair enough.  From an operational

 05         perspective, you would have been --

 06                     A.   Sometimes, yes.

 07   129               Q.   -- involved in that kind of

 08         discussion.  All right.  Would you build accretion

 09         models?

 10                     A.   I don't think I ever did.

 11   130               Q.   And certainly if in fact a

 12         transaction was completed, you might be responsible

 13         for managing or assistant managing the day-to-day

 14         operations of an acquired business?

 15                     A.   Correct.

 16   131               Q.   And you did, for example, I think,

 17         in the Advantage situation; is that right?

 18                     A.   I did that for Advantage and I

 19         also did that a lot for a company called Natural

 20         Markets Food Group, NMFG we can call it.

 21   132               Q.   Is there anything we've missed in

 22         that long list that I have just reviewed with you

 23         in terms of what your sort of activities and duties

 24         would have included while you were at Catalyst?

 25                     A.   There probably -- I mean, I
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 01         probably also helped on internal type projects, so

 02         for example we had an annual investor meeting so I

 03         might help with the presentations there.  I might

 04         also help with our quarterly investment letters,

 05         writing specific things about portfolio companies.

 06   133               Q.   Sort of investor relations type

 07         work?

 08                     A.   Yeah, I went to the investors but

 09         I never really dealt with them directly.

 10   134               Q.   Right.  Would part of your role

 11         have involved attending what we've called Monday

 12         morning meetings?  I think you talked about that in

 13         one of your affidavits as well.

 14                     A.   Yes.

 15   135               Q.   All right.  And tell me about

 16         those meetings?

 17                     A.   So the meetings were usually over

 18         lunch, almost -- sorry, pretty much always over

 19         lunch.  They --

 20   136               Q.   That's not morning to me, but in

 21         any event...

 22                     A.   They start at 12:30.

 23   137               Q.   Pretty casual day if your morning

 24         includes lunch.

 25                     A.   They start at 12:30.  So they

�0032

 01         would -- so the, in Catalyst, call it investment

 02         team would attend, so that would be Newt Glassman,

 03         the head of Catalyst, Gabriel de Alba, partner, Jim

 04         Riley, partner, and then whatever VPs, analysts,

 05         associates were there.  It also frequently included

 06         Chester Dawes who is the CFO and treasurer of

 07         Catalyst Capital Group, and they sometimes included

 08         David Reese, who is the head of Callidus, a company

 09         that Catalyst owns.

 10   138               Q.   Okay.  And apart from having

 11         lunch, apparently, what kinds of things would be

 12         discussed at those Monday meetings?

 13                     A.   The bulk of the meetings were

 14         spent discussing, call it, macroeconomic and

 15         geopolitical issues.  At the tail end of the

 16         meetings, less consistently but the portfolio

 17         companies would be discussed, so Gabriel might give

 18         an update on what was going on with specific

 19         portfolio companies and we might also discuss deals

 20         we were actively working on.

 21   139               Q.   How about potential deals or

 22         investments?

 23                     A.   That's what I meant by actively

 24         working on.

 25   140               Q.   Okay.  So not just deals that were
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 01         in the pipeline, but deals that you might want to

 02         become involved in?

 03                     A.   Certainly those came up but less

 04         frequently than active deals or portfolio

 05         companies.

 06   141               Q.   Was the Wind opportunity ever

 07         discussed at a Monday meeting?

 08                     A.   I'm sure it was, yeah.

 09   142               Q.   Do you have any recollection of

 10         it?

 11                     A.   Specifically, no, but it certainly

 12         was.

 13   143               Q.   All right.  And you would have

 14         been at those meetings, you just have no

 15         recollection of was discussed at this point?

 16                     A.   I know it was discussed.  I just

 17         don't remember specifics.

 18   144               Q.   All right.  You're familiar with a

 19         gentleman by the name of Andrew Yeh, I think is the

 20         way you pronounce his name?

 21                     A.   That's right.

 22   145               Q.   Y-E-H.

 23                     A.   Yes.

 24   146               Q.   And who is he?

 25                     A.   He was an associate at Catalyst.
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 01         He started a few months after I did, so I think in

 02         the summer of 2012, and he left Catalyst I believe

 03         in late March of 2014.

 04   147               Q.   Do you recall when he gave notice

 05         of his intention to leave?

 06                     A.   I think it was, I want to say,

 07         late January or early February.

 08   148               Q.   Of 2014, obviously?

 09                     A.   Yeah.

 10   149               Q.   And was he working on Mobilicity

 11         before he left Catalyst?

 12                     A.   He was.

 13   150               Q.   You also had some involvement with

 14         Mobilicity; is that correct?

 15                     A.   Prior to his leaving?

 16   151               Q.   Well, I'm not -- I'm not actually

 17         measuring it by when he left, but did you have any

 18         involvement with Mobilicity?

 19                     A.   I mean, the presentations to the

 20         Canadian government did touch on Mobilicity and I

 21         probably, you know, created a couple of tables or

 22         graphs, but really I didn't do very much work on

 23         Mobilicity, to my memory.

 24   152               Q.   All right.  You understood that

 25         Catalyst had certain debt in Mobilicity?
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 01                     A.   Yes.

 02   153               Q.   And you knew presumably that

 03         Catalyst had an interest in pursuing further

 04         opportunities in the telecommunications industry?

 05                     A.   Yeah.  Yes.

 06   154               Q.   At least by early 2014 you would

 07         have known that, right?

 08                     A.   Yes.

 09   155               Q.   And you were aware that Catalyst

 10         was considering how to possibly build out a fourth

 11         wireless carrier in Canada?

 12                     A.   Yes.

 13   156               Q.   Was that a subject of discussion

 14         at the Monday meetings from time to time?

 15                     A.   From time to time probably, yeah.

 16   157               Q.   But you have no specific

 17         recollection?

 18                     A.   No.

 19   158               Q.   Was it a subject that you recall

 20         Mr. de Alba discussing with you?

 21                     A.   Me personally?

 22   159               Q.   Yes.

 23                     A.   Just me and him?

 24   160               Q.   Not just you and him necessarily,

 25         but do you recall Mr. de Alba discussing that
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 01         subject while you were present?

 02                     A.   At the Monday morning meetings he

 03         would have been involved in that discussion but I

 04         don't remember him, you know, ever pulling the deal

 05         team aside and explaining Catalyst's plans, no.

 06   161               Q.   As part of the discussions that

 07         you say would have occurred in relation to building

 08         out a fourth wireless carrier, is it fair to say

 09         that it was important to understand the regulatory

 10         environment?

 11                     A.   From whose perspective?

 12   162               Q.   Well, from the Catalyst

 13         perspective.

 14                     A.   I agree it would have been

 15         important from Catalyst's perspective to understand

 16         the regulatory environment.

 17   163               Q.   And it would have been important

 18         to understand the government's position on spectrum

 19         transfers?

 20                     A.   That makes sense.

 21   164               Q.   And who the government would

 22         approve to receive spectrum?

 23                     A.   That also makes sense.

 24   165               Q.   And that was certainly important

 25         to Catalyst's investment in Mobilicity; you
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 01         understood that?

 02                     A.   I don't know.

 03   166               Q.   You don't know whether you

 04         understood that?

 05                     A.   I know my understanding of

 06         Catalyst's investment in Mobilicity was that they

 07         wanted to get par plus make-whole premium for their

 08         bonds, and maybe as part of that you would have had

 09         to understand those things, but it wasn't -- that

 10         was certainly what they were trying to get, from my

 11         understanding.

 12   167               Q.   To the extent that you understood

 13         that the regulatory environment and the spectrum

 14         transfers and all those things were important, you

 15         only would have come to that understanding through

 16         discussions that would have occurred at Catalyst?

 17                     A.   Well, I think that was widely

 18         known that those were issues in the telecom

 19         industry concerning the fate of Mobilicity and

 20         Wind.

 21   168               Q.   But you would have only known that

 22         through your involvement at Catalyst?  In other

 23         words, you didn't have an independent interest in

 24         the telecommunications industry, did you?

 25                     A.   I mean, it was frequently in the
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 01         front page of the Globe and Mail Report on Business

 02         or Financial Post about, you know --

 03   169               Q.   Spectrum transfers?

 04                     A.   That would be part of it, yeah.

 05   170               Q.   Okay.  And is that where you're

 06         saying you developed that knowledge from?

 07                     A.   I'm not -- what I'm saying is that

 08         I know I read about it in the papers as well.

 09         Where I first heard about it, I don't know because

 10         I was -- because it was coming from both sources.

 11   171               Q.   Isn't it more likely that you

 12         would have learned about those things through your

 13         involvement at Catalyst as opposed to having read

 14         it in the front page of the paper?

 15                     A.   I don't know.

 16   172               Q.   Did you come to know that those

 17         things were important to Catalyst's potential

 18         investment in Wind as well?

 19                     A.   Yeah, I think so.

 20   173               Q.   And those things did you learn

 21         through front page stories in the newspapers or did

 22         you learn them through your involvement on the Wind

 23         file?

 24                     A.   If it was -- I would have known

 25         the importance of it to Catalyst through

�0039

 01         discussions at Catalyst.

 02   174               Q.   And let's turn to some documents

 03         at this point.  Let's go to CCG0002203.  What you

 04         should be looking at, Mr. Moyse, is an email from

 05         Zach Michaud on February 27th, 2014.  Is that what

 06         you have?

 07                     A.   Yes.

 08   175               Q.   Good.  So the system is working.

 09         And what this is is an email from Mr. Michaud in

 10         which he asks you and Andrew Yeh to grab a copy of

 11         a story that's come up on Bloomberg entitled

 12         "Canada rejects spectrum transfer from NextWave to

 13         Inukshuk."  Do you see that?

 14                     A.   Yes.

 15   176               Q.   Inukshuk is I-N-U-K-S-H-U-K.  Do

 16         you have any recollection of whether you followed

 17         up on the request or whether Andrew did?

 18                     A.   I don't.

 19   177               Q.   Do you recall what the story was

 20         about?

 21                     A.   I don't because I don't even

 22         remember ever hearing those two companies' names.

 23   178               Q.   Do you recall any discussion with

 24         Zach further to that email as to why he was

 25         requesting that you grab a copy of that article and
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 01         send it to Gabriel?

 02                     A.   I don't.

 03   179               Q.   Were you generally instructed by

 04         anyone at Catalyst to keep a close eye on, you

 05         know, news stories regarding the telecommunications

 06         industry in Canada?

 07                     A.   I wasn't necessarily directed to

 08         do so but as part of working at Catalyst you were

 09         kind of expected to pay attention to the news that

 10         might be relevant to Catalyst's investments.

 11   180               Q.   Okay.  And the particular

 12         relevance that stories around the

 13         telecommunications industry had to what was

 14         happening at Catalyst was what, the investment in

 15         Mobilicity, Wind, or other opportunities as well?

 16                     A.   I don't know.

 17   181               Q.   You don't know why --

 18                     A.   No.

 19   182               Q.   -- you would have been expected to

 20         keep abreast of stories in the telecommunications

 21         industry?

 22                     A.   I was -- I don't know if it was

 23         specifically related to those investments or -- I

 24         mean, it probably was in some way but I don't

 25         really understand the question.
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 01   183               Q.   Well, you just said to me that you

 02         would have understood that what was expected of you

 03         at Catalyst was to keep abreast of stories in the

 04         telecommunications industry because that would have

 05         impacted Catalyst in some way, right?

 06                     A.   So I knew that Catalyst had an

 07         interest in the telecommunications industry.  I'm

 08         not sure if this story, you know, the stories we

 09         were forwarding were meant for Mobilicity or Wind,

 10         but generally, yes.

 11   184               Q.   Fair enough.  What I'm asking you

 12         is how did you come to understand that Catalyst had

 13         an interest in the telecommunications industry?  Is

 14         it through the investment they already had in

 15         Mobilicity, or is it because of some discussion

 16         that may have occurred at a Monday morning meeting,

 17         how did you come to know that?

 18                     A.   Well, one, yes, the investment in

 19         Mobilicity, and two, I believe in early 2014 or

 20         late 2013 Catalyst had declared it would be a

 21         bidder for spectrum in the Canadian spectrum

 22         auction.

 23   185               Q.   All right.  Is that just something

 24         you came to know anecdotally through a story in the

 25         paper as well or was that told to you?
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 01                     A.   I don't remember -- I know it was

 02         in the papers but I also don't remember any time at

 03         Catalyst where we discussed the fact that Catalyst

 04         would be participating in the spectrum auction

 05         prior to -- or, sorry, let me articulate this a bit

 06         better.

 07                     I don't remember if Catalyst, while I

 08         was at Catalyst it was told to us prior to it being

 09         -- prior to it being announced in the paper or

 10         after.

 11   186               Q.   Okay.  But you recall it being

 12         told to you or having discussions about it at some

 13         point internally?

 14                     A.   It might have -- it might have

 15         come up but I don't remember any specific

 16         discussions.

 17   187               Q.   Can you bring up CCG0011509.  Do

 18         you have that up on the screen?

 19                     A.   I think so.

 20   188               Q.   This is an email from you to

 21         Gabriel de Alba, Zach Michaud and Andrew Yeh on

 22         March 6th, 2014 in which you are forwarding an

 23         article that appeared in the Globe and Mail

 24         entitled "Writedown by foreign backer fuels fresh

 25         doubts about Wind Mobile's future."  Do you see
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 01         that?

 02                     A.   I do.

 03   189               Q.   So first of all, by March 6th,

 04         2014 you would have been aware that VimpelCom was

 05         writing down its investment in Wind?

 06                     A.   Yes.

 07   190               Q.   And you sent this story to these

 08         individuals at Catalyst on your own initiative?

 09                     A.   Yes.

 10   191               Q.   And why did you do that?

 11                     A.   Again, like I said, at Catalyst we

 12         were expected to stay on top of news.  I read a lot

 13         of news and I read it pretty early, although it

 14         looks like I read this six hours after the fact, so

 15         I just thought in case they hadn't seen it they

 16         might find it helpful because this was at the time

 17         what I considered to be the telecom deal team.

 18   192               Q.   So at this point in time you

 19         considered yourself to be part of the telecom deal

 20         team?

 21                     A.   I don't know because Andrew is

 22         still there so Andrew is really still carrying a

 23         lot of the load there, but I knew those three

 24         people would definitely be interested.

 25   193               Q.   And were you familiar with a
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 01         gentleman by the name of Anthony Lacavera before

 02         you read this article?

 03                     A.   I don't know.  Probably I'd heard

 04         his name.

 05   194               Q.   Had his name come up in any

 06         meetings at Catalyst I mean?

 07                     A.   I do remember hearing his name.  I

 08         couldn't tell you if it was before or after this

 09         but I remember hearing his name.

 10   195               Q.   Did you have any discussions with

 11         anybody after sending this article?

 12                     A.   I don't remember.

 13   196               Q.   Now, around this same time do you

 14         recall being asked to prepare a combined pro forma

 15         of Wind and Mobilicity?

 16                     A.   If it's the one I'm thinking of

 17         because I've seen it in the production, then yeah.

 18         Yes.

 19   197               Q.   Well, apart from having seen it in

 20         the productions, is there any question that you

 21         were asked to prepare --

 22                     A.   No, I'm not arguing that.

 23   198               Q.   And the reason you were being

 24         asked to do this, I gather you understood this, was

 25         that Catalyst wanted to see what a fourth carrier
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 01         would look like in terms of spectrum value and

 02         number of subscribers?

 03                     A.   No, that's not my -- my

 04         understanding was that table I made went to the

 05         government as part of the presentation, so it might

 06         have been showing the government what it might look

 07         like.

 08   199               Q.   All right.  Catalyst would have

 09         had an interest presumably in knowing that as well,

 10         wouldn't it?

 11                     A.   Yeah, but it was a very -- it was

 12         an extremely unsophisticated analysis.  It was

 13         essentially adding --

 14   200               Q.   Well, you performed it, so I'm not

 15         going to characterize it as unsophisticated or not.

 16                     A.   I am.

 17   201               Q.   You are.  All right.  So your work

 18         was unsophisticated.  We've got that.  But what I'm

 19         asking you now is what was the reason you

 20         understood that you were being asked to prepare

 21         that?

 22                     A.   Again, I thought it was to show

 23         the government what a combination might look like.

 24   202               Q.   And why?

 25                     A.   I don't really know.
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 01   203               Q.   You didn't question?

 02                     A.   I mean, it was one of the possible

 03         outcomes in the telecom landscape that the two

 04         would be combined.

 05   204               Q.   But did you have discussions with

 06         people at Catalyst about that?  That's what I'm

 07         trying to understand.  Or are you just surmising

 08         all of this?

 09                     A.   I don't remember having

 10         discussions about combining the two and the type of

 11         work we would need to do to do that, no.

 12   205               Q.   So is it your evidence that you

 13         were asked to perform this task and do you remember

 14         who asked you to do it?

 15                     A.   I don't.  It was probably Zach but

 16         I don't know.

 17   206               Q.   So is there evidence that you were

 18         asked to perform this task but you had no real

 19         understanding of why Catalyst was asking you to

 20         perform it?

 21                     A.   My experience at Catalyst was that

 22         if we were doing analysis, it would have been more

 23         sophisticated than what I was asked to do.  So in

 24         this case it seemed odd to me that it was such a

 25         simple analysis so I didn't know the reason for it.
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 01   207               Q.   And you never found out, you never

 02         bothered to find out what the reason was?

 03                     A.   I don't remember.

 04   208               Q.   Let's take a look at what you did.

 05         So that's at CCG0011520.  So I think if you scroll

 06         down to the beginning of that email chain,

 07         Mr. Moyse, it should be an email from you to Zach

 08         on Friday, March 7th, 2014 at 7:27 p.m.?

 09                     A.   Correct.

 10   209               Q.   Okay.  And your email says:

 11                          "Checked with Andrew.  He

 12                     doesn't seem to think there is

 13                     anything more recent than June 30,

 14                     2013 for Mobilicity."

 15                     So what were you checking with Andrew

 16         at this point?

 17                     A.   Well, at that point, I mean, I was

 18         so unfamiliar with the work Catalyst had done on

 19         Mobilicity because Andrew had done most of it so I

 20         needed to check with him on where to get these

 21         numbers.

 22   210               Q.   All right.  Well, is it the case

 23         that you were checking to make sure that there

 24         wasn't anything more recent than June 30, 2013?  In

 25         other words, that you had looked at some Mobilicity
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 01         work that had been done prior to then and you were

 02         double-checking?

 03                     A.   I'm not sure if this refers to

 04         work done on Mobilicity or documents available

 05         through -- made publicly available through the CCAA

 06         process, I don't know what exactly that refers to.

 07   211               Q.   Okay.  And then you've said:

 08                          "I grabbed subs from the factum

 09                     in the initial filing."

 10                     Is that a reference to subscriber

 11         numbers?

 12                     A.   Yes.

 13   212               Q.   And then you indicate where you

 14         pulled the rest of the information from.  And your

 15         work is included there.

 16                     So this is the work, this is the chart

 17         that you prepared as a result of the request that

 18         was made of you?

 19                     A.   Correct.

 20   213               Q.   And you say:

 21                          "Let me know your comments."

 22                     At the end of your email.  Do you

 23         recall having any discussion with Zach Michaud

 24         further to the work you did?

 25                     A.   I don't recall specifically but

�0049

 01         it's possible.

 02   214               Q.   All right.  He does -- well, let

 03         me ask you this first.  Where did you find the

 04         information for Wind that's included in your table?

 05                     A.   I'm not sure exactly.  It might

 06         have been provided to me.  At that point it was

 07         pretty dated, so I don't know.

 08   215               Q.   Well, how would it have been

 09         provided to you?  We've got every document.

 10                     A.   I mean, Zach might have had that

 11         on hand or Andrew might have had that on hand.

 12         They probably gave me whatever source document that

 13         came from.

 14   216               Q.   Okay.  So you're saying what may

 15         have happened is you may have been given a document

 16         that included these figures and you just again

 17         compiled them into a chart?

 18                     A.   I think so, yeah.

 19   217               Q.   All right.  And when Zach responds

 20         to you, he says:

 21                          "They did report for September

 22                     30.  Please get access to the data

 23                     room."

 24                     Do you see that?

 25                     A.   I do.
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 01   218               Q.   And then you write back and say:

 02                          "I was in the data room.  The

 03                     most recent folder is for Q2 2013

 04                     and was uploaded August 20."

 05                     So what data room is being referred to

 06         here?

 07                     A.   I'm not sure a hundred percent

 08         sure but I believe that's the Mobilicity data room

 09         because I'm making reference I think to Mobilicity

 10         in the prior email.

 11   219               Q.   Did you actually access the

 12         Mobilicity data room for the purpose of performing

 13         whatever work you were performing here?

 14                     A.   I accessed it but I don't know if

 15         that's where I got the documents from.  Catalyst

 16         might have already downloaded those documents but

 17         they would have come from the Mobilicity data room.

 18   220               Q.   And when we talk about a data

 19         room, is there a physical data room or are you

 20         talking about essentially a folder?

 21                     A.   It's a cloud.

 22   221               Q.   It's a cloud, okay.

 23                     A.   Whatever, hosted on a server

 24         somewhere.

 25   222               Q.   And you're accessing it using the
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 01         information that we see in your email on March 8th;

 02         is that how you would have accessed the data room?

 03                     A.   Yes.

 04   223               Q.   And then you say:

 05                          "I've also looked through the

 06                     docket and motions/monitor reports

 07                     and don't see anything updated."

 08                     Again, that must have been a reference

 09         to the Mobilicity file?

 10                     A.   Yes.

 11   224               Q.   If you'd go to CCG0011521.  There

 12         is a continuation of this email chain sort of

 13         starting not at the bottom but mid-way with an

 14         email from Zach Michaud on March 8th at 11:56 in

 15         which he asks you to go take a look at some updated

 16         filings on the monitor's website, right?

 17                     A.   Yes.

 18   225               Q.   And you did that?

 19                     A.   I probably did.

 20   226               Q.   And then you updated your pro

 21         forma; is that fair?

 22                     A.   Yeah, some of -- not all the data

 23         was updated but some of it was, yeah.

 24   227               Q.   Did you have any understanding at

 25         this point in time sort of of what, you know, a
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 01         prepaid subscriber was and what a post-paid

 02         subscriber was?

 03                     A.   Generally, yeah.

 04   228               Q.   And how did you understand those

 05         terms?

 06                     A.   I know what a prepaid phone is and

 07         I know post-paid must mean not a prepaid phone.

 08   229               Q.   All right.  So you didn't -- this

 09         was just as a result of your general knowledge?

 10                     A.   I think so, yeah.

 11   230               Q.   And your comment is that the

 12         February report says 166,000 but 190,000 if

 13         inactive subscribers were included.  You say:

 14                          "Not sure what that means for a

 15                     prepaid company.  Seems meaningless

 16                     to me."

 17                     A.   Um-hmm.

 18   231               Q.   What was that about?  What was

 19         that discussion about?

 20                     A.   Reading it now, what it seems to

 21         me is that from my understanding of how the prepaid

 22         phone works, I'm not sure what it means that you

 23         have an inactive subscriber, so to me that might

 24         mean somebody who has paid down, you know, used the

 25         balance of their prepaid balance and not renewed
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 01         it, so I don't know what that -- it seemed

 02         meaningless to me.

 03   232               Q.   And in the chart that you

 04         prepared, what is it that the spectrum value is

 05         depicting?  What is that?

 06                     A.   I assume it was probably the

 07         balance sheet value at which the companies were

 08         carrying their spectrum.

 09   233               Q.   So you would not have calculated

 10         the values.  I think what you're saying, you would

 11         have just transposed it from some balance sheets

 12         that you looked at?

 13                     A.   Pretty sure, yeah.

 14   234               Q.   All right.  And what about network

 15         values, same answer?

 16                     A.   I think so.  So I think the

 17         distinction there, from what I remember, is that

 18         network value is the cost of, like, building towers

 19         and stuff, like the physical hardware to operate a

 20         cell phone company.

 21   235               Q.   So it would have been the value on

 22         the balance sheet of the hard assets necessary to

 23         build out a network; is that what you're saying?

 24                     A.   I'm pretty sure that's what it

 25         was.
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 01   236               Q.   And again, that would have

 02         involved no calculations on your part?  It was just

 03         simply taking numbers from a balance sheet?

 04                     A.   I'm pretty sure that's what

 05         happened.

 06   237               Q.   And if you go to CCG0011526, I'm

 07         just going to continue this email chain here.  I

 08         think you've got to go to the second email in the

 09         chain really to continue from where we left off,

 10         which is a response from Zach at 12:17 p.m. in

 11         which he says:

 12                          "Go off of the latest VimpelCom

 13                     filings for Wind subscribers and

 14                     financials where possible.  Put in

 15                     190K to help the division of

 16                     economics."

 17                     Do you see that?

 18                     A.   Yes.

 19   238               Q.   And you did that?

 20                     A.   I assume I did.  It looks like I

 21         did.

 22   239               Q.   Okay.  And what does division of

 23         economics mean?

 24                     A.   From what I remember, I think they

 25         wanted to either increase or decrease the
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 01         proportions of those values, so like Mobilicity's

 02         share of the total or Wind's share of the total.

 03   240               Q.   And you would have obviously only

 04         understood that through some kind of discussion?

 05                     A.   I don't -- I mean, it's not that

 06         -- I don't know.

 07   241               Q.   Well, how would you have

 08         understood his reference to doing something to help

 09         the division of economics unless you understood

 10         what he was talking about?

 11                     A.   Well, he told me what to do so I

 12         did it.  I didn't really need to ask why, what you

 13         were talking about.  He said put in this number so

 14         I did, so there may not have been a discussion.

 15   242               Q.   So you're just putting in the

 16         190K.  Where are you putting it in?

 17                     A.   To Mobilicity.

 18   243               Q.   Well, how did you know that?

 19                     A.   Well, given Wind's numbers, it

 20         seemed obvious to me that that should go in

 21         Mobilicity.

 22   244               Q.   So again you're just --

 23                     A.   And then the prior discussion was

 24         all about Mobilicity.

 25   245               Q.   So you're just surmising all this?
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 01                     A.   Yes.

 02   246               Q.   No discussion at all with Zach

 03         about what you were doing?

 04                     A.   Not that I remember.  Yeah, I'm

 05         picking up from the earlier parts of the email

 06         which are about Mobilicity.

 07   247               Q.   Well, I'm trying to understand how

 08         you are doing your work.  So --

 09                     MR. CENTA:  Well, hang on.  Just so I

 10         understand, Mr. Moyse sends Mr. Michaud an email

 11         saying yes, you're right.  The February report says

 12         166 but 190 inactive subscribers were included, and

 13         then he includes 166 in the Mobilicity column, and

 14         then the next email is put in 190 having -- the

 15         reference being 166 or 190, and then, as I see it

 16         in the chart, he then replaces the 160 with 190 in

 17         Mobilicity.

 18                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Right.

 19                     MR. CENTA:  Am I misreading?

 20                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  I'm trying to figure

 21         out where that is.  Okay, I see it.  So you put in

 22         the 190 subscribers to the Mobilicity side.  That's

 23         what you're saying.  Right.

 24                     MR. CENTA:  As directed by Mr. Michaud

 25         in the email that is -- I guess it's the 12:17
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 01         email.

 02                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  No, I think that's all

 03         fair and I guess my only question was how did he

 04         understand how that would have helped the division

 05         of economics, whatever that meant.

 06                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 07   248               Q.   And I think your answer to that is

 08         what, Mr. Moyse, just to summarize?  How did you

 09         understand that that was going to help the division

 10         of economics?

 11                     A.   I don't know what he meant by

 12         help, but maybe make it more even because looking

 13         at the previous table, Mobilicity I think had --

 14         Mobilicity had a zero in one of them.  I think we

 15         were just trying to make them more proportional.

 16         That was my understanding.

 17   249               Q.   Right.  Well, what appears to have

 18         happened in the chart that you sent back, now that

 19         Mr. Centa points out what the differences are,

 20         first of all you seem to have eliminated two of the

 21         columns, right, prepaid subscribers and post-paid

 22         subscribers?

 23                     MR. CENTA:  Two rows.

 24                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 25   250               Q.   Rows, yes, sorry.  And that came
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 01         from where?  How did you determine to eliminate

 02         those two rows?

 03                     A.   I don't remember exactly, but

 04         reading Zach's email, if he's trying to help the

 05         division of economics, maybe I thought it would

 06         just be more helpful to show total subscribers

 07         rather than the column that had a zero for

 08         Mobilicity.

 09   251               Q.   So that was just your independent

 10         judgment?

 11                     A.   I don't remember for sure but it

 12         certainly seems like something I could have

 13         inferred.

 14   252               Q.   And then your numbers, as

 15         Mr. Centa says, for total subscribers go from 166

 16         in the Mobilicity column to 190, and then from 506

 17         to 649 for Wind.  How did that happen?

 18                     A.   I believe in Zach's email from

 19         12:17 he said to go off the latest VimpelCom

 20         filing.

 21   253               Q.   And that's where that updated

 22         number would have come from?

 23                     A.   I assume so, yeah.

 24   254               Q.   So if we go to CCG0011535, I wish

 25         this would have been put into all one document but,
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 01         as luck would have it, it isn't, so we're

 02         continuing on here.  And he then says in his email

 03         of 12:35:

 04                          "Okay, let's send this to

 05                     Gabriel."

 06                     Did you have any understanding at the

 07         time why Gabriel would have wanted this

 08         information?

 09                     A.   I don't think I did.

 10   255               Q.   And then you respond by making a

 11         few changes and asking him whether he wanted you to

 12         send, and he says yes, right?

 13                     A.   Yeah, that's right.

 14   256               Q.   And then you did send it to

 15         Gabriel, and if you want to take a look at that,

 16         that's at CCG00113506.  Do you see that?

 17                     A.   Yes, I do.

 18   257               Q.   Okay.  And you say to Gabriel in

 19         your email:

 20                          "Let us know if you have any

 21                     questions."

 22                     Do you remember having any follow-up

 23         discussions with Gabriel about the Wind and

 24         Mobilicity pro forma?

 25                     A.   I don't remember.
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 01   258               Q.   So if you look at CCG0011561, this

 02         is an email chain starting on March 26th, 2014 at

 03         10:01 a.m. and it's from a Johanne, and it's

 04         J-O-H-A-N-N-E, Lemay, L E-M-A-Y, to Zach, basically

 05         coordinating a conversation that day.

 06                     Do you know who Johanne Lemay is?

 07                     A.   I remember she was a consultant

 08         that Catalyst had hired in relation to the

 09         telecommunications industry.  I can't remember what

 10         type of consultant she was.

 11   259               Q.   All right.  And Zach invites you

 12         to join that call.  Do you see that?

 13                     A.   I do.

 14   260               Q.   Why was he inviting you to join

 15         that call?

 16                     A.   At that point it was probably

 17         because Andrew had either left or would be leaving,

 18         so Zach wanted to get me involved in the

 19         telecommunications team more.

 20   261               Q.   All right.  So it was around this

 21         timeframe that you recall becoming part of the deal

 22         team on the telecommunications front?

 23                     A.   I know I stepped into Andrew's

 24         shoes but at that point there wasn't that much work

 25         to do on it, but yeah, I was part of the team.
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 01   262               Q.   All right.  And did you review the

 02         presentation that was part of the email that

 03         Mr. Michaud sent to you?

 04                     A.   I -- yeah, I probably -- yes, I

 05         probably opened it and looked at it.

 06   263               Q.   All right.  And the presentation

 07         is at Bates number CCG0011563.  Just let me know

 08         when you have that up on the screen.

 09                     MR. CENTA:  We have it.

 10                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 11   264               Q.   And these were overview notes for

 12         Catalyst business strategy and auction support

 13         dated March 26th, 2014 prepared by Johanne Lemay?

 14                     A.   Yep.  Yes.

 15   265               Q.   And you reviewed those.  And what

 16         did you learn from them?

 17                     A.   I don't really remember what I

 18         learned from those.

 19   266               Q.   Okay.  Did you participate in the

 20         call?

 21                     A.   I might have but I don't remember.

 22   267               Q.   You don't recall having any

 23         discussion with Johanne Lemay?

 24                     A.   I don't remember but I'm not

 25         discounting that I may have been on the call.
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 01   268               Q.   All right.  If you go to slide

 02         number 1 in that, I'm going to call it overview

 03         note PowerPoint.

 04                     MR. CENTA:  Page 2 of the image?

 05                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  I'm just trying to

 06         figure that out myself.  Yes, I think that's right,

 07         page 2 of the image.

 08                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 09   269               Q.   So it's the slide entitled

 10         "Canadian Wireless Industry Dynamics."  Do you see

 11         that?

 12                     A.   I do.

 13   270               Q.   You would have read sort of the

 14         third bullet point from the bottom which talks

 15         about a successful merger of Wind and Mobilicity?

 16                     A.   I might have.

 17   271               Q.   And would you have understood

 18         through reading this presentation that Catalyst was

 19         engaging Ms. Lemay regarding its strategy of

 20         pursuing a fourth carrier?

 21                     A.   I don't really know because I know

 22         at the same -- I think at the same time that was

 23         when the spectrum auction was happening, so I'm not

 24         sure what exactly --

 25   272               Q.   All right.  And when you were
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 01         invited by Mr. Michaud to participate in the call

 02         and you say you most likely read this attachment to

 03         his email, did you ask Mr. Michaud what the purpose

 04         of the call was or what you were expected to do?

 05                     A.   I don't think so.  I don't

 06         remember.

 07   273               Q.   You were just going to walk into

 08         the call blindly?

 09                     A.   That's happened, yes.

 10   274               Q.   And you had no issues with that?

 11                     A.   No.

 12   275               Q.   So you have no independent

 13         recollection of whether you participated in the

 14         call and obviously of what may have been discussed

 15         on the call if you did participate?

 16                     A.   No recollection, no.

 17   276               Q.   Did you have any understanding at

 18         all or did you come to have any understanding of

 19         what the term MVNOS meant in the presentation?

 20                     MS. COONEY:  Can you point us to a

 21         certain --

 22                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 23   277               Q.   Yes, absolutely.  The slide I

 24         guess it would be entitled "Technical Requirements

 25         for a Fourth Carrier," do you see the reference to
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 01         being able to operate as an MVNOS?

 02                     A.   I do.

 03   278               Q.   Did you come to know what that

 04         meant?

 05                     A.   I don't know if at the time I read

 06         the presentation I would have known what that

 07         meant.  I know what it means now.

 08   279               Q.   That's why I asked you, did you

 09         come to know what that meant?

 10                     A.   Yes.

 11   280               Q.   What is it?

 12                     A.   It's mobile virtual network system

 13         -- operating system?  I don't know.  But I think

 14         it's somebody who doesn't sell phones but lets

 15         people use their spectrum.

 16   281               Q.   All right.  And did Catalyst, to

 17         your knowledge, engage Ms. Lemay as part of the

 18         diligence team for Wind?

 19                     A.   I don't remember.

 20   282               Q.   You have no recollection of that?

 21                     A.   No.

 22   283               Q.   You have no recollection of

 23         working with her in any capacity?

 24                     A.   I don't remember ever meeting or

 25         speaking to her myself, no.
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 01   284               Q.   And when is it that you would have

 02         come to an understanding, for example, of some of

 03         the technical verbiage such as the MVNOS acronym?

 04                     A.   It's hard to say now.  Maybe as

 05         part of the Wind due diligence.  I mean, in

 06         preparation for this I reviewed a lot of documents

 07         so it's really hard for me to separate it.

 08   285               Q.   But it may have been as part of

 09         the due diligence that you performed?

 10                     A.   It might have been.

 11   286               Q.   You previously gave evidence that,

 12         in fact you gave it this morning as well, that you

 13         transposed handwritten notes into a PowerPoint

 14         presentation which was later presented to Industry

 15         Canada, right?

 16                     A.   Right.

 17   287               Q.   We talked about that.  And

 18         previously I think you confirmed that you and your

 19         colleagues were instructed by the partners to

 20         destroy all copies of the notes in the file?

 21                     A.   That's what I remember.

 22   288               Q.   And do you recall that Mr. Riley

 23         in his affidavit of May 1st, 2015, I can certainly

 24         take you to it if you want me to, testified that

 25         the presentation related to Wind?
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 01                     A.   I remember him saying that.

 02   289               Q.   And do you remember in your

 03         cross-examination on May 11th that you disagreed

 04         with Mr. Riley on that point?

 05                     A.   I remember that.

 06   290               Q.   Your recollection was, I believe,

 07         that it related exclusively to Mobilicity?

 08                     A.   Correct.

 09   291               Q.   Was that recollection wrong?

 10                     A.   I think it's a bit of both because

 11         there were two presentations.  One I think

 12         certainly related very much more to Mobilicity; the

 13         other I think did relate more to Wind, so I think

 14         it's a bit of both.

 15   292               Q.   Right.  So I think when you said

 16         in your evidence that it related exclusively to

 17         Mobilicity, that was not right?

 18                     A.   Having seen it now, my

 19         recollection was not correct, a hundred percent

 20         correct.

 21   293               Q.   And if you go to CCG0011564, I

 22         think we'll find the presentation that we're all

 23         talking about.

 24                     MR. CENTA:  That's the March 27th

 25         email?
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 01                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  It is.

 02                     MR. CENTA:  Attaching --

 03                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  With the attachment,

 04         exactly.  Do you want me to give you the

 05         attachment?  It's 11565.

 06                     MR. CENTA:  Thank you.

 07                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 08   294               Q.   In the email itself, Mr. Moyse,

 09         you were forwarding this presentation to

 10         Mr. Glassman, Mr. de Alba and Mr. Riley?

 11                     A.   That's correct.

 12   295               Q.   In preparation for tomorrow's

 13         discussion?

 14                     A.   Yes.

 15   296               Q.   And what was the discussion that

 16         was to occur on the next day?

 17                     A.   My understanding was that some

 18         combination of Mr. Glassman, de Alba and Riley were

 19         going to go meet with Industry Canada.

 20   297               Q.   And you were sending this at 3:17

 21         a.m.  Do you see that?

 22                     A.   I do.

 23   298               Q.   Were you working that late on it?

 24                     A.   I don't remember working that late

 25         on it.
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 01   299               Q.   Is there any reason why you would

 02         have sent it at 3:17 a.m.?

 03                     A.   I don't remember.

 04   300               Q.   How long did it take you to put

 05         together this presentation?

 06                     A.   From what I remember, it was a few

 07         hours in the office, during the afternoon or late

 08         morning into the afternoon.

 09   301               Q.   So there would have been

 10         absolutely no reason why this document was

 11         transmitted at 3 a.m. in the morning if it was

 12         completed in the afternoon, after a few hours'

 13         work; is that fair?

 14                     A.   Yeah, I don't remember why it

 15         would have been sent at 3.  I don't remember

 16         working on it until 3:17 in the morning.

 17   302               Q.   Is it possible you were working on

 18         it until that late?

 19                     A.   It's possible but I don't

 20         remember.

 21   303               Q.   And is it possible that the

 22         presentation would have taken you more than a few

 23         hours to complete?

 24                     A.   I don't think so.

 25                     MR. CENTA:  Mr. DiPucchio, can we go
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 01         off the record for a minute?

 02                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Sure.

 03                     -- OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION --

 04                     -- RECESS AT 11:17 --

 05                     -- UPON RESUMING AT 11:38 --

 06                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 07   304               Q.   So, Mr. Moyse, we were talking

 08         about the email of March 27 before we had an

 09         off-the-record chat about certain timing issues on

 10         the documents.  On this particular email, I see

 11         that you copied yourself.  Do you see that?

 12                     A.   I do.

 13   305               Q.   And why were you doing that?

 14                     A.   I don't know.

 15   306               Q.   Was that a practice of yours?

 16                     A.   I generally did not.

 17   307               Q.   And with respect to the

 18         presentation itself, which is 11565, at slide 1 in

 19         the overview section it says:

 20                          "Catalyst is in advanced

 21                     discussion with VimpelCom to gain

 22                     control of Wind Canada but the

 23                     process is tight on time."

 24                     Do you see that under the first bullet

 25         point?
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 01                     A.   I do.

 02   308               Q.   And obviously you knew that those

 03         discussions were happening?

 04                     A.   Prior to creating this PowerPoint

 05         I don't think I was aware of that.

 06   309               Q.   So you were not aware of

 07         discussions with VimpelCom prior to being asked to

 08         prepare this PowerPoint?

 09                     A.   I don't remember any -- I don't

 10         remember any discussions with VimpelCom prior to

 11         this PowerPoint.

 12   310               Q.   Well, no, I'm not saying whether

 13         you remember any actual discussions with VimpelCom.

 14         What I'm asking you is whether you were aware of

 15         the fact that there were discussions after --

 16                     A.   I don't remember being aware of

 17         that fact.

 18   311               Q.   And was this then, according to

 19         your evidence, something that appeared on someone's

 20         notebook?

 21                     A.   Yes.

 22   312               Q.   And you were just transcribing it?

 23                     A.   Yes.

 24   313               Q.   And how would you have come up

 25         with the headings, like for example the bold
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 01         section "The decision and action timelines have

 02         tightened"?  That's clearly not a transcription of

 03         somebody's note.

 04                     A.   I don't remember.

 05   314               Q.   Okay.  So you have no recollection

 06         of how you would have determined to prepare the

 07         bold portions of the notes?

 08                     A.   I don't know if I was told to bold

 09         it or if that was a stylistic choice made by me.  I

 10         don't remember.

 11   315               Q.   But what I'm guessing -- I guess

 12         what I'm trying to drive at is you received a set

 13         of notes, as I recall your evidence, from multiple

 14         sources, correct?

 15                     A.   Correct.

 16   316               Q.   And what were the notes from?

 17                     A.   What do you mean from?

 18   317               Q.   Well, what were they from?  Who

 19         were they from, what were they in relation to?

 20         Like, sort of where did these notes come from?

 21                     A.   They were handwritten mockups of

 22         what the slides should look like given to me by

 23         some combination of Gabriel de Alba, Jim Riley and

 24         Zach Michaud, from what I remember.

 25   318               Q.   So you are saying the three of
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 01         those individuals were preparing -- were each

 02         independently preparing notes of mockups of slides?

 03                     A.   No, from what I remember they were

 04         together working on what the slides should look

 05         like and then I would receive a single copy.

 06   319               Q.   Of what?

 07                     A.   Of the slide mockup.

 08   320               Q.   So you had three sets of notes --

 09         I'm just trying to understand.

 10                     A.   No, sorry, one set of notes

 11         prepared by three of them working together.

 12   321               Q.   Okay.  So who actually gave you

 13         the notes that you were working from?

 14                     A.   I mean, I was being given slide by

 15         slide, so sometimes it might have been Zach,

 16         sometimes it might have been Gabriel.

 17   322               Q.   Okay.  So what you were doing is

 18         someone was giving you the mockup of what the slide

 19         would look like, for example in this overview

 20         section someone gave you a mockup of a slide that

 21         said overview?

 22                     A.   Yeah.  I don't -- yeah, yeah.

 23   323               Q.   And would have contained verbatim

 24         the text that you were just simply inputting into

 25         the slide?
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 01                     A.   From what I remember, yes.

 02   324               Q.   Are there not assistants at

 03         Catalyst?

 04                     A.   There are.

 05   325               Q.   Administrative assistants?

 06                     A.   There are.

 07   326               Q.   Who can put together a PowerPoint

 08         presentation and input language into it?

 09                     A.   You'd be surprised.  Sometimes

 10         even a simple task gets mishandled.

 11   327               Q.   So this was being given to you as

 12         sort of the person who can prepare a PowerPoint

 13         better than an administrative assistant?

 14                     A.   I don't know.  I don't know who

 15         was there that day, who was working on what else.

 16         I don't know.

 17   328               Q.   All right.  And there was no

 18         independent, you're saying, no independent thought

 19         or content on your part in that first slide?

 20                     A.   Correct.

 21   329               Q.   And slide 2 -- well, when you came

 22         to know -- just a second.  When you came to realize

 23         that there were discussions, advanced discussions

 24         apparently with VimpelCom, did you then ask Zach or

 25         any of the other individuals that were involved
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 01         what these discussions were about?

 02                     A.   No.

 03   330               Q.   And at slide 3 of the

 04         presentation, we see a number of charts, right?

 05                     A.   Correct.

 06   331               Q.   And obviously the charts wouldn't

 07         have been transcribed from mockups?

 08                     A.   Correct.

 09   332               Q.   Okay.  So these charts were

 10         sourced by you or prepared by you?

 11                     A.   Well, sorry, let me just say that

 12         the charts themselves wouldn't have been the

 13         mockups, the mockups may have said insert this pie

 14         chart here or insert comparison table there.

 15   333               Q.   Do you recall that being the case?

 16                     A.   I don't but...

 17   334               Q.   And what did you then do?  So if

 18         you got a mockup like that, what did you do?

 19                     A.   I might have -- I don't remember

 20         exactly.

 21   335               Q.   All right.  So the mockup would

 22         have been in such detail that you would have known

 23         exactly where to go get that chart or table to

 24         insert?

 25                     A.   I don't remember exactly.  What
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 01         probably happened was I asked Zach Michaud for

 02         clarification on what tables they wanted.

 03   336               Q.   And then you went out and found

 04         those tables?

 05                     A.   Correct.

 06   337               Q.   Do you recall where you got these

 07         two particular tables in slide 3?

 08                     A.   Sorry, I see three tables.

 09   338               Q.   I apologize.  I thought one was

 10         maybe -- is that three separate tables?

 11                     A.   I would consider -- sorry, let's

 12         just make sure we standardize it.  So I would

 13         consider the bar graph one table.

 14   339               Q.   Yes.

 15                     A.   I would consider the three pie

 16         charts another source.

 17   340               Q.   Okay.

 18                     A.   And then the table under the pie

 19         charts another.

 20   341               Q.   All right.  And were there in

 21         fact, to your recollection, three separate sources

 22         for those charts and graphs?

 23                     A.   Yes.

 24   342               Q.   All right.  Where did you pull

 25         those from?
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 01                     A.   Well, the bar graph on the right

 02         is sourced from Merrill Lynch global wireless

 03         index.

 04   343               Q.   Okay.

 05                     A.   So this is a table prepared by

 06         Merrill Lynch.

 07   344               Q.   All right.

 08                     A.   The three pie charts, I'm not

 09         really sure where those came from because I don't

 10         typically prepare, call it, doughnut style pie

 11         charts, so they might have already been existing

 12         somewhere.

 13   345               Q.   Okay.

 14                     A.   And then the table under it looks

 15         like a table I prepared, and that would have been

 16         -- the information on Telus, Bell and Rogers would

 17         have been from their -- I think I sourced it, so

 18         their 4th Quarter 2013 public filings.

 19                     And then the Wind Canada and Mobilicity

 20         estimates, I'm not sure where the sales and EBITDA

 21         numbers came from, and the wireless subs came I

 22         guess from the work I had done earlier, the table I

 23         had done earlier.

 24   346               Q.   Okay.  So you're not sure where

 25         some of that data came from?
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 01                     A.   Correct.

 02   347               Q.   And is it your evidence that in

 03         fact Zach or one of the other individuals gave you

 04         a specific instruction as to what to insert there?

 05                     A.   I don't remember where it came

 06         from.

 07   348               Q.   What about the quotes that we see

 08         underneath those graphs and charts, were those also

 09         just direct transcriptions from a mockup?

 10                     A.   I don't remember exactly.  I

 11         assume they were but I don't remember.

 12   349               Q.   If you go to slide 4, which is

 13         entitled "Current government policy and goals,

 14         promote the creation of a fourth carrier."

 15                     Were you aware at that point then that

 16         the goal was to promote the creation of a fourth

 17         carrier?

 18                     A.   The government's goal?

 19   350               Q.   Yeah.

 20                     A.   Yeah, I think so.

 21   351               Q.   And there is a reference there to

 22         the wireless code of conduct and then some bullet

 23         points underneath that.  Did you do some

 24         investigation into the wireless code of conduct?

 25                     A.   What do you mean by investigation?
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 01   352               Q.   Well, how did you -- was this also

 02         just copied verbatim from a mockup or did you

 03         actually go out and source the bullet points below

 04         "The Wireless Code of Conduct"?

 05                     A.   I believe it came from the mockup.

 06   353               Q.   So you were again just inputting

 07         language that had been given to you?

 08                     A.   That's what I remember.

 09   354               Q.   And slide number 5 in that

 10         presentation -- well, let's not talk about slide

 11         number 5.

 12                     Slide number 6, the economics of

 13         creating the fourth wireless network, was that also

 14         directly from a mockup?

 15                     A.   I remember it being from a mockup

 16         and then I remember being maybe told verbally to

 17         make changes to it.

 18   355               Q.   What do you recall in that regard?

 19                     A.   I remember I -- I remember I was

 20         given a mockup, I put those numbers in and then at

 21         some point while reviewing the document I do

 22         remember Zach Michaud saying let's make this --

 23         let's change these numbers, let's change future

 24         spectrum purchases to this or LTE network built to

 25         that.
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 01   356               Q.   And --

 02                     A.   I remember there wasn't a lot of

 03         precision with the numbers.  They were just

 04         estimates.

 05   357               Q.   And where would the information

 06         about Wind Canada purchase price have come from?

 07                     A.   I was told it.

 08   358               Q.   By whom?

 09                     A.   It was either in a mockup or I was

 10         told that by Zach or Gabriel when they were

 11         fiddling with the numbers.  I don't remember.

 12   359               Q.   All right.  And at the bottom of

 13         this particular slide there is the chart that I

 14         think we looked at earlier, right?

 15                     A.   Correct.

 16   360               Q.   That you had prepared?

 17                     A.   Correct.

 18   361               Q.   So someone said to you in the

 19         mockup include the chart that you had earlier

 20         prepared?

 21                     A.   Yes.

 22   362               Q.   And at page 7 of the slide deck

 23         there is a slide entitled "Strategic Options,

 24         Option 1."  Do you see that?

 25                     A.   I do.
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 01   363               Q.   So you knew at this time that one

 02         of the options was a combination of Wind Canada

 03         with Mobilicity?

 04                     A.   Yeah, that was a potential

 05         outcome, yeah.

 06   364               Q.   And you became aware of that

 07         through your work on this particular slide?

 08                     A.   No, I think that was a

 09         generally-known fact.

 10   365               Q.   Generally known by whom?

 11                     A.   The public and the newspapers.

 12   366               Q.   That that was an option available

 13         to Catalyst?

 14                     A.   No, that that was a likely option,

 15         that that would possibly be something that could

 16         happen, but I do think actually newspapers also

 17         said that Catalyst, that was an option for them.

 18   367               Q.   Okay.  So that was all information

 19         you knew from publications in the press?

 20                     A.   Yes, I may have also heard it at

 21         Catalyst but I also read about it.  I couldn't tell

 22         you where I heard it first.

 23   368               Q.   All right.  And the second option,

 24         which is on the next slide, also envisages a

 25         combination of Wind and Mobilicity, right?  This
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 01         time with respect to the wholesale market as

 02         opposed to the retail market?

 03                     A.   Correct.

 04   369               Q.   Is that something that you learned

 05         for the first time while preparing that

 06         presentation or is that also something that you

 07         knew via the press?

 08                     A.   I don't remember.

 09   370               Q.   Okay.  Now, do you see that -- and

 10         option number 2, did you understand that to be the

 11         equivalent of the MVNOS option that was talked

 12         about by the consultant in the slide deck that we

 13         looked at earlier?

 14                     A.   I really don't know if I would

 15         have made that connection at that point.

 16   371               Q.   Are you able to make that

 17         connection now?

 18                     A.   Even now it sounds like it might

 19         be but I'm not sure if there is a difference in

 20         terminology and substance.

 21   372               Q.   And was it your understanding then

 22         from these two slides that Catalyst wanted the

 23         ability to exit the investment with no restrictions

 24         in five years on both of those option tracks?

 25                     A.   Yeah, I would have understood
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 01         that.

 02   373               Q.   Did you understand that for the

 03         first time as a result of preparing this slide?

 04                     A.   I don't remember.

 05   374               Q.   It might have been discussed

 06         previous to that?

 07                     A.   I just don't remember.

 08   375               Q.   And it was also clear to you from

 09         these two slides that Catalyst would make an

 10         undertaking that before selling to an incumbent it

 11         would pursue an IPO or another strategic sale prior

 12         to the end of the five-year period in either of

 13         those two options?

 14                     A.   Yes.

 15   376               Q.   You knew that there was a

 16         regulatory risk, I take it, about whether the

 17         federal government would allow a new wireless

 18         entrant to transfer its spectrum or be purchased by

 19         an incumbent?

 20                     A.   I was aware of that.

 21   377               Q.   So in addition to this -- well,

 22         let's just talk briefly about option 3 in the slide

 23         at page 9.  Option 3 was:

 24                          "CCAA/Mobilicity Corp. process

 25                     sale to Telus with or without
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 01                     government support."

 02                     Right?

 03                     A.   Yes.

 04   378               Q.   Were you aware of that option

 05         having been discussed internally at Catalyst?

 06                     A.   I know it came up but I think

 07         there was a transaction between the two of them

 08         that was well publicized as well for that.

 09   379               Q.   But would you not have become

 10         aware of that as a result of the fact that by this

 11         point in time you were also working on the

 12         Mobilicity deal?

 13                     A.   No, I don't -- I think there was a

 14         proposed transaction in 2013 between Telus and

 15         Mobilicity.  I would have been aware through the

 16         newspapers as well.

 17   380               Q.   No, I understand that, but do you

 18         understand that that option was still at the table

 19         as of this point in time from Catalyst's

 20         perspective?

 21                     A.   Oh, I don't really know if I

 22         thought of it that way.

 23   381               Q.   Why wouldn't you have thought of

 24         it that way?  What did you understand when you were

 25         typing in:
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 01                          "Catalyst will lose control of

 02                     the situation while still making

 03                     money on its investment."

 04                     Didn't you understand from that that

 05         this was an option that was still on the table?

 06                     A.   I may have just assumed it was,

 07         they were still trying to work out a deal.  I don't

 08         know.

 09   382               Q.   Wouldn't you have been reading

 10         this and considering it as you were typing it in?

 11                     A.   Each line?  Probably not.

 12   383               Q.   You should be hired as a court

 13         reporter.  What about any other presentations that

 14         you prepared, do you recall preparing any other

 15         presentations beyond this one?

 16                     MR. CENTA:  Sorry, about Wind?

 17                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 18   384               Q.   Yes.

 19                     A.   About Wind?  I think there were

 20         two kind of versions of this presentation.  I think

 21         the second version touched more closely upon Wind.

 22   385               Q.   You don't think this one touched

 23         on Wind?

 24                     A.   I think it did, I just don't think

 25         as directly as the other one.
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 01   386               Q.   And the second presentation I'm

 02         going to suggest to you was one that you prepared

 03         in mid-May; is that right?

 04                     A.   That sounds right.

 05   387               Q.   Was it only you who prepared that

 06         presentation or did you have assistance in

 07         preparing that presentation?

 08                     A.   I think again it was only with

 09         input, being given input from Gabriel, Zach and Jim

 10         Riley.

 11   388               Q.   Let's take a look at that one.

 12         That's CCG0009516.  This is the email chain that

 13         attaches the presentation.  And in this particular

 14         case you have copied, in addition to sending it

 15         directly to Gabriel de Alba and Zach Michaud, you

 16         copied Lorne Creighton.  Do you see that?

 17                     A.   I do.

 18   389               Q.   And who was Lorne Creighton and

 19         why was he being copied?

 20                     A.   Lorne was an analyst at Catalyst,

 21         so equivalent to me, and he was -- by that time he

 22         was also involved in the Wind Canada deal team.

 23   390               Q.   Well, you're saying by that time.

 24         Are you saying that that involvement occurred

 25         between the time of the first presentation that you
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 01         prepared and the second one?

 02                     A.   Yes.

 03   391               Q.   So it would have occurred between

 04         May -- sorry, March 27th and May 12th?

 05                     A.   Yeah.  Because nothing much was

 06         happening on Mobilicity so they didn't need to

 07         expand the deal team, and then when the Wind Canada

 08         transaction came up, they needed more manpower.

 09   392               Q.   So tell me when you became aware

 10         that there was -- I mean, obviously you were aware

 11         when you prepared the first presentation that there

 12         were, quote unquote, advanced discussions with

 13         VimpelCom.  You became aware of that when you

 14         prepared the first presentation, that's what you

 15         said to me?

 16                     A.   I became aware that that was, I

 17         mean, what Catalyst was telling the government.  I

 18         don't know.  I never -- I never heard that before

 19         or since until the Wind Canada transaction came up.

 20   393               Q.   So --

 21                     A.   I don't know if I gave it very

 22         much thought, is all I'm saying.

 23   394               Q.   All right.  And then apparently

 24         sometime after you prepared that March 27th

 25         presentation it must have become clear to you that
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 01         there were, in fact, advanced discussions that were

 02         occurring?

 03                     A.   I remember it happened very

 04         quickly that all of a sudden kind of the analysts

 05         were told that Wind Canada is selling itself and

 06         Catalyst would be getting into the deal.

 07   395               Q.   Okay.  So you were actually told

 08         that at some point as opposed to having to surmise

 09         it from something that was being said to Industry

 10         Canada?

 11                     A.   Correct, that's what would have

 12         happened.

 13   396               Q.   When did that happen?

 14                     A.   I don't know exactly but it was

 15         probably -- I remember it happened very quickly, so

 16         it would have been early May of 2014, so very

 17         shortly prior to us actually getting access to the

 18         data room and having the diligence meetings.

 19   397               Q.   All right.  So it would have been

 20         just at some point, I gather, prior to this second

 21         presentation that we're looking at?

 22                     A.   Yes.

 23   398               Q.   And was it in the context of that

 24         discussion that Lorne Creighton was then brought on

 25         as part of the team?
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 01                     A.   Sorry, which discussion?

 02   399               Q.   That there was actually something

 03         that was going to happen.

 04                     A.   Yes.

 05   400               Q.   And, sorry, I may have asked this

 06         question, I apologize, but have you told me

 07         everything about the discussion that you remember?

 08         In other words, what happened?  Was there a meeting

 09         called and people were told this?  Was it email?

 10         What was it?

 11                     A.   Yeah, I don't remember exactly

 12         how.  It might have just been an email, "Guys,

 13         we're getting involved in Wind, we need to get into

 14         the data room and start preparing a memo."  I don't

 15         remember.

 16   401               Q.   And with respect to this

 17         particular presentation, copied on it was -- or it

 18         was sent to, rather, by Gabriel de Alba, Newton,

 19         Zach, Jim Riley, yourself, Lorne Creighton and John

 20         Levin.  Do you see that?

 21                     A.   I do.

 22   402               Q.   And did you know what Mr. Levin's

 23         involvement was?

 24                     A.   Well, I knew Mr. Levin, I hadn't

 25         really formally met him but he did a lot of work
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 01         with Catalyst.

 02   403               Q.   Right.

 03                     A.   On other things.  And I believe

 04         Faskens was involved in the Wind transaction as

 05         Catalyst's legal counsel.

 06   404               Q.   And you knew that by this time?

 07                     A.   I think so.  I think so because I

 08         think the management meeting was prior to that and

 09         he would have gone or somebody from Faskens would

 10         have gone.

 11   405               Q.   So you're sending a soft copy of

 12         the presentation and you were instructed to update

 13         it?

 14                     A.   The March presentation, yes.

 15   406               Q.   Okay.  So what were your

 16         instructions and who did they come from?

 17                     A.   I don't remember exactly.  It was

 18         probably again Jim, Gabriel and/or Zach, but --

 19   407               Q.   What did they tell you to do?

 20                     A.   They wanted me to pull up the old

 21         presentation and, I mean, similar to the other

 22         process, they either made handwritten changes to

 23         those slides or created new mockups for me.

 24   408               Q.   So again, they had done all the

 25         work and they were just coming to you to basically
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 01         input it into a PowerPoint presentation?

 02                     A.   Yeah.  That's right.

 03   409               Q.   That's your evidence.  Okay.  I

 04         thought the evidence was that the instructions were

 05         for everybody to destroy the March presentation?

 06                     A.   That's right.  So there was a bit

 07         of a -- there was a bit of a complication when

 08         trying to update the presentation because I didn't

 09         have a copy of it.

 10   410               Q.   I see.  So your evidence that you

 11         just gave me that somebody showed up with an

 12         updated copy of the presentation for you to input

 13         could not have been right?

 14                     A.   Well, I think that's what ended up

 15         happening because I couldn't pull up a copy and I

 16         guess somebody else had retained a hard copy of it.

 17   411               Q.   So now -- all right.  So basically

 18         the evidence is that notwithstanding the

 19         instruction to destroy copies of the presentation,

 20         somebody actually presented you with a copy of that

 21         presentation with the mark-up?

 22                     A.   I don't remember exactly but

 23         that's what must have happened.

 24   412               Q.   Okay.  Because you didn't put any

 25         individual thought or work into what was prepared
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 01         ultimately?

 02                     A.   For the second one?

 03   413               Q.   Yes.  Or for the first?

 04                     A.   No, not --

 05   414               Q.   So it must have come from somebody

 06         else?

 07                     A.   Aside from maybe creating a graph,

 08         no.

 09   415               Q.   So whatever it was that you did

 10         must have come from somebody else?

 11                     A.   Yes.

 12   416               Q.   And what were you asked to update,

 13         do you remember?

 14                     A.   Specifically?

 15   417               Q.   Yes.

 16                     A.   I mean, I don't remember

 17         specifically.  There were some slides that are

 18         modified from the original.  There are some new

 19         slides that were created for this one.  So I guess

 20         I was asked to update whatever slides were modified

 21         and create the slides that were new.

 22   418               Q.   And if you look at the first

 23         slide, really, the overview slide, this is quite

 24         changed from what we looked at earlier, right?

 25                     A.   I agree.
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 01   419               Q.   And there's actually an update of

 02         what occurred since the March 27 meeting, right?

 03                     A.   Looks like it.

 04   420               Q.   And were you aware of any of that

 05         or was this all coming as a shock to you, or

 06         first-time information?

 07                     A.   I need to read it.

 08   421               Q.   Okay.  Go ahead.

 09                     A.   (Witness reads document).  Some of

 10         it I was probably already aware of and others I may

 11         have just read for the first time.

 12   422               Q.   So how did you become aware of

 13         some of it?

 14                     A.   For example, VimpelCom has

 15         abandoned Wind Canada, well, I don't know if I was

 16         aware they abandoned them but I was aware that they

 17         wrote it down to zero, for example.

 18   423               Q.   You knew that from the article

 19         that you would have forwarded?

 20                     A.   Yeah.

 21   424               Q.   I'm talking more about the first

 22         bullet point.  Sorry, I should have specified.

 23         Since the March 27th meeting.  Do you see that?

 24                     A.   I do.

 25   425               Q.   Is that something you would have
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 01         heard internally at Catalyst?

 02                     A.   I don't think so.

 03   426               Q.   Did you have any -- do you recall

 04         having any -- let's say from March 27th, the date

 05         of the meeting with Industry Canada, to early May

 06         when you were told that the Wind transaction was a

 07         go, were you told anything by anybody at Catalyst

 08         in relation to what was happening with Wind or is

 09         it your evidence that you simply didn't have

 10         anything to do with anything?

 11                     A.   I don't remember specifically.  It

 12         may have been discussed but I don't remember.

 13   427               Q.   So some of what you see on this

 14         overview slide you may have known from discussions

 15         that occurred internally?

 16                     A.   It's possible, but also when I was

 17         create -- or when I was inputting these notes, I

 18         understood the presentation to be a framing of the

 19         situation for the Government of Canada, so I was

 20         mindful of the fact that things were being

 21         positioned in a certain way that might not be as

 22         they actually may have been.  Like, I don't know

 23         what was being used as position and what was fact.

 24   428               Q.   And do you see in the third bullet

 25         point -- I guess it's the fourth bullet point,
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 01         sorry, in reference to the VimpelCom situation:

 02                          "Catalyst is in advanced

 03                     discussion with VimpelCom to buy

 04                     Wind Canada but this process is

 05                     facing a deadline to finalize a sale

 06                     and purchase agreement by May 23rd."

 07                     Do you see that?

 08                     A.   I do.

 09   429               Q.   Were you aware of that before you

 10         typed it in?

 11                     A.   By that time, yes.

 12   430               Q.   And how did you become aware of

 13         that?

 14                     A.   Well, I think we got involved in

 15         Wind Canada just a few days prior, and I think as

 16         part of that getting involved, we would have been

 17         aware of the deadline.

 18                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Do you want to stop

 19         here, guys, for lunch?

 20                     MR. CENTA:  Sure.

 21                     -- LUNCHEON RECESS AT 12:08 --

 22                     -- UPON RESUMING AT 1:00 --

 23                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 24   431               Q.   We were looking at the document at

 25         CCG0009517 which is the presentation that you
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 01         prepared in May, the second one, and we were

 02         talking about the reference to the discussions in

 03         the fourth bullet point in relation to the

 04         VimpelCom/Wind opportunity, and I think you said to

 05         me just before the break that you were aware at

 06         this point of the fact that there was a deadline of

 07         May 23rd for any potential transaction?

 08                     A.   Yes.

 09   432               Q.   And you also knew from preparing

 10         this presentation that Catalyst was of the view

 11         that they were running out of time and options?

 12                     A.   Who is "they," sorry?

 13   433               Q.   That Catalyst was of the view that

 14         Catalyst was running out of time and options to do

 15         a deal.

 16                     A.   I'm not sure I gathered that.  I

 17         think they were saying the government is running

 18         out of time and options.

 19   434               Q.   I'm reading the bullet point under

 20         the second-to-last heading that says:

 21                          "But we, as is the government,

 22                     are running out of time and

 23                     options."

 24                     A.   All right.

 25   435               Q.   So you were aware that Catalyst's
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 01         view was that it was running out of time and

 02         options, right?

 03                     A.   That was Catalyst's positioning to

 04         the government.

 05   436               Q.   Right.

 06                     A.   I don't know if that was the view

 07         internally.

 08   437               Q.   Okay.  The next slide discusses

 09         Wind in a little bit more detail, and then there is

 10         a chart included.  Did you prepare this chart?

 11                     A.   I probably did.

 12   438               Q.   And do you remember where you took

 13         the data from to prepare the chart?

 14                     A.   It would have come from the Wind

 15         data room so the business plan the company had

 16         created.

 17   439               Q.   And what about the points above

 18         the chart in relation to the amount of capital

 19         required for funding purposes, where did you get

 20         that information from?

 21                     A.   Are you talking the third bullet

 22         point?

 23   440               Q.   Yes.  Just above the chart, just

 24         sort of above the chart.

 25                     A.   I'm not sure.  It could have been
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 01         told to me or I could have just taken that from

 02         basically the numbers in the chart below.

 03   441               Q.   But you have no recollection

 04         sitting here today?

 05                     A.   Specifically that one, no.  But I

 06         think it just reflects the numbers in the chart.

 07   442               Q.   All right.  And then the next

 08         slide, that's page -- are these ones numbered?  I

 09         guess they're not numbered.  The next slide

 10         entitled "Economics of creating the fourth wireless

 11         network," there is an underlined portion that says:

 12                          "The feasibility of creating a

 13                     fourth wireless network has been

 14                     reduced due to lack of direction."

 15                     Did you understand what that meant?

 16                     A.   No, no.

 17   443               Q.   Did you understand at that point

 18         that there were issues around feasibility in

 19         creating a fourth carrier from Catalyst's

 20         perspective?

 21                     A.   I don't remember.  I'm not really

 22         sure what it even means today.

 23   444               Q.   The next slide, "Strategic

 24         Options":

 25                          "Option 1 now severely
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 01                     hindered."

 02                     So did you understand by this point in

 03         time that from Catalyst's perspective the

 04         combination of Wind and Mobilicity to create a

 05         fourth carrier nationally was severely hindered?

 06                     A.   Again, my understanding was that

 07         this was Catalyst's positioning towards the

 08         government.

 09   445               Q.   And you didn't have any

 10         understanding as to whether that was actually

 11         Catalyst's view at the time?

 12                     A.   I did not.

 13   446               Q.   You had no discussions with

 14         anybody about that?

 15                     A.   Not that I remember.

 16   447               Q.   Do you see under the heading

 17         "Requires" in that same slide, it says:

 18                          "In due diligence Wind has

 19                     confirmed that the business will hit

 20                     a wall in 2018 or earlier without

 21                     additional spectrum."

 22                     Do you see that?

 23                     A.   I do.

 24   448               Q.   Is that something you determined

 25         through due diligence?
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 01                     A.   I don't know if I determined that

 02         but that's what Catalyst was saying.

 03   449               Q.   Do you remember that coming out of

 04         your due diligence?

 05                     A.   I don't remember specifically but

 06         it sounds like it's something management would have

 07         said but I don't remember that specifically.

 08   450               Q.   I.e., that wouldn't have been

 09         something that you would have reported as part of

 10         the due diligence process?

 11                     A.   Correct.

 12   451               Q.   And again at the bottom of that

 13         slide there is the requirement on the part of

 14         Catalyst that it have an ability to exit the

 15         investment with no restrictions in five years,

 16         right?

 17                     A.   Yes.

 18   452               Q.   And you saw that that was a

 19         consistent requirement from the presentation that

 20         you had prepared in March to this point in time?

 21                     A.   It is consistent.

 22   453               Q.   If you look at the next slide,

 23         which is option 2, did you understand at that point

 24         that Catalyst was of the view that option 2 was

 25         fast becoming the only feasible option?
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 01                     A.   Again, that's the position to the

 02         government.  I don't know if that was the Catalyst

 03         view or not.

 04   454               Q.   And again there the requirement of

 05         an exit in five years was communicated?

 06                     A.   Yes.

 07   455               Q.   Consistent with what had been said

 08         in March?

 09                     A.   Yes.

 10   456               Q.   If you can turn up CCG0009474,

 11         this is -- do you have it?  Okay.  This is an email

 12         from, at the top, Gabriel de Alba to a bunch of

 13         people including yourself on May 6th, 2014 with an

 14         attachment called "Project Merlin Management

 15         Presentation."  That's one of the attachments,

 16         there are others.

 17                     The text of the email says:

 18                          "Deal is starting to shape up

 19                     and be followed with proposal.  They

 20                     are moving on the terms I proposed

 21                     this a.m."

 22                     To your -- first of all, you're the

 23         only analyst copied on that email, right?

 24                     A.   Correct.

 25   457               Q.   And the email was copied to the
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 01         three principals -- sorry, to the two other

 02         principals at Catalyst, to Mr. Michaud who was a

 03         vice-president I believe, and to Jonathan Levin,

 04         right, who was the legal advisor?

 05                     A.   Yes.

 06   458               Q.   Was that the Wind deal team at

 07         that point in time?

 08                     A.   I don't know if there was a Wind

 09         deal team before this.  I don't remember when I

 10         first heard about when exactly.  It could have been

 11         in this email.

 12   459               Q.   All right.  Did you understand

 13         that all of these people were part of a group that

 14         was sort of on the Wind project?

 15                     A.   I assume they were if they were

 16         copied on the email.

 17   460               Q.   But nobody ever told you that this

 18         is the team?

 19                     A.   At this point, I don't remember.

 20   461               Q.   What about in relation to telecoms

 21         generally, was that the team in relation to

 22         telecoms generally?

 23                     A.   Yeah, I think so.

 24   462               Q.   And was this the first notice you

 25         had that the deal with Wind might be proceeding?
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 01                     A.   I don't remember prior to this

 02         even being aware there was a potential deal with

 03         Wind.

 04   463               Q.   So your position is that prior to

 05         May 6th, 2014 you didn't have any understanding

 06         that there was even a potential deal with Wind?

 07                     A.   Other than what was said maybe in

 08         the first government presentation, no, I hadn't

 09         seen any internal confirmation that there was

 10         really anything proceeding.

 11   464               Q.   Notwithstanding that in that first

 12         presentation you typed up that there were advanced

 13         discussions with VimpelCom?

 14                     A.   It said that but I was not aware

 15         at all that Catalyst was working on Wind.  Again, I

 16         would have found it strange that they were pursuing

 17         an opportunity with Wind and the analysts weren't

 18         doing any work on it.

 19   465               Q.   Right.  And was there no work

 20         being done between March and May, to your

 21         knowledge?

 22                     A.   On Wind?  Not that I recall.

 23   466               Q.   And are you aware of any other

 24         discussion preceding this date?

 25                     A.   I don't think I was.
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 01   467               Q.   So what did you make of this

 02         email?

 03                     A.   I was surprised.

 04   468               Q.   All right.  And then what kind of

 05         follow-up activity was there on your part?

 06                     A.   My part immediately following this

 07         email?  I don't know if I did anything but I am

 08         pretty sure I was asked to start doing things.

 09   469               Q.   Okay.  Did you look at the

 10         documents that were attached to the email?

 11                     A.   I don't remember.

 12   470               Q.   Did you have any understanding as

 13         to what he meant by "they are moving on the terms I

 14         proposed this a.m."?

 15                     A.   Not really.  There's terms below

 16         there, I'm not sure if those are the terms he

 17         proposed but --

 18   471               Q.   You had no knowledge of that one

 19         way or the other at this time?

 20                     A.   Aside from what was in the email,

 21         no.

 22   472               Q.   If you could turn up CCG0009482.

 23         This is sort of some emails that follow on what we

 24         just looked at.  So if you look at the email on May

 25         6th right at the bottom of the first page, at 4:04
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 01         from Mr. Glassman, where he says:

 02                          "Technically not 300 million in

 03                     cash although it could be 300

 04                     million in total value and we get to

 05                     choose between replacing current

 06                     vendor financing or renegotiating

 07                     with them."

 08                     Is it fair to say that at that point in

 09         time you then became aware of that?

 10                     A.   What?

 11   473               Q.   I.e. that Catalyst would be

 12         prepared to pay 300 million in cash as one of the

 13         options?

 14                     A.   It seems like that is something

 15         that is forming, something that's, you know,

 16         evolving.

 17   474               Q.   So you were aware of that at least

 18         at this point in time?

 19                     A.   Like I said, it started to evolve,

 20         it seemed.

 21   475               Q.   I'm not talking about the

 22         evolution of it.  You were aware, you read this

 23         email, you were aware of it?

 24                     A.   Sure, yes.

 25   476               Q.   And you were also aware of
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 01         Mr. Glassman's view that there would be a need for

 02         a condition of government approval.  Do you see

 03         that?

 04                     A.   I see that.  I'm not really sure

 05         what he's referring to.

 06   477               Q.   I was going to ask you that.  So

 07         you had no knowledge at all as to what he was

 08         referring to?

 09                     A.   Government approval can mean a lot

 10         of things.

 11   478               Q.   Did you have any idea what he's

 12         referring to when he says:

 13                          "Due diligence can be confined

 14                     primarily to spectrum ownership and

 15                     options thereon."

 16                     MR. CENTA:  And "opinions thereon," I

 17         think.

 18                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 19   479               Q.   Opinions, sorry.

 20                     A.   I mean, I understand what that

 21         means, yes.

 22   480               Q.   So you had an understanding of

 23         what he meant by that when you read this?

 24                     A.   Yes, he is essentially saying

 25         diligence can be confined to checking that they
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 01         have the assets they say they have.

 02   481               Q.   Okay.  And that would have been

 03         important for you to know because it must have been

 04         your view that if you were going to be involved in

 05         this, it would be for the purposes of performing

 06         due diligence, at least one of the tasks?

 07                     A.   The diligence that I ended up

 08         doing had nothing to do with that.

 09   482               Q.   You had previously determined what

 10         the spectrum value was for Wind though, right?

 11                     A.   They reported it.  I didn't

 12         determine it.

 13   483               Q.   Well, you were asked to go out and

 14         look for that data and you reported it?

 15                     A.   Sure.

 16   484               Q.   So you determined it for someone?

 17                     A.   No, they asked me to find the

 18         information and I gave it to them.  I didn't make

 19         an evaluation.

 20   485               Q.   All right.  And Mr. de Alba then

 21         writes in response to that email at 2:35 p.m., and

 22         he says basically two things.  Number one, he says

 23         that the vendor financing is in the default notice

 24         period.  You knew that, right?  Did you know that?

 25                     A.   No.
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 01   486               Q.   Okay.

 02                     A.   I understood it from this email

 03         but prior I don't believe I knew that.

 04   487               Q.   Okay.  And he goes on in the

 05         second paragraph to talking about positioning that

 06         to "Catalyst's advantage with the government to get

 07         required clarity on the ability to sell spectrum

 08         and/or monetize the investment."

 09                     So did you understand that that was one

 10         of the strategies?

 11                     A.   To monetize the investment?  Sure.

 12   488               Q.   Well, no, to position the vendor

 13         financing being in default to the government in

 14         order to get clarity on whether Catalyst would be

 15         able to sell the spectrum and monetize the

 16         investment in some other way?

 17                     A.   I don't know if I would have drawn

 18         that direct link.  I think he's saying more that

 19         Mobilicity is in a mess and they want to avoid that

 20         with Wind.

 21   489               Q.   So that's what you took from this?

 22                     A.   Yes.

 23   490               Q.   And then Mr. de Alba goes on and

 24         talks about the actual argument that was going to

 25         be presented to the government, right?
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 01         Potentially?

 02                     A.   Potentially, sure.

 03   491               Q.   And you are then copied on an

 04         email from Mr. Glassman in response to that, which

 05         is:

 06                          "Government has told us today

 07                     via Bruce that they will not give us

 08                     in writing the right to sell

 09                     spectrum in five years.  My response

 10                     is that such takes option 1 off the

 11                     table and we would only be willing

 12                     to build a wholesale/leasing

 13                     business specifically with

 14                     incumbents as the customers.  They

 15                     know this.  We are going to Ottawa

 16                     next week.  They also asked for our

 17                     help to understand who really is

 18                     controlling VimpelCom's

 19                     decision-making and to get our input

 20                     prior to next week's Mobilicity

 21                     mediation."

 22                     So you became aware of all of those

 23         things when you read Mr. Glassman's email?

 24                     A.   Yes.  Though at the time I'm not

 25         sure I would have connected option 1 there with the
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 01         presentation that I did a month and a half earlier,

 02         but I read the email.

 03   492               Q.   Okay.  But you subsequently would

 04         have because you looked at that presentation again

 05         shortly thereafter to make changes to it?

 06                     A.   Yes, but again, I don't know if I

 07         then would have connected that presentation with

 08         this email.

 09   493               Q.   So all of these things were

 10         unconnected to you?  You weren't drawing

 11         connections as you were working your way through

 12         this?

 13                     A.   I can't remember.  It was a pretty

 14         frantic pace of work.

 15   494               Q.   Wasn't that always the case?

 16                     A.   Yeah, frequently.

 17   495               Q.   Now, on Friday, May 9th you have

 18         testified already that Catalyst and its advisors

 19         met with Wind's management, right?

 20                     A.   Yes.

 21   496               Q.   And you were part of that meeting?

 22                     A.   Yes.

 23   497               Q.   Have you told me everything that

 24         you recall about that meeting?

 25                     A.   Yes.
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 01   498               Q.   Who was there again on your side?

 02                     A.   From our side it was myself, Zach

 03         Michaud, Lorne Creighton, Gabriel de Alba, there

 04         were two or three people from Morgan Stanley,

 05         probably a couple of people from Faskens, I'm not

 06         sure if John Levin was there but there were other

 07         people from Faskens probably there.  There were

 08         three -- there were probably I think four Wind

 09         people, so I think they had the CEO, they had a

 10         marketing guy, they had a spectrum guy, they had

 11         maybe a technology or product guy.

 12   499               Q.   Do you remember the names of these

 13         people?

 14                     A.   Yeah, I remember some.  So I think

 15         the CEO was Palo, he was an Italian guy; the

 16         regulatory spectrum guy was Simon; I don't remember

 17         the other two people's names.

 18   500               Q.   Okay.

 19                     A.   I think one of them is Egyptian

 20         but I don't remember.  And then there were maybe

 21         two or three people from VimpelCom and then there

 22         were people -- representatives from UBS, who was

 23         the banker.

 24   501               Q.   Do you remember who was there from

 25         VimpelCom?
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 01                     A.   A guy named Carsten and I don't

 02         remember who else.

 03   502               Q.   And how long was this meeting?

 04                     A.   I don't remember exactly but

 05         probably a few hours, not an all-day meeting but

 06         not only an hour.

 07   503               Q.   Where did it take place?

 08                     A.   At USB's offices.  It was in, I

 09         think, 161 or 181 Bay.

 10   504               Q.   What was your role in the meeting?

 11                     A.   Attend, take notes.

 12   505               Q.   You took notes of that meeting?

 13                     A.   I believe so.

 14   506               Q.   Do you remember what you did with

 15         those notes?

 16                     A.   I take all my handwritten notes,

 17         so I don't know where they are.

 18   507               Q.   Was it in some kind of notebook?

 19                     A.   I think what happened after the

 20         meeting was that Lorne was asked to type up the

 21         notes, so I think what I did was I gave him mine --

 22         like, he kind of consolidated everybody's notes

 23         into one typed-up version.

 24   508               Q.   So you gave your notes to Lorne

 25         who then transcribed them into some written

�0112

 01         document?

 02                     A.   That's what I believe happened.

 03   509               Q.   And were there any instructions

 04         that came to you arising out of that meeting?

 05                     A.   Specifically no, but I'm sure

 06         there were follow-ups.

 07   510               Q.   You don't recall what those

 08         follow-ups would have been?

 09                     A.   I think it was just start

 10         performing basic due diligence like you would with

 11         anything else.

 12   511               Q.   So you were sort of left to your

 13         own devices as to what you were looking for or what

 14         kind of due diligence you were to perform?

 15                     A.   I don't remember exactly.  We

 16         would have probably had some direction from Zach

 17         Michaud.

 18   512               Q.   If you'll turn up CCG0011118.

 19                     MS. COONEY:  Can you repeat that?

 20                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  CCG0011118.

 21                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 22   513               Q.   This is an email chain but let's

 23         look at, first of all, the last email in the chain

 24         which is the email from George Yao, Y-A-O, at

 25         Morgan Stanley to Gabriel de Alba and a couple of
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 01         other folks at Morgan Stanley.

 02                     He attaches a preliminary due diligence

 03         question list for Wind Mobile.  Do you see that?

 04                     A.   I do.

 05   514               Q.   And then you were sent that list

 06         by Mr. de Alba, right?

 07                     A.   Yes.

 08   515               Q.   On May 7th.  And you were asked to

 09         review it and provide your comments, right?

 10                     A.   Yes.

 11   516               Q.   Did you do that?

 12                     A.   I don't remember exactly.  If I

 13         did, then I did.

 14   517               Q.   Well, you would have reviewed it

 15         presumably having been asked to review it --

 16                     A.   I definitely would have but I

 17         don't know if I added comments, but if there's an

 18         email where I do, then I did.

 19   518               Q.   There is an email from Zach

 20         Michaud that follows to you and Lorne Creighton in

 21         which he says:

 22                          "Let me know if you have any

 23                     additions ASAP.  Sorry about the

 24                     fire drill."

 25                     What was he referring to when he says
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 01         sorry about the fire drill?

 02                     A.   I think this is essentially how

 03         the Catalyst involvement in the Wind transaction

 04         came about, so on very short notice we were going

 05         to have a meeting with Wind management.

 06   519               Q.   Okay.  And that's what this was

 07         all about?

 08                     A.   Fire drill just means a compressed

 09         period of time to get something done.

 10   520               Q.   All right.  And what were you

 11         doing?  What were you being asked to do that would

 12         have caused him to apologize for the fire drill?

 13                     A.   Well, he was apologizing because

 14         he wanted -- Gabriel wanted comments on something

 15         tomorrow in the morning, comments I guess on a due

 16         diligence list, and up to that point I had had very

 17         little, if any, knowledge of Wind Mobile.  So I

 18         didn't necessarily know what due diligence I was to

 19         do.  I wouldn't have known what to look for.

 20   521               Q.   So that's the fire drill?

 21                     A.   I think so.

 22   522               Q.   And that was an odd situation?

 23                     A.   It's a -- yeah, this is unusual to

 24         find out we're meeting with management by being

 25         forwarded an email asking us to do a diligence
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 01         list.

 02   523               Q.   So that was the first -- that was

 03         the first notification that you were going to be

 04         meeting with management?

 05                     A.   I think so.

 06   524               Q.   And I didn't actually see that.

 07         Is there some notification in that email that

 08         you're going to be meeting with management?

 09                     A.   I'm not sure.  What's the

 10         attachment say?

 11   525               Q.   The attachment is just a list of

 12         due diligence questions, from what I can tell.

 13                     A.   Okay.  Well, I mean, I reviewed a

 14         lot of documents.  One of them was an agenda to

 15         meet with management.  I was thinking that was

 16         this, but I guess the fire drill was just Gabriel

 17         wanting comments on something in a short period of

 18         time.

 19   526               Q.   And I guess, in fairness to you,

 20         if you look at document CCG0011614, there is an

 21         email chain the same day, sort of May 7th, where

 22         Mr. de Alba is emailing you and Zach and Lorne

 23         about whether you have the contact handy for the

 24         wireless consultant.  I take it that that's Johanne

 25         Lemay?
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 01                     A.   From the subject and attachments,

 02         yes.

 03   527               Q.   Well, you would have known that at

 04         that time, wouldn't you?  You had had a

 05         conversation with her?

 06                     A.   I don't know if that's the

 07         specific wireless consultant they met.  I don't

 08         know if Gabriel was referring to somebody else.  I

 09         certainly didn't have her contact information.

 10   528               Q.   All right.  And it says:

 11                          "Looks like due diligence on

 12                     Wind to start Friday at 9:30 a.m."

 13                     So is that the first notice you

 14         received?

 15                     A.   Yes.  It must have been.

 16   529               Q.   And you must have taken it from

 17         that email that you were going to be involved in

 18         doing the due diligence?

 19                     A.   That's a fair assumption.

 20   530               Q.   And then Zach responds to that and

 21         says:

 22                          "Please see attached.  Do we

 23                     need QOE guys or strategy guys."

 24                     What's that a reference to?

 25                     A.   QOE is quality of earnings so
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 01         that's pretty standard diligence to do in a

 02         transaction.  You have accountants come in and look

 03         at the company's books and assess the quality of

 04         their earnings in terms of essentially what's going

 05         into the income statement.

 06                     Strategy, I'm not sure exactly what he

 07         meant by -- what kind of strategy.

 08   531               Q.   You don't recall discussion with

 09         him or any follow-up where you may have responded?

 10                     A.   No.  This is already in the

 11         evening so I don't know if we were still even in

 12         the office.

 13   532               Q.   And the due diligence list itself

 14         which was part of the other document we just looked

 15         at and is CCG0011121, that was, I think, the same

 16         document as you produced at BM0004652?

 17                     MS. COONEY:  You want us to pull that

 18         up, counsel?

 19                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 20   533               Q.   Well, I'm just going to ask

 21         whether you recall saving that due diligence list

 22         on your personal computer?

 23                     A.   I don't recall specifically, but

 24         if it's on my computer, I must have saved it there.

 25   534               Q.   And would that have been for the
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 01         purpose of reviewing it and providing comments in

 02         relation to it?

 03                     A.   Yes.

 04   535               Q.   And then if you go to CCG0011618,

 05         these I think are the comments you give and

 06         Mr. Creighton gives in relation to the due

 07         diligence list, and what you say is:

 08                          "I've gone through it a few

 09                     times.  It seems pretty

 10                     comprehensive to me.  The only thing

 11                     I didn't see was to describe

 12                     detailed relationships with vendors,

 13                     either device manufacturers or

 14                     infrastructure providers."

 15                     And what were you driving at there?

 16                     A.   Simply that -- I mean, I've done

 17         enough due diligence that there are kind of basic

 18         checklist items.  One of them is vendor

 19         relationships.  So all I was saying is I didn't see

 20         it there.

 21   536               Q.   And then Mr. Creighton chimes in

 22         with his input which is asking for 5 to 10-year

 23         estimates rather than just 2014 to 2016.

 24                     A.   Part of this is driven from the

 25         fact that no analyst wants to say "no comments."
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 01   537               Q.   Right.

 02                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  That never happens in

 03         the legal industry.

 04                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 05   538               Q.   So if you go to CCG0009483, I

 06         think this is sort of the end of the chain, and

 07         you'll see there that Zach Michaud then forwards

 08         the comments really to Mr. de Alba and Jonathan

 09         Levin as well.

 10                     A.   That looks right.

 11   539               Q.   It doesn't look like your comment

 12         was picked up so I don't know what to make of that,

 13         but Mr. Creighton's was.

 14                     A.   Still stands two years later.

 15   540               Q.   If you go then to CCG0011627, this

 16         is now a continuation of what we've just seen, and

 17         basically what happens is, as I understand it,

 18         you're copied on some further correspondence from

 19         the Faskens firm where they set out probably from a

 20         legal perspective what kind of due diligence they

 21         would like to see as well.

 22                     A.   Correct.

 23   541               Q.   Is that fair?

 24                     A.   Correct.

 25   542               Q.   And then you reflect on it and it
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 01         looks like you suggest an addition for roaming

 02         agreements, right?

 03                     A.   Right.

 04   543               Q.   Is that something that just

 05         occurred to you at that time basically as you were

 06         reviewing these other comments?

 07                     A.   I don't know for sure.  Probably.

 08   544               Q.   Now, at the time when you were

 09         involved in sort of reviewing this due diligence

 10         list and preparing to meet with the management team

 11         at Wind on May 9th, were you starting to build an

 12         operating and valuation model for Wind as well?

 13                     A.   What I remember is that we kind

 14         of, say, outsourced the model work to Morgan

 15         Stanley, so they would have been starting to build

 16         that out.  I think we started to build it and we

 17         were missing a bunch of information that we needed

 18         and then eventually we just handed that off to

 19         Morgan Stanley, and we then gave them kind of

 20         direction on what to include.

 21   545               Q.   Well, let's look firstly at

 22         CCG0011619.  This is an email from Mr. Michaud to

 23         you and Lorne Creighton.

 24                     A.   Um-hmm.

 25   546               Q.   On May 8th, and that's where he's
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 01         asking the two of you to start putting together a

 02         model operating and valuation, right?

 03                     A.   Right.

 04   547               Q.   And to send you a list of

 05         questions, presumably that's a list of questions

 06         for the management team at Wind?

 07                     A.   I don't -- I don't know.

 08   548               Q.   Do you recall?

 09                     A.   I don't recall if that was -- if

 10         they were meant for the management team or just us

 11         reflecting to him what questions we had.

 12   549               Q.   Okay.  And do you recall doing

 13         that?

 14                     A.   Which?

 15   550               Q.   Putting together a list of

 16         questions?

 17                     A.   I don't recall specifically.

 18   551               Q.   And, as you said, you did start

 19         along with Mr. Creighton to prepare some work on a

 20         model?

 21                     A.   So that was -- that seemed like a

 22         bit of knee jerk reaction from Zach because at that

 23         point I don't really think we had any financial

 24         information or fulsome financial information to do

 25         that.  So I think what we did was we started to
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 01         build what the model would look like and we found

 02         that we didn't have the information to do that.

 03   552               Q.   And do you remember the timeframe

 04         over which you were preparing this model?

 05                     A.   Not specifically but between --

 06         well, further to this request?

 07   553               Q.   Yes.

 08                     A.   Sometime between that and the

 09         meeting the next morning, 9:30 in the morning.

 10   554               Q.   All right.  So it would have been

 11         work that you were performing that evening

 12         basically or that day/evening?

 13                     A.   Yeah, I think Lorne was really

 14         running with the model.

 15   555               Q.   So you weren't --

 16                     A.   I may have been helping.

 17   556               Q.   What's your evidence, that you

 18         weren't doing the model?

 19                     A.   I remember Lorne being the one

 20         with the model open on his computer.  I may have

 21         had input in it on how to build some stuff but he

 22         was the one really --

 23   557               Q.   Were you in the office together

 24         with him?

 25                     A.   Yes, probably.
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 01   558               Q.   So you were working together and

 02         Lorne had his computer and was basically inputting

 03         whatever ideas you folks had?

 04                     A.   I mean, he knows how to build

 05         models.  That's what analysts are good at.

 06   559               Q.   So are you, presumably, right?

 07                     A.   Yes.

 08   560               Q.   And so am I correct in

 09         understanding that you and Mr. Creighton tried to

 10         build this model overnight and then determined at

 11         that stage that you didn't have the information you

 12         needed?

 13                     A.   Yeah, because I think what I

 14         remember is that we were provided with the

 15         materials, the attachments here which were

 16         presentation and then summary financials, but you

 17         really want to build up -- like, we only had the

 18         summary, we didn't have the stuff that goes into

 19         the revenue lines, so you need a lot more detail

 20         other than just a number.

 21   561               Q.   And what would you have done once

 22         you came to the realization that you didn't have

 23         enough?

 24                     A.   I think we would have told Zach.

 25   562               Q.   Do you recall doing that?
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 01                     A.   I don't remember then but I think

 02         I've seen an email where we say the numbers don't

 03         reflect, based on what they provided, we can't

 04         build the model right now.

 05   563               Q.   So let's go to CCG0011628.  And

 06         just before we get to the actual text of the email,

 07         on the top part of the page, if you flip over to

 08         the second page, there is an email from your

 09         Hotmail account to -- I gather it's your email at

 10         work, but I can't be sure of that.

 11                     A.   Right.

 12   564               Q.   Do you have any recollection now

 13         as to why you were sending something from your

 14         Hotmail account to your work email?

 15                     A.   I don't.  It may have been

 16         connected with the fact I had the diligence list on

 17         my computer.  I don't know.

 18   565               Q.   Okay.

 19                     A.   I was at work during these hours

 20         so I don't know.

 21   566               Q.   And then these are some questions

 22         that you send off to Zach on some additional

 23         information that you need based on what you had

 24         reviewed from Wind, right?

 25                     A.   Right.
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 01   567               Q.   And is that basically the summary

 02         of what you and Lorne had determined you needed in

 03         order to complete the valuation model?

 04                     A.   They were even just basic

 05         questions on understanding the business.

 06   568               Q.   All right.  But were these -- what

 07         I'm trying to drive at is were these the questions

 08         that you and Lorne formulated as you were sitting

 09         in his office or wherever you were together trying

 10         to build this model?

 11                     A.   Some of these would have been to

 12         that end probably.

 13   569               Q.   And you then send them over to

 14         Zach and do you know what happened thereafter?

 15                     A.   I don't remember.

 16   570               Q.   If you turn to CCG -- sorry, just

 17         one second here.  If you turn to CCG0011631.  This

 18         is where the timing on these emails doesn't match

 19         up.  I'm not sure what's going on there.

 20                     MR. CENTA:  I know.

 21                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 22   571               Q.   In any event, the email we just

 23         looked at suggested that you sent that email to

 24         Zach at 6:40 p.m., but now when you look at the

 25         email that's embedded here, we see 2:40 p.m., so
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 01         I'm not sure what's going on there.

 02                     In any event, in the sort of middle of

 03         the page, Zach responds to you and Lorne and says:

 04                          "How's the operating model

 05                     progressing?"

 06                     Do you see that?

 07                     A.   I do.

 08   572               Q.   In response, basically in response

 09         to your question about additional information?

 10                     A.   Right.

 11   573               Q.   You see that?

 12                     A.   Yes.

 13   574               Q.   So you were continuing to work on

 14         the operating model, obviously?

 15                     A.   We were trying to.

 16   575               Q.   Okay.  And the answer

 17         Mr. Creighton gives is that it was going slowly,

 18         the info they gave is pretty bare bones and he's

 19         having difficulty backing into their numbers using

 20         the assumptions given, continuing to work on it and

 21         we will build a question list.

 22                     So is that what you were doing at this

 23         stage, you were focusing on building a question

 24         list?

 25                     A.   We might have been.  Might have
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 01         been also just trying to diffuse any problems by

 02         saying we're continuing to work on it.  I don't

 03         know.

 04   576               Q.   Okay.

 05                     A.   It's late.

 06   577               Q.   Do you recall working on it

 07         throughout that period or trying to work on it

 08         throughout that period with Mr. Creighton?

 09                     A.   I know that we did.  I don't

 10         recall it.

 11   578               Q.   And then if you go to CCG0011123,

 12         here you have an email from you at the bottom of

 13         the first page of this email chain in which you're

 14         attaching a diligence list with some additions we

 15         have made.

 16                     Were you in charge of sort of making

 17         additions to the diligence list and sending that to

 18         Morgan Stanley?

 19                     A.   It would have been probably a

 20         collaboration between Zach, myself and Lorne.

 21   579               Q.   And at this point in time you were

 22         identified as being part of the Wind deal team,

 23         right?

 24                     A.   I agree.

 25   580               Q.   And that's why you're giving your
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 01         contact information to the people at Morgan

 02         Stanley?

 03                     A.   Correct.

 04   581               Q.   So if you turn to CCG0011138, this

 05         is an email chain of May 9th later in the day.  So

 06         this would have been after now the meeting with

 07         management of Wind, right?

 08                     A.   Correct.

 09   582               Q.   Okay.  And Mr. de Alba writes to

 10         you and Mr. Creighton and Zach Michaud and says:

 11                          "Please put together the

 12                     initial memo we discussed with all

 13                     of our notes and the questions that

 14                     come from it.  Then we can send the

 15                     questions."

 16                     So what was the discussion with Mr.

 17         de Alba?

 18                     A.   I don't remember.

 19   583               Q.   And what, generally speaking, what

 20         would be your understanding of an initial memo when

 21         he says put together the initial memo?

 22                     A.   It would be a summary of the

 23         business, what the company does, financial history,

 24         in this case did the company provide financial

 25         projections, it would include those, it might
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 01         include follow-up items or diligence items.  Those

 02         would be some of the things I would have.

 03   584               Q.   All right.  And Zach says it

 04         should be finished by tonight, and then

 05         Mr. Creighton attaches a consolidation of the

 06         notes.

 07                     Then if you go to the attachment to the

 08         email, which is CCG0011139, did you participate in

 09         preparing this document?

 10                     A.   I don't think so.  Like I said, I

 11         think what I did is I gave Lorne my notes and he

 12         was the one that consolidated them.

 13   585               Q.   So some of this information would

 14         have come from notes that you took at the meeting?

 15                     A.   Probably, yes.

 16   586               Q.   And it was basically a summary of

 17         what management was telling you at the meeting?

 18         Not you specifically, but the group of you that

 19         were there at the meeting?

 20                     A.   Right.

 21   587               Q.   And so work on that document seems

 22         to continue over the next days.  If you turn to

 23         CCG0010008.

 24                     MS. COONEY:  Sorry, what is it again?

 25                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  CCG0010008.
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 01                     MS. COONEY:  Got it.

 02                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 03   588               Q.   We should have an email chain

 04         there and it starts with an email from Zach Michaud

 05         on May 9th and you see that Mr. Michaud was of the

 06         view that there were quite a few things missing

 07         from the presentation and overall what was said at

 08         the meeting combined.  Do you see that?

 09                     A.   I do.

 10   589               Q.   And so when he says:

 11                          "Remember we have pretty good

 12                     information to start a memo.  You

 13                     can take financial info from

 14                     presentation and Excel provided."

 15                     What was he saying?  What memo were you

 16         supposed to have started?  Is it the investment

 17         memo we just spoke about?

 18                     A.   Yes.

 19                     Q.   "The point is to summarize the

 20                     comments at the meeting, the company

 21                     materials and list specific areas we

 22                     need to develop so we can do a full

 23                     investment memo once we have

 24                     completed due diligence."

 25                     You understood that that was the task
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 01         at hand?

 02                     A.   Yes.  Yes.

 03   590               Q.   And did you understand that the

 04         instructions were to write it as if you were

 05         writing an investment memo and present the

 06         investment thesis?

 07                     A.   That's what it says.

 08   591               Q.   And that's what you and

 09         Mr. Creighton were responsible for doing, right?

 10                     A.   Correct.

 11   592               Q.   And if you look at Mr. Creighton's

 12         response then the next day is that he attaches an

 13         updated memo.  He says:

 14                          "We made an effort to put it

 15                     into more of a memo format."

 16                     When he says "we," I presume he's

 17         referring to you and him?

 18                     A.   Correct.

 19   593               Q.   And he says:

 20                          "Supplementing it with

 21                     additional information from the

 22                     presentation meeting Excel, as well

 23                     industry research reports and the

 24                     Mobilicity memo."

 25                     And where were you getting these other
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 01         sources of information that you were consulting at

 02         this time?

 03                     A.   The industry research and

 04         Mobilicity memo?

 05   594               Q.   Yeah, who was looking those up?

 06                     A.   I don't remember.  Lorne was

 07         really driving the memo.

 08   595               Q.   What were you doing --

 09                     A.   I was --

 10   596               Q.   -- to help?

 11                     A.   -- probably making comments on

 12         what he was doing.

 13   597               Q.   I take it at this time, given that

 14         this was sort of the fire drill scenario, having

 15         been called into this assignment on May 6th I think

 16         we saw, and been told that you're going to be part

 17         of a meeting on May 9th and that due diligence was

 18         going to start, I take it that this was occupying

 19         the vast majority, if not all, of your time?

 20                     A.   It would have been a lot of time.

 21         I don't remember.  I was certainly busy on other

 22         things.  I just don't remember what the allocation

 23         of time was.

 24   598               Q.   But was this the priority?

 25                     A.   Yes, it would have been at this
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 01         time.

 02   599               Q.   So it's not as if Mr. Creighton is

 03         going to be slaving away on an important thing like

 04         an investment memo and you're going to be twiddling

 05         your thumbs in your office?

 06                     A.   No, but it's hard for two people

 07         to work on the same document and there were a

 08         number of changes, so one person has really got to

 09         be the one doing it.

 10   600               Q.   Maybe so, but you would have been

 11         contributing to it as much as you could?

 12                     A.   Correct.

 13   601               Q.   You weren't just going to be

 14         sitting there twiddling your thumbs while

 15         Mr. Creighton was killing himself trying to prepare

 16         this document?

 17                     A.   I agree with that.

 18   602               Q.   And the updated document that's

 19         attached by Mr. Creighton to his email appears at

 20         CCG0010009 and I'm going to suggest to you,

 21         Mr. Moyse, that this document is quite different

 22         than the sort of bare bones document that was

 23         exchanged just prior to this?

 24                     A.   Correct.

 25   603               Q.   So there had been some substantial
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 01         work done by you and Mr. Creighton, I am going to

 02         suggest to you, between May 8th and May 9th or May

 03         10th I guess when this document was circulated to

 04         Mr. Michaud?

 05                     A.   Right.

 06   604               Q.   And Mr. Michaud asks the both of

 07         you, just going back to that original email chain

 08         that we were looking at at 10008, in his email of

 09         5:08 p.m., we assume 5:08 p.m., he says:

 10                          "Guys,

 11                         Still going through and cleaning

 12                     some of the writing up but can you

 13                     guys start putting together a

 14                     financial summary for the Exec Sum

 15                     (ph) and the beginning of section 3.

 16                     Also for your waterfall need to

 17                     include the total funding needs of

 18                     the business as per their plans in

 19                     the cost base of the company and add

 20                     the value of the network on the

 21                     asset side.  Also please do going

 22                     concern waterfall value if we get to

 23                     a positive EBITDA value including

 24                     total FCF needed to get there."

 25                     I assume FCF is free cash flow?
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 01                     A.   Yes.

 02   605               Q.   And those were the instructions

 03         that were being given to you and Mr. Creighton as

 04         to what your duties were in relation to this

 05         particular memo?

 06                     A.   Looks like it.

 07   606               Q.   And just so we have a common

 08         understanding, when Mr. Michaud speaks about a

 09         waterfall, what's he referring to in this context?

 10                     A.   A waterfall is generally what you

 11         do is you start with -- you're trying to figure out

 12         what different pieces of the capital structure

 13         might be worth.  So you start with your asset value

 14         at the top and then how much asset value is there

 15         for your first priority debt and how much is there

 16         left for any other debt and how much is there left

 17         for equity.

 18   607               Q.   Right.  This is really, if I could

 19         put it this way, the original thought, like sort of

 20         the analysis that you're actually performing,

 21         right?  That's not something you can find publicly

 22         available?

 23                     A.   Sure.

 24   608               Q.   And it looks to me, maybe I'm

 25         wrong, but given the fact that you reply with some
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 01         questions about valuation of the network and the

 02         capex, that you were taking on the task primarily

 03         of preparing the waterfall?

 04                     A.   I don't remember doing a waterfall

 05         at all.

 06   609               Q.   You don't remember doing that at

 07         all?

 08                     A.   No.

 09   610               Q.   Is it possible you did it or are

 10         you saying you didn't do it?

 11                     A.   I don't think I did it but I think

 12         I was helping Lorne with it, at most conceptually.

 13   611               Q.   What does that mean to help

 14         somebody conceptually but not to do it?

 15                     A.   Just to make sure we're not

 16         forgetting anything but Lorne would have actually

 17         built it.

 18   612               Q.   Okay.  Did you review it?

 19                     A.   I don't remember reviewing it.  I

 20         don't even know if we built it.

 21   613               Q.   And then Mr. Michaud attaches a

 22         document and asks you to add in where appropriate,

 23         and I think that's what we just looked at.

 24                     Now, if you go to CCG0011664, so if you

 25         look at -- sort of go to the second page -- sorry,
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 01         not the second page, it's going to be, I guess, the

 02         third page which is a continuation of where we left

 03         off in that last email chain, Mr. Michaud, you see

 04         an email from him May 10th, 6:48 p.m.?

 05                     A.   Sorry, not yet.

 06   614               Q.   It's right in the middle of the

 07         page, the third page of that.

 08                     A.   Yes, I see that.

 09   615               Q.   And basically he just says any

 10         questions, give me a call.  Right?

 11                     A.   Right.

 12   616               Q.   And then you go back to him

 13         shortly thereafter and you say:

 14                          "Only question is not sure if

 15                     they've given us full PP&E

 16                     breakdown."

 17                     So the PP&E value includes network

 18         value as well, right?

 19                     A.   Right.

 20   617               Q.   So you must have been working on

 21         this enough to know to ask that question?

 22                     A.   I guess.  I don't remember.

 23                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Just for the record,

 24         we're looking at the fourth page of the document.

 25                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Is it fourth?  Okay,
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 01         sorry, I misspoke.  The fourth page.

 02                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 03   618               Q.   And if you flip then to the third

 04         page and read from bottom to top, there is a

 05         further discussion about how to value certain

 06         things and what to do with some of the questions

 07         you were asking, right?

 08                     A.   It seems like it.

 09   619               Q.   And Mr. Michaud on the second page

 10         of the chain makes some suggestions on what to add

 11         and then asks for an update on how it's coming, and

 12         then the update is attached by Mr. Creighton on May

 13         10th at 8:37 p.m., right?

 14                     A.   Right.

 15   620               Q.   And again, during this period of

 16         time, so let's say from May 10th to May 11th, am I

 17         right that this assignment would have been

 18         essentially what you were working on during that

 19         timeframe?

 20                     A.   Probably.

 21   621               Q.   Turn up CCG0009529.  This is an

 22         email chain again starts at the bottom where you're

 23         not copied, it's an email from a gentleman at UBS

 24         who sends a transaction structure memo prepared by

 25         PwC to Mr. de Alba and your consultants at Morgan
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 01         Stanley, and then that memo, structure memo, was

 02         forwarded to you, amongst others, by Mr. de Alba,

 03         right?

 04                     A.   Right.

 05   622               Q.   So as of May 14th you had some

 06         knowledge at least of possible acquisition

 07         structures?

 08                     A.   Sure.

 09   623               Q.   And what had happened --

 10                     A.   This was provided to me, to be

 11         clear, this was provided by Wind.

 12   624               Q.   Sorry?

 13                     A.   This was provided by Wind.

 14   625               Q.   By Wind?

 15                     A.   Well, their bankers provided it.

 16   626               Q.   Okay.

 17                     A.   They must have engaged PwC to deal

 18         with it.

 19   627               Q.   I see what you're saying, yes.  So

 20         regardless of the source, it discussed possible

 21         acquisition structures of a Catalyst purchase?

 22                     A.   I don't know if -- what I'm saying

 23         is I don't know if this was only provided to

 24         Catalyst or to everyone.  It certainly discussed

 25         possible structures but I just don't know if it was
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 01         just for Catalyst.

 02   628               Q.   Fair enough.  And what was

 03         happening between the last sort of group of emails

 04         that we looked at, May 11th through to May 14th

 05         when this comes, to your recollection?

 06                     A.   I don't remember.

 07   629               Q.   Do you at least recall being

 08         engaged, heavily engaged in whatever was happening

 09         at that time on Wind?

 10                     A.   I was probably doing at least some

 11         work on it but I don't remember exactly.

 12   630               Q.   And then at CCG0010037, so this is

 13         now an email chain that starts, and it's fairly

 14         lengthy, as you can see, it starts four pages into

 15         it with an email from the advisors at UBS who, as

 16         you say, were Wind's advisors, right?

 17                     A.   Well, Wind or VimpelCom.  Probably

 18         VimpelCom.

 19   631               Q.   To Mr. Michaud, and it talks about

 20         -- do you have that?  It's an email of 12:24 p.m.,

 21         May 13th.  It's the first email really in the

 22         chain.

 23                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Oh, on page 7.

 24                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Yes, page 7, exactly.

 25                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:
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 01   632               Q.   And it says:

 02                          "We went through the due

 03                     diligence request list you sent us

 04                     earlier this week."

 05                     And that's the due diligence list that

 06         you assisted in preparing, right?

 07                     A.   I assume it was.

 08   633               Q.   Well, there was no other due

 09         diligence list that you were aware of, right?

 10                     A.   That's right.

 11   634               Q.   And it says that:

 12                          "UBS at least thinks it would

 13                     be most efficient to have an

 14                     in-person due diligence session to

 15                     walk through the list as a lot of

 16                     the questions are best managed

 17                     through narrative explanation with

 18                     reference to certain files."

 19                     And then we see a number of emails

 20         essentially in which that face-to-face meeting

 21         appears to be coordinated, and you were involved in

 22         that.

 23                     Is it the case that you had that

 24         face-to-face meeting?  Do you recall it?

 25                     A.   I don't remember that meeting.
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 01   635               Q.   Okay.

 02                     A.   But if it occurred, I may have

 03         been there but I don't remember.

 04   636               Q.   All right.  And then there is an

 05         email of May 13th, 7:33 p.m. from Dylan McGuire at

 06         Morgan Stanley on which you're copied that says:

 07                          "Zach,

 08                         Please see the updated requested

 09                     list based on our discussion.  I

 10                     have also attached model questions

 11                     that will go across for the meeting

 12                     tomorrow."

 13                     Do you recall being part of a

 14         discussion with Morgan Stanley at that time?

 15                     A.   I remember we had a call with

 16         Dylan who was, I think, an analyst at Morgan

 17         Stanley.

 18   637               Q.   Yes?

 19                     A.   And we may have had multiple

 20         calls, but the one call I remember I didn't attend

 21         the whole call because I had another call to get

 22         to, but I think that may have been the call that

 23         they are referring to.

 24   638               Q.   And do you remember the nature of

 25         the call that you did participate in with Dylan
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 01         McGuire?

 02                     A.   It would have been related to the

 03         model and financial summary, financial projections,

 04         things like that.

 05   639               Q.   And this is the model that you and

 06         Lorne were building up?

 07                     A.   That we had started on, but, like

 08         I said, we kind of outsourced it to Morgan Stanley

 09         later.

 10   640               Q.   So by this point in time, May 13th

 11         then, whatever model you and Lorne Creighton had

 12         developed was passed along to Morgan Stanley?

 13                     A.   I don't know if at this stage it

 14         was, but probably.  I don't know for sure.

 15   641               Q.   And is it the case that this email

 16         sent by Dylan McGuire, when it refers to attached

 17         model questions, did they have questions for you in

 18         relation to the model that you had prepared?

 19                     A.   I don't think that's what it is.

 20         I don't remember for sure.  I read it as questions

 21         for the company to help with the model but I don't

 22         know, I don't recall.

 23   642               Q.   I see.  Okay.  And then there is

 24         an email from Mr. Michaud to Mr. McGuire in

 25         response at 7:51 p.m. in which he says:
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 01                          "For the model questions, need

 02                     to understand the build-up of

 03                     revenue by plan, by region, so they

 04                     need to show us how they are

 05                     thinking about this going forward.

 06                     Also we need to understand the cost

 07                     lines and the build-up of all those

 08                     components, not just the growth

 09                     numbers."

 10                     So is this again consistent with what

 11         you just told me, that these were questions that

 12         were going to be posed to management of Wind in

 13         relation to the model that was being built?

 14                     A.   That's what it sounds like.

 15   643               Q.   And then there is an email, if you

 16         skip up a few emails, there is an email from you at

 17         4:22 p.m. and you see there you say "Further to our

 18         meeting today"?

 19                     A.   Yes, so I guess -- is that when

 20         the meeting was?  Yeah, I guess I did attend this

 21         meeting.

 22   644               Q.   And that's a meeting that you

 23         recall happening with the people at Morgan Stanley?

 24                     A.   I don't remember a meeting.  I

 25         mean, I don't remember a meeting just with Morgan

�0145

 01         Stanley.  I don't know exactly what meeting this

 02         refers to.

 03   645               Q.   You have no recollection of the

 04         meeting?

 05                     A.   I don't.

 06   646               Q.   What you ask people to follow up

 07         on, however, are three things.  Number one is a

 08         spectrum memo.  Do you have any recollection as to

 09         why you were asking them to follow up on a spectrum

 10         memo?

 11                     A.   So, I mean, now that I'm looking

 12         at this and I've seen other documents, I do know

 13         what that is, so I think this was actually a

 14         meeting we had with Wind, the company, and they had

 15         said these were things that they could provide to

 16         us.

 17   647               Q.   Okay.

 18                     A.   Materials they had that they could

 19         provide to us, Wind had.

 20   648               Q.   And why were you asking Morgan

 21         Stanley -- well, who were you asking to follow up

 22         on those items?

 23                     A.   I am asking Morgan Stanley to ask

 24         UBS to get it from Wind.

 25   649               Q.   All right.  So you were asking
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 01         them to get from Wind the spectrum memo, the

 02         spectrum spreadsheet/matrix, and a table showing

 03         how much Wind has paid to each incumbent under

 04         roaming agreements?

 05                     A.   Correct.

 06   650               Q.   So your recollection, just so I

 07         have this straight, is that this would have come

 08         out of a meeting that happened as between, I guess,

 09         people on your side, Catalyst, and Morgan Stanley,

 10         and Wind management and UBS?

 11                     A.   That's what I -- I don't remember

 12         that meeting, but based on what I've seen in the

 13         productions, that's what I believe happened.

 14   651               Q.   And that's an additional meeting

 15         to the one that you had earlier described to us

 16         which was the meeting that occurred on May 9th?

 17                     A.   It would have been, yes.

 18   652               Q.   So there were at least two

 19         meetings that you participated in with management

 20         at Wind?

 21                     A.   I guess I did.

 22   653               Q.   And then when you attach -- just

 23         scrolling up again a few emails to the first email

 24         in this particular chain, which is an email from

 25         you of 9:58 p.m., and you say:
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 01                          "Please see attached for the

 02                     spectrum memo and matrix referenced

 03                     in today's meeting."

 04                     That's something that was then provided

 05         to you by Morgan Stanley presumably after they

 06         followed up with UBS consistent with your

 07         instructions?

 08                     A.   I believe that's what it is, yes.

 09   654               Q.   And you were sending that to

 10         Gabriel de Alba.  Do you know why?  What was the

 11         context for this request?  Why was it something

 12         that was being sought?

 13                     A.   I don't remember exactly.  It was

 14         obviously a follow-up item from the meeting.  I'm

 15         not sure if there was any more discussion around

 16         it.

 17   655               Q.   And if you go to CCG0011204 and

 18         this is --

 19                     MS. COONEY:  I think I have the wrong

 20         one.  Can you repeat it again.

 21                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  11204.

 22                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 23   656               Q.   This is an email of May 15th, 2014

 24         from Mr. Bautista at Faskens and you're copied on

 25         it, amongst several others.  And here you are being
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 01         provided with a high level overview of the target's

 02         capital structure, right?

 03                     A.   Right, that's what it says.

 04   657               Q.   And a table summarizing change of

 05         control provisions in certain material agreements

 06         for Wind, right?

 07                     A.   That's what it says, yes.

 08   658               Q.   And you would have reviewed this,

 09         obviously?

 10                     A.   I don't know.

 11   659               Q.   You can't recall one way or the

 12         other whether you reviewed it?

 13                     A.   I can't.  I know I was leaving for

 14         vacation the next -- I think actually that night,

 15         so I don't know if I reviewed this.  Yeah, this was

 16         -- if the time stamp is right, this is 12:40 a.m.,

 17         my flight was leaving at 1:30 in the morning so I

 18         don't know if I reviewed this.

 19   660               Q.   And at this point I gather, from

 20         what you just told me, you then leave for a

 21         vacation?

 22                     A.   Correct.

 23   661               Q.   But before you did, let me just

 24         ask you to look at one other document, CCG0009540.

 25         So here what I'd like you to look at, there's
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 01         certain emails we have already looked at, but if

 02         you find the email from Mr. de Alba of 5:43 a.m.,

 03         presuming that's the right time, which follows from

 04         Mr. Levin's email in which he talks about an

 05         original draft agreement of purchase and sale.

 06                     So by this point in time, May 14th, had

 07         you seen any draft agreement of purchase and sale?

 08                     A.   I don't think so.

 09   662               Q.   Did you have any discussions with

 10         anybody about a draft agreement of purchase and

 11         sale?

 12                     A.   Not that I remember.

 13   663               Q.   And then Mr. de Alba says:

 14                          "Not surprising," this is in

 15                     regards to Mr. Levin's comment that

 16                     it was too seller friendly, "agreed

 17                     we also need to have conditions

 18                     related to government approvals."

 19                     Do you see that?

 20                     A.   I do.

 21   664               Q.   And that's again consistent with

 22         what we saw early on for Mr. Glassman, right?

 23                     A.   It might be.  Again, government

 24         approvals can mean a lot of things.

 25   665               Q.   And my question was, given that
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 01         you were now copied on two emails at least that

 02         referred to conditions related to government

 03         approvals, did you have any idea by May 15th what

 04         was meant?

 05                     A.   Maybe, but I wasn't -- I didn't

 06         know if anything had changed between those two

 07         emails.

 08   666               Q.   What did you understand when you

 09         say maybe you did understand?

 10                     A.   At most I would have understood

 11         that to mean whatever Mr. Glassman said in his

 12         email.

 13   667               Q.   Well, he didn't say anything

 14         beyond there had to be conditions related to

 15         government approval?

 16                     A.   No.  Glassman.

 17   668               Q.   Yeah, Mr. Glassman.

 18                     A.   The earlier email.

 19   669               Q.   I don't think it said anything

 20         different than what this email says.

 21                     A.   Then there is nothing else I

 22         understood.

 23   670               Q.   So you didn't understand what it

 24         was a reference to?

 25                     A.   The government has to approve the
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 01         purchase or approve the sale, I don't know.  There

 02         was no discussions that I was part of about what

 03         that would have meant.

 04   671               Q.   And when he says "we need to buy

 05         more time beyond May 23 as we continue discussion

 06         with the government and see the Mobilicity CCAA

 07         evolve," did you have any knowledge what that was

 08         all about?

 09                     A.   No.

 10   672               Q.   You weren't involved in any

 11         discussions with anybody at Catalyst that would

 12         have given you any insight at all as to what Mr.

 13         de Alba was talking about when he said we need to

 14         buy more time beyond May 23rd?

 15                     A.   No.

 16   673               Q.   And you never asked anybody any

 17         questions about that?

 18                     A.   I did not.

 19   674               Q.   And then there is an email from

 20         Mr. Babcock of Morgan Stanley responding to that.

 21         I gather you're copied on that as well although

 22         it's not shown.  And he talks about again this May

 23         23rd deadline as being aspirational.  You had

 24         understood, you told me earlier you had understood

 25         that there was a May 23rd deadline, right?

�0152

 01                     A.   Right.

 02   675               Q.   Did you have any understanding as

 03         to whether that was actually a deadline that

 04         anybody thought was going to be met?

 05                     A.   Sounds like some people thought it

 06         might be met and some people didn't.

 07   676               Q.   Forget about what it sounds like.

 08         Did you know that from what was happening

 09         first-hand while you were involved in all of this?

 10                     A.   I was working under the assumption

 11         that that was the deadline.

 12   677               Q.   And did you understand the

 13         strategy that was being set out here in terms of

 14         how to slow the process down?

 15                     A.   I don't remember it but I can

 16         understand it reading it.  So if I read it, I would

 17         have understood it.  Just typical delay tactics.

 18   678               Q.   And you obviously knew by that

 19         time, having read it, one presumes, that Catalyst

 20         was seriously considering extending past the May

 21         23rd deadline without signing an agreement?

 22                     A.   I don't know if I knew they were

 23         seriously considering it.  I knew -- I would have

 24         known from this that that's something they would

 25         have liked.
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 01   679               Q.   And then if we go to CCG0010040.

 02         Actually, before we go there, can we take a

 03         five-minute break, please.

 04                     -- RECESS AT 2:15 --

 05                     -- UPON RESUMING AT 2:23 --

 06                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 07   680               Q.   So we were just going to look at

 08         CCG0010040.  This again is the day before you leave

 09         for vacation, I think, Mr. Moyse, and Mr. Creighton

 10         is distributing a further draft of the investment

 11         memo that I gather you'll agree with me, again,

 12         this is the product of your work and his work over

 13         the last two or three days in revising and adding

 14         to the memo that was a work in progress?

 15                     A.   I'm sure I had some involvement

 16         but I think -- I think beyond providing, like, a

 17         lot of the charts that went into the draft we

 18         looked at earlier, I don't think I had that much to

 19         do with the memo going forward.

 20   681               Q.   If you look at this one, since it

 21         happens I think to be the last draft that was

 22         circulated before you went on vacation, so if you

 23         look at this particular draft -- well, first of

 24         all, yes, let's look at the draft.  It's at

 25         CCG0010041.
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 01                     And when you say you contributed

 02         largely charts at this point, tell me what charts

 03         you contributed?  Let's go through this and tell me

 04         what charts you remember contributing.

 05                     A.   Sure.  And I can somewhat tell

 06         because I know my aesthetic.

 07   682               Q.   It's like an artist, I guess.

 08                     A.   I can recognize my own work.

 09   683               Q.   There are certain brush strokes we

 10         can identify.  Excel does that.  Go ahead.

 11                     A.   So I think the table on the first

 12         page.

 13   684               Q.   Yes.

 14                     MS. COONEY:  For the record, this is

 15         the second page, page 2.

 16                     THE DEPONENT:  That looks like

 17         something we already had.  I don't think I

 18         contributed to that.

 19                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 20   685               Q.   When you're saying "that," you're

 21         saying the table on page 3?

 22                     A.   Page 3, the one titled "Wind

 23         Capital Structure."  The same with the one on page

 24         4.

 25   686               Q.   This is the waterfall analysis?
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 01                     A.   Correct.

 02   687               Q.   You're saying you didn't

 03         contribute at all to the development of that

 04         waterfall analysis?

 05                     A.   I don't remember.

 06   688               Q.   All right.  I want you to tell me

 07         what you contributed, not only the charts, if

 08         there's anything else you remember contributing,

 09         let me know.

 10                     A.   Sure, I will.  Just individual

 11         sentences I can't remember.

 12   689               Q.   Okay.  So let's keep going.

 13                     A.   I mean, some of this may have come

 14         from the notes I made at the meeting but I couldn't

 15         tell you which.

 16   690               Q.   All right.

 17                     A.   Neither of the two charts on page

 18         7.

 19   691               Q.   Okay.

 20                     A.   In fact, the one on the bottom of

 21         page 7 looks like something provided by Wind.

 22   692               Q.   Okay.

 23                     A.   Bottom of page 8, that's provided

 24         by Wind, that just looks like a graph of a PDF.

 25   693               Q.   All right.
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 01                     A.   I don't know where the one on page

 02         9 came from.  It doesn't look like something I

 03         made.

 04   694               Q.   Okay.

 05                     A.   The one on page 11 looks like

 06         something I made.

 07   695               Q.   All right.  So you contributed

 08         that?

 09                     A.   Yes.  The two on page 12 again I

 10         believe I contributed.

 11   696               Q.   Let's go back to 11 just for a

 12         second, if you don't mind.  There is a note to

 13         draft under that one, "to be updated with

 14         Catalyst/MS operational model and as further

 15         financial information is diligenced."  If that is

 16         an actual word.  Mr. Centa says it isn't, I don't

 17         believe him.

 18                     A.   It's commonly used; whether or not

 19         it's a real word, I don't know.

 20   697               Q.   Would that have been your word?

 21                     A.   I don't think I said that.  That

 22         could have been one of the notes to draft that Zach

 23         mentioned.  Basically this is just historical

 24         information from the data room so...

 25   698               Q.   All right.  And tell me what it is
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 01         that you were looking to update upon receiving

 02         further information, since you're the one who

 03         prepared this particular chart?

 04                     A.   Again, I don't know if that was my

 05         note but my guess would be either more -- well, not

 06         more recent financials, probably including the

 07         projections that management was providing or that

 08         Morgan Stanley was working on.  This is historical

 09         and then we might have wanted to include the

 10         projections, the future forecasting.

 11   699               Q.   All right.  And as you make your

 12         way through, what else?

 13                     A.   These two charts on page 12 I

 14         made.  And this would have again come from data

 15         room information.

 16   700               Q.   Okay.

 17                     A.   Again the two on page 13 also from

 18         the data room and then any information on Bell,

 19         Telus or Rogers would have come from those

 20         companies' financial reports.

 21   701               Q.   All right.

 22                     A.   Same for page 14, same thing on

 23         page 15.

 24   702               Q.   What about the business plan

 25         overview?
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 01                     A.   I don't remember specifically

 02         contributing to that.

 03   703               Q.   On pages 18 and 19, what about the

 04         tables and charts there?

 05                     A.   So this is -- so again, the one on

 06         page 18 at the top, the one that says "Financial

 07         Operational Summary," that I created and it looks

 08         like I made it with -- so the other one was just

 09         historical.  This one I guess is the projections

 10         provided by management.  And the note to draft

 11         again is to include Catalyst and Morgan Stanley's

 12         projections once we had figured those out.

 13   704               Q.   Page 19?

 14                     A.   Again those look like charts I

 15         made.

 16   705               Q.   20 and 21?

 17                     A.   My charts.

 18   706               Q.   I'm starting to identify your

 19         charts too, so I am presuming these are your charts

 20         now.  It doesn't take much to figure out your

 21         handiwork.  Okay.  And then page 22, those look

 22         like they're your charts?

 23                     A.   Yeah.

 24   707               Q.   23 looks like it's your chart?

 25                     A.   It does.  Sorry, 23?  Sorry, I
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 01         didn't look at 23.  I was saying yes to 22.

 02   708               Q.   Yes, 23, is that your chart as

 03         well?

 04                     A.   I don't know.  I don't think so

 05         just because I don't know if I would put that

 06         border line in after -- I'm serious, I don't know

 07         if I would have put that border line in after LTE

 08         upgrade.

 09   709               Q.   Okay.  Do you remember any of this

 10         or is this just going on the basis of how the boxes

 11         look?

 12                     A.   I remember -- like, I remember

 13         that I was making charts but again specifically I

 14         don't remember this.

 15   710               Q.   And what about any of the text

 16         itself on funding requirements, do you remember

 17         having any input at all on building out that

 18         portion of the memo?

 19                     A.   Maybe but I don't remember.

 20         Again, what I do remember is Lorne really wrote

 21         most of the memo.

 22   711               Q.   All right.  And what about the

 23         last -- I guess it's not the last couple of pages,

 24         unfortunately for us.  24?

 25                     A.   24, that looks like a PDF graph of
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 01         financial statements that the company would have

 02         put out.

 03   712               Q.   25 I also presume isn't your

 04         contribution?

 05                     A.   Sorry, go back?

 06   713               Q.   26, sorry.  I apologize, 26.

 07                     A.   No.  So these look like -- these

 08         look like charts from -- I remember seeing a chart

 09         like this for Mobilicity, so these were like from a

 10         template Andrew Yeh had created and I don't think I

 11         worked on this.

 12   714               Q.   All right.  The corporate

 13         structure I presume you took from something that

 14         had been provided to you?

 15                     A.   What page are we on?

 16   715               Q.   29.

 17                     A.   Yeah, it looks like a PDF screen

 18         grab.

 19   716               Q.   All right.  And what about the

 20         auction analysis on page 30?

 21                     A.   No, I didn't create that.  I think

 22         this was probably something Catalyst already had on

 23         hand given it is discussing the 2008 auction

 24         results.

 25   717               Q.   What about the assumptions in
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 01         collateral value and valuation that appear above

 02         that chart?

 03                     A.   Um-hmm.

 04   718               Q.   Was that something that would have

 05         been discussed with you?  In other words, the

 06         assumptions that Catalyst was making?

 07                     A.   It might have been but I don't

 08         remember specifically.  I think a lot of the

 09         assumptions are just based on historical prices

 10         paid for spectrum.

 11   719               Q.   Okay.  And the waterfall analysis

 12         on the asset value, do you remember contributing to

 13         that?

 14                     A.   I don't know if I did at all.

 15         It's related to the discussion that the -- the

 16         email discussion between Zach, Lorne and myself but

 17         I don't think I actually created the waterfall.

 18   720               Q.   And what about the charts we see

 19         on 32 and 33?

 20                     A.   The one at the top of 32 looks

 21         like a Wind screen grab; the one on the bottom of

 22         32 I don't think I made.  I don't know where that

 23         came from.  The one on 33, those are transaction

 24         comparables so I think that's something that

 25         Catalyst had on hand already.
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 01   721               Q.   But the one on 32 at the bottom is

 02         the Wind waterfall analysis as a going concern

 03         value, so that -- there would have been some

 04         assumptions built into that.  That wouldn't be a

 05         screen grab?

 06                     A.   No, I didn't say that one was, I

 07         said the one at the top was.  The one at the bottom

 08         I don't know, I don't remember creating that.

 09   722               Q.   Do you remember ever having a

 10         discussion with Mr. Creighton or anybody else about

 11         how to value it on a going concern?

 12                     A.   Really, no, I don't.  We kind of

 13         just slapped a multiple on management's EBITDA.  I

 14         don't know where they came from that multiple.  But

 15         it could be the comparables on the next page.

 16   723               Q.   And the ones at 34 and 35?

 17                     A.   I don't know where those came from

 18         but they are dated so it's possible Catalyst

 19         already had those on hand.  And a lot of the

 20         material in the memo also came from the existing

 21         kind of industry work that Catalyst had done on

 22         Mobilicity.

 23   724               Q.   Work that you then were able to

 24         take advantage of, I guess, when you became part of

 25         the telecommunications team in March?
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 01                     A.   What do you mean by "take

 02         advantage of"?

 03   725               Q.   Well, you had access to it,

 04         obviously?

 05                     A.   I had access to it before that

 06         too.

 07   726               Q.   And you would have seen it in

 08         March obviously when you formally became part of

 09         the team on the telecommunications, right?

 10                     A.   I don't know.  It wasn't as if it

 11         was Brandon is part of the team, here's some

 12         reading materials to get you up to speed.  No, that

 13         wasn't what happened.

 14   727               Q.   You wouldn't have done that once

 15         you got put on the team?

 16                     A.   I might have, but I also would

 17         have had access to that beforehand.  I don't just

 18         mean that the demarcation was then.

 19   728               Q.   Okay.

 20                     A.   And Zach certainly would have made

 21         us aware that we had a lot of this material already

 22         on hand.  I think he says that in the email.

 23   729               Q.   Okay.  Just continue on and just

 24         try to get to the end of this and let me know what

 25         else you remember contributing specifically?
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 01                     A.   Sure.  Although I did look through

 02         the memo as part of the productions, and I think as

 03         it goes on I think it's more of that stuff that

 04         Catalyst already had on hand.

 05   730               Q.   Okay.  So you don't think that you

 06         would have contributed anything from this point to

 07         the end of the --

 08                     A.   We can take a quick look but I

 09         don't think so.

 10   731               Q.   Let's do it this way.  If you

 11         happen to remember anything else, just let me know?

 12         U/T         MR. CENTA:  We will.

 13                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 14   732               Q.   Now, you resigned your employment

 15         at Catalyst on May 24th, 2014.  Do you remember

 16         that?

 17                     A.   Yes.

 18   733               Q.   And did you know at that time

 19         whether the investment memorandum had been

 20         completed or not?

 21                     A.   I don't think I did.

 22   734               Q.   Okay.  You didn't know one way or

 23         the other?

 24                     A.   I don't think so.  I've seen

 25         productions where there's further drafts that I'm
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 01         not included on but I didn't know that at the time.

 02   735               Q.   And if you turn to CCG0011268.

 03                     A.   Yes.

 04   736               Q.   This is an email I think that was

 05         sent to you when you were on your vacation.  It

 06         talks about attaching the first draft working model

 07         for Project Turbine.  Do you remember receiving

 08         this email when you were on vacation?

 09                     A.   I do.

 10   737               Q.   And do you remember taking a look

 11         at it?

 12                     A.   I do.

 13   738               Q.   And you were asked to provide

 14         comments on it by Mr. Michaud?

 15                     A.   Correct.

 16   739               Q.   And did you do that?

 17                     A.   I think I did give him one or two

 18         comments.

 19   740               Q.   And that's -- if we look to

 20         CCG0011275, this is where we see the comments that

 21         you have provided in response?

 22                     A.   Yes.

 23   741               Q.   And in the LBO tab, is that

 24         leveraged buyout?

 25                     A.   Yes.
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 01   742               Q.   It says:

 02                          "Aren't we buying this debt

 03                     free?  I thought 300 million buys

 04                     out all the vendor financing and the

 05                     shareholder loans go away as

 06                     well..."

 07                     So that was obviously something you

 08         understood by this point in time?

 09                     A.   Well, I wasn't sure because that's

 10         what my understanding was and then Morgan Stanley

 11         put forth this model that was different, so I was

 12         confused.

 13   743               Q.   And how did you have the

 14         understanding that $300 million was going to buy

 15         out all the vendor financing and the shareholder

 16         loans would go away?

 17                     A.   It must have come up in one of the

 18         management meetings that we had with Wind.  I don't

 19         remember exactly.

 20   744               Q.   You think that was something that

 21         was discussed during one of your due diligence

 22         meetings with Wind?

 23                     A.   I do think so.

 24   745               Q.   Okay.  And do you remember who

 25         said it?
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 01                     A.   No.

 02   746               Q.   So then you say:

 03                          "...but the current case is

 04                     keeping them in place and

 05                     subtracting those from EV to

 06                     calculate equity returns."

 07                     So that's what you understood to be the

 08         approach that was being modelled by Morgan Stanley?

 09                     A.   Correct.

 10   747               Q.   And then what's your last comment

 11         a reference to?

 12                     A.   Unless I'm misunderstanding?

 13   748               Q.   Yeah, that comment, what are you

 14         trying to get at?

 15                     A.   I was confused, obviously, because

 16         I thought one thing and Morgan Stanley had modelled

 17         another, so all I said was maybe they should model

 18         it the way I understood it because I thought I was

 19         right but I don't know.

 20   749               Q.   So you were making a suggestion on

 21         how Morgan Stanley should be modelling it?

 22                     A.   Yeah, it might be an easy change

 23         to the model, like 1A, 1B, turn the switch on and

 24         show that.  I was making that suggestion to Zach

 25         and Lorne to confirm that my understanding was
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 01         correct.

 02   750               Q.   And would you have had any

 03         discussions or would you have participated in any

 04         discussions between people at Catalyst and Morgan

 05         Stanley that were facilitating Morgan Stanley's

 06         preparation of the model?

 07                     A.   Prior to going on vacation?

 08         Possibly.  Afterwards I don't think I participated

 09         in any.

 10   751               Q.   When you say possibly, do you

 11         remember any of those discussions?

 12                     A.   Well, I remember there was the

 13         one, so we had a -- I think it was referred to as a

 14         model breakout session, so that might have been it.

 15   752               Q.   Tell me about that one, sorry,

 16         because I missed it.  So tell me about that one?

 17                     A.   Oh, I don't remember it

 18         specifically.  I just thought I had seen an email

 19         that Dylan was arranging a model breakout session.

 20   753               Q.   So you don't remember the details

 21         of any specific meeting you may have had with

 22         people at Morgan Stanley that talk about the

 23         modelling for the transaction?

 24                     A.   No, I think what happened was we

 25         spoke to it, like there was a smaller group of Wind
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 01         people who were like the financial guys who we

 02         talked to and then I think we had a phone call with

 03         Morgan Stanley at some point.

 04   754               Q.   And you were involved in those

 05         discussions?

 06                     A.   That was -- I think so.  I don't

 07         remember.

 08   755               Q.   And just to make sure I've closed

 09         the loop on this, when you said in your April 2nd,

 10         2015 affidavit that on one occasion you looked at a

 11         preliminary model which was not complete and gave

 12         comments to Mr. Michaud, is this the one we're

 13         talking about?

 14                     A.   Yes.

 15   756               Q.   And if you look at the model

 16         itself, which is at CCG0011269, give us one second

 17         here and I'm just going to ask you, take a quick

 18         look at that.

 19                     A.   Yes.

 20   757               Q.   If you can, and then pull up

 21         BM0004653.  And that's a document that you produced

 22         in this litigation.  Would you agree with me it's

 23         the same model?

 24                     A.   Sorry, I don't know if we have the

 25         right --

�0170

 01                     MS. COONEY:  Could we go off the

 02         record?

 03                     -- OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION --

 04                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 05   758               Q.   Can you let me know whether that

 06         same model appears in your productions and whether

 07         in fact it was downloaded by Mr. Moyse via his

 08         DropBox account?

 09         U/T         MR. CENTA:  We will.

 10                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 11   759               Q.   Mr. Moyse, do you recall

 12         downloading that model through DropBox?

 13                     A.   No, but because I was on vacation

 14         I think -- I would have thought I emailed it to

 15         myself.  I do remember downloading it, I just don't

 16         remember how.

 17   760               Q.   You do remember downloading it?

 18                     A.   I would have, yeah.

 19   761               Q.   How would that work if you were

 20         just emailing it to yourself?  Why would you be

 21         just emailing it to yourself?

 22                     A.   Because of the problems with the

 23         Catalyst VPN, so I found it much easier to email

 24         myself a document and work on a local copy on my

 25         computer and email myself back the finished
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 01         product.

 02   762               Q.   And when you went to Asia did you

 03         bring a computer with you?

 04                     A.   I did.

 05   763               Q.   Now bringing up BM004981 which was

 06         one of the documents we just talked about.

 07                     A.   Okay.

 08   764               Q.   All right?  At this point in time,

 09         this is an email chain May 20th/May 21st, so as of

 10         May 20th you've been offered a position with West

 11         Face, right?

 12                     A.   I had a verbal offer, I believe,

 13         yes.

 14   765               Q.   And who informed you that there

 15         was an offer for you?

 16                     A.   It was Tom Dea.

 17   766               Q.   And he reached you on vacation or

 18         emailed you?  What did you do?

 19                     A.   I think he had emailed me or left

 20         a voice mail and then I called him back.

 21   767               Q.   And --

 22                     A.   I think he emailed me.

 23   768               Q.   You think?  Sorry, your last

 24         comment was?

 25                     A.   I do think he emailed me.
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 01   769               Q.   All right.  I don't remember

 02         seeing a copy of that email.  Counsel, do you

 03         remember seeing a copy of an email from Mr. Dea?

 04         U/T         MR. CENTA:  Not off the top of my head

 05         but we can look for it and we will let you know if

 06         we are able to identify the email, if we are able

 07         to identify an email that Mr. Moyse was referring

 08         to.

 09                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 10   770               Q.   And do you remember what the email

 11         said?

 12                     A.   Yeah, it said please call when you

 13         have a minute.

 14   771               Q.   Okay.  And did you subsequently

 15         call him?

 16                     A.   I did.

 17   772               Q.   While on vacation?

 18                     A.   I was on a layover.

 19   773               Q.   All right.  And tell me about the

 20         discussion you had with Mr. Dea?

 21                     A.   I remember he said that they would

 22         like to offer me a position at West Face.  I told

 23         him thanks, that's great news.  I don't know if

 24         there's anything else that we discussed.

 25   774               Q.   Okay.  And at that point you had

�0173

 01         made a decision to accept that offer or were you

 02         awaiting details of the offer?

 03                     A.   I would still have needed a

 04         written offer, so I would like to but I needed to

 05         see details and I needed a contract.

 06   775               Q.   And Mr. Dea presumably would have

 07         in the email told you where to contact him, i.e.

 08         what number to contact him at?

 09                     A.   I don't know.

 10   776               Q.   Do you remember whether you called

 11         Mr. Dea on his cell phone or at his office phone,

 12         do you have any recollection?

 13                     A.   I don't remember.

 14   777               Q.   And then later that day you email

 15         Mr. Creighton and you let him in on the fact that

 16         you were going to be accepting an offer at West

 17         Face.  You may not have identified West Face, I

 18         can't remember if you did or didn't, but you let

 19         him know that you were going to take another job?

 20                     A.   Correct.

 21   778               Q.   And why were you telling

 22         Mr. Creighton?

 23                     A.   The night before I left, while we

 24         were in the office, I let him know that I had been

 25         interviewing with West Face and that it's possible
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 01         they might make me an offer while I was on vacation

 02         and that I might not be coming back to work.

 03   779               Q.   Okay.  Did you tell him

 04         specifically at that time that you were probably

 05         going to be -- not probably, that you were hoping

 06         to get an offer from West Face, did you identify

 07         West Face specifically?

 08                     A.   I believe so.

 09   780               Q.   And what else did you talk to him

 10         about before you left for vacation?

 11                     A.   That's about it.

 12   781               Q.   What did he say?

 13                     A.   I don't remember exactly.  He may

 14         have said that's great, cool.  I don't remember

 15         exactly.  There really wasn't much of a discussion

 16         after that.

 17   782               Q.   I take it he was a friend of

 18         yours?

 19                     A.   We had become friendly as a result

 20         of working very closely together.

 21   783               Q.   And here we see an email from

 22         Mr. Creighton which basically says:

 23                          "Let me know when you tell G by

 24                     the way..."

 25                     Is that Gabriel?
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 01                     A.   Yes.

 02                     Q.   "...since it wouldn't surprise

 03                     me if he just didn't say anything

 04                     about it and acted normal, although

 05                     normal would probably be a really

 06                     bad mood."

 07                     Sounds like some people I know.  And

 08         then you say in response:

 09                          "Makes sense."

 10                     Or sorry, that's not your response,

 11         sorry.  Your response is:

 12                          "Haven't told G yet.  Think I

 13                     might do so on Friday so we can

 14                     discuss ASAP Monday and because I

 15                     don't want any BS first thing Monday

 16                     morning for whatever reason.  Also

 17                     would like to have a written offer

 18                     in hand first."

 19                     Do you see that?

 20                     A.   I do.

 21   784               Q.   And then you say to him:

 22                          "What's the story with Wind?"

 23                     Why are you asking him about Wind on

 24         May 20th?

 25                     A.   I was still curious about what was
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 01         going on with the transaction.

 02   785               Q.   Why?

 03                     A.   Why?

 04   786               Q.   Yeah.

 05                     A.   Because up to that point I was a

 06         member of the Catalyst deal team, I did some work

 07         on it, I was curious what was going on.

 08   787               Q.   What did you want to know from

 09         him?

 10                     A.   Nothing specific, just how's it

 11         going.

 12   788               Q.   Then he says to you:

 13                          "On Wind, Zach said as far as

 14                     he knows the plan is to submit offer

 15                     Friday.  I am continuing to work on

 16                     the memo and Zach asked for more

 17                     diligence questions that we can

 18                     bombard them with.  No real idea

 19                     what's going on or if we're actually

 20                     going to do the deal."

 21                     So that's the information Mr. Creighton

 22         gives to you at that point in time, right?

 23                     A.   Yes.

 24   789               Q.   Were you satisfied with that by

 25         way of an update?
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 01                     A.   I think makes sense is my -- is

 02         that his answer or my answer?  I don't think I

 03         asked him anything else, so I guess I was.

 04   790               Q.   And then if you turn to

 05         CCG0011281, at this point, notwithstanding that you

 06         had been made an offer from West Face that you had

 07         indicated to your friend you were going to

 08         accept --

 09                     A.   Likely or would like to accept.  I

 10         still said I need a written offer.

 11   791               Q.   Okay.  At this point you were

 12         still receiving emails on the modelling for the

 13         transaction, the Wind transaction, right?

 14                     A.   Correct.

 15   792               Q.   And do you recall looking at this?

 16                     A.   I don't.

 17   793               Q.   So what does that mean?  Does that

 18         mean you didn't look at it or does that mean you

 19         just don't recall whether you did?

 20                     A.   I don't recall whether I did but I

 21         also know that I wasn't actively reviewing emails.

 22         I was on vacation at this time.

 23   794               Q.   I just want to understand.  You're

 24         telling me that after you reached out to your

 25         friend and specifically asked him about what was
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 01         going on with Wind you wouldn't have bothered to

 02         check an email about Wind that came through to you?

 03                     A.   That's probably why I asked him,

 04         is because I wasn't bothering to check my emails.

 05   795               Q.   And -- well, you mean you weren't

 06         bothering to check your work emails; is that what

 07         you're saying?

 08                     A.   Yes.

 09   796               Q.   You were obviously bothering to

 10         check your personal emails because you were

 11         responding with Mr. Creighton?

 12                     A.   Right.

 13   797               Q.   And then you say -- let's turn up

 14         BM0004983.  Apparently not satisfied with the

 15         updates you had received, a few days later, this is

 16         May 24th now -- are you back from vacation at this

 17         point?

 18                     A.   No.

 19   798               Q.   When did you come back?

 20                     A.   I returned the morning of --

 21         whatever the Monday morning was following that.

 22                     MR. VERMEERSCH:  The 26th.

 23                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 24   799               Q.   The 26th.  So Mr. Creighton writes

 25         to you and asks, amongst some other things that
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 01         have been redacted -- and, counsel, there's been a

 02         few of these documents we've looked at now.  What

 03         are the redactions, just so I'm clear?

 04                     MS. COONEY:  Could we go off the

 05         record?

 06                     -- OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION --

 07                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 08   800               Q.   So Mr. Creighton is writing to you

 09         and asking you for an update on whether you're

 10         going to be advising anybody at Catalyst that yes,

 11         you had by this point accepted the position at West

 12         Face?

 13                     A.   No, I hadn't actually accepted at

 14         that point, but I made the decision I would give my

 15         notice regardless.

 16   801               Q.   And do you remember the status of

 17         the written offer at that point?

 18                     A.   I think at that point I had

 19         received a draft.  There were, I think -- I know I

 20         had some business questions and then I had some

 21         legal questions, so I'd seen the written offer but

 22         I couldn't yet sign it.

 23   802               Q.   Okay.  Counsel, maybe you can

 24         assist me on this.  Do you remember whether the

 25         written offer has been produced, i.e. the email
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 01         transmitting the written offer while Mr. Moyse was

 02         on vacation?

 03                     MS. COONEY:  There is an email from

 04         Mr. Singh.

 05                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 06   803               Q.   And you then say to him:

 07                          "Going to email Gabriel today

 08                     or tomorrow.  Want to get my 30 days

 09                     started ASAP."

 10                     So clearly at this point you have

 11         decided you are going to give your notice?

 12                     A.   Yes.

 13   804               Q.   And you say you're "not going to

 14         tell him where I am going via email FYI."  And why

 15         was that?

 16                     A.   I didn't think -- I have resigned

 17         from a few jobs and I just keep them as short as

 18         possible.  I think that's the best practice.

 19   805               Q.   You keep what, the resignation

 20         notice?

 21                     A.   Yes.

 22   806               Q.   As short as possible?

 23                     A.   Yes.

 24   807               Q.   But why was it significant for you

 25         to point out to Mr. Creighton that you weren't
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 01         going to tell him where you were going via email?

 02                     A.   I don't know exactly.

 03   808               Q.   Was there a concern on your part

 04         that Catalyst wouldn't approve of the fact that you

 05         were going to West Face?

 06                     A.   Specifically I don't think so.  I

 07         was concerned generally.

 08   809               Q.   About what?

 09                     A.   Going to work for another firm.

 10   810               Q.   Well, what did you think they were

 11         going to think, that you were retiring?

 12                     A.   No, I just didn't -- I would just

 13         have that discussion in person.  I didn't see the

 14         point in having it over email.

 15   811               Q.   And then you ask again:

 16                          "Did we make a Wind bid?"

 17                     At this point in time why did it matter

 18         to you?

 19                     A.   I was still curious.

 20   812               Q.   Why?

 21                     A.   I know that day was the deadline.

 22         I was just curious if they made a Wind bid.

 23   813               Q.   And Mr. Creighton responds to you

 24         basically saying that sent Gabriel an email at

 25         midnight -- sorry, hold on, I'm not following.  He

�0182

 01         basically says:

 02                          "Yes, I think so.  That was

 03                     Dan's email to George asking George

 04                     to send UBS the SPA."

 05                     Right?

 06                     A.   That's what he says, yes.

 07   814               Q.   And that was an email that you had

 08         received?

 09                     A.   I did but I don't remember seeing

 10         it or else I wouldn't have asked Lorne.

 11   815               Q.   And when Lorne pointed out to you

 12         that the offer or the bid that had been made by

 13         Catalyst was essentially the email that had been

 14         sent to you, did you go back and look at it since

 15         you were so curious?

 16                     A.   I don't know.

 17   816               Q.   You don't remember?

 18                     A.   I wasn't really -- I didn't really

 19         care to read the whole SPA, I was just curious

 20         whether or not we made a bid.  So I didn't need to

 21         look at the SPA.  I didn't need to make reference

 22         to that.

 23   817               Q.   Well, why would your curiosity

 24         only extend to whether Catalyst had actually made a

 25         bid and wouldn't extend to what that bid looked
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 01         like?

 02                     A.   I wasn't going to read a 110-page

 03         document.

 04   818               Q.   So are you saying definitively

 05         that you didn't read that at any point in time?

 06                     A.   I did not read the SPA, no.

 07   819               Q.   At any point in time?

 08                     A.   I don't think so.

 09   820               Q.   And there's some further chatter

 10         about what's going to happen when you give your

 11         notice.  If you go to -- so let me ask you these

 12         questions then about some of the productions, I

 13         mean in relation to some things that we just

 14         received.

 15                     First of all, you had previously said

 16         that you used your Hotmail address almost

 17         exclusively, right?

 18                     A.   Correct.

 19   821               Q.   In this period of time?

 20                     A.   Sorry, what do you mean?

 21   822               Q.   That you were using your Hotmail

 22         address as sort of your secondary personal address;

 23         is that right?

 24                     A.   My Hotmail address was my primary

 25         personal email address.
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 01   823               Q.   When I meant secondary, I meant

 02         secondary to your work email and then your personal

 03         email was your Hotmail account.  There was no other

 04         personal --

 05                     A.   I have a Gmail account but I don't

 06         really use it.

 07   824               Q.   And the address was the

 08         BrandonMoyse@hotmail.com address?

 09                     A.   Correct.

 10   825               Q.   And as you said, you also had a

 11         Gmail address which was BMY1987@gmail.com?

 12                     A.   Yes.

 13   826               Q.   So if you look at BM0004938,

 14         that's a situation where you're forwarding

 15         something to your Gmail account on May 7th of 2013.

 16         Do you see that?

 17                     A.   From my Gmail.

 18   827               Q.   Sorry, from your Gmail account to

 19         your Catalyst account.

 20                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Sorry, counsel,

 21         what's the document number?

 22                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  It's 0004938.

 23                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Thank you.

 24                     THE DEPONENT:  Correct.

 25                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:
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 01   828               Q.   And do you know why you were using

 02         your Gmail account at that time?

 03                     A.   I can only speculate.

 04   829               Q.   Well, all right.  What you attach

 05         is a Homberg investment memo, right?

 06                     A.   Yes.  That's not a memo, it's

 07         some --

 08   830               Q.   Something in relation to Homberg?

 09                     A.   Wait, sorry.  I mean, I think I

 10         know why it would have come from my Gmail.

 11   831               Q.   All right, tell me why you think

 12         that's the case?

 13                     A.   Which is that if I read documents

 14         on my iPad, the iPad default email was from the

 15         Gmail, so if I was sending it back to myself it

 16         would have defaulted to come from the Gmail but I

 17         don't know, I really don't know specifically with

 18         this.

 19   832               Q.   Okay.  And back in 2014, as we

 20         reviewed at the outset of this examination, you

 21         swore an affidavit in which you listed all of the

 22         relevant documents in your possession, power and

 23         control at that time, right?

 24                     A.   Yes.

 25   833               Q.   And then on April 8th of this
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 01         year, Mr. Winton of my firm requested that you

 02         search your Hotmail account for further additional

 03         productions?

 04                     A.   Correct.

 05   834               Q.   And you did that?

 06                     A.   Yes.

 07   835               Q.   And then on April 15th your

 08         counsel produced what you've now provided to us as

 09         a sworn second supplemental Affidavit of Documents,

 10         right?

 11                     A.   Right.

 12   836               Q.   And I think there were an

 13         additional 35 documents produced at that time.

 14         There may have been others then produced in May,

 15         but there were 35 produced at that time, and of

 16         those, 26 emails came from your Hotmail account?

 17                     A.   Okay.

 18   837               Q.   Take my word for it.  Or take

 19         Brad's word for it, more precisely.  And of those

 20         26 emails -- those 26 emails hadn't previously been

 21         produced, obviously?

 22                     A.   I guess not.

 23   838               Q.   Okay.  And on May 6th you produced

 24         another tranche of documents, 260 I think, of which

 25         38 were emails from your Hotmail account?
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 01                     A.   Okay.

 02   839               Q.   So can you tell me what was going

 03         on between 2014 when you swore your original

 04         affidavit which you said was complete, and then

 05         your supplemental affidavits this year in which an

 06         additional 70 or 80 documents come from your

 07         Hotmail account?  Can you explain to us what was

 08         happening?

 09                     A.   I think -- I think most of the

 10         additional productions were emails that had

 11         happened subsequent to the initial Affidavit of

 12         Documents.

 13   840               Q.   Okay, but not all of them, as I

 14         understand it?

 15                     A.   Not all of them, that's right.

 16   841               Q.   So what happened?  Why weren't

 17         those ones that predated your original affidavit,

 18         why weren't those included in your original

 19         affidavit?

 20                     A.   So the Hotmail ones would have

 21         been the emails between I think mostly myself and

 22         Lorne Creighton, some with friends about my job

 23         search, I think, what we produced.  And at the time

 24         I don't think we saw relevance in them.

 25   842               Q.   And was that something that was
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 01         being done in conjunction with your previous

 02         counsel?

 03                     A.   Yes.

 04   843               Q.   In other words, you provided them

 05         with everything and then they made the

 06         determination not to include these documents?

 07                     A.   No, I think what they had done was

 08         they had asked me -- they had given me things to

 09         look for.

 10   844               Q.   Parameters basically to search and

 11         you made the determination of what documents to

 12         send to them and what you wouldn't be sending to

 13         them?

 14                     A.   I sent them -- from what I

 15         remember, I sent them everything that were -- fit

 16         their parameters.

 17   845               Q.   But not the 70 or 80 documents

 18         that you have now disclosed?

 19                     A.   Correct.

 20   846               Q.   And between the time that you

 21         swore your first affidavit and your production of

 22         these additional emails from your Hotmail account,

 23         would you have deleted anything from your Hotmail

 24         account?

 25                     A.   It's possible.
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 01   847               Q.   I take it that your counsel never

 02         -- the Hotmail account, just so we all understand,

 03         is an on-line account.  It doesn't reside natively

 04         on your computer, obviously?

 05                     A.   I don't think it does.

 06   848               Q.   Did anybody take steps to preserve

 07         your Hotmail account at any given point in time?

 08                     A.   What do you mean by that?

 09   849               Q.   I.e., make sure that everything

 10         that existed in your Hotmail account, for example,

 11         as of July 2014 was preserved?

 12                     MS. COONEY:  So can I -- I am able to

 13         answer that.  I believe the ISS took an image of

 14         Mr. Moyse's Hotmail account as of July 21st, 2014,

 15         and the Gmail account, and the ISS reviewed all of

 16         those emails as part of its review.

 17                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  So that was imaged as

 18         part of the ISS imaging?

 19                     MR. CENTA:  That was before we were

 20         retained, but yes, I think that's referenced in the

 21         report.

 22                     MS. COONEY:  It is referenced in the

 23         report and the report does review those emails and

 24         reaches the conclusion that it does.

 25                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:
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 01   850               Q.   All right.  And before the ISS

 02         took a look at your Hotmail account on July 24th,

 03         was it, counsel?

 04                     MS. COONEY:  July 21st, 2014.

 05                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  The image was the 21st,

 06         obviously.

 07                     MS. COONEY:  Yes.

 08                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 09   851               Q.   Had anybody taken steps to

 10         preserve your Hotmail account?

 11                     A.   No technical steps that I didn't

 12         delete any relevant emails in that time period.

 13   852               Q.   You don't have any recollection of

 14         either deleting or maintaining any emails in your

 15         Hotmail account at that time?  Do you have an

 16         actual recollection of deleting anything or not

 17         deleting anything?

 18                     A.   Yeah, I routinely delete junk

 19         mail, for example.

 20   853               Q.   How about anything from your

 21         inbox?

 22                     A.   I don't think so.

 23   854               Q.   And do you know?  Can you swear

 24         definitively that you didn't delete anything before

 25         you turned things over to your counsel?
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 01                     A.   I was sure to not delete relevant

 02         emails prior to that.

 03   855               Q.   And how about the Gmail account?

 04                     A.   I rarely used it.  I don't think I

 05         would have touched anything on it.

 06   856               Q.   Was that imaged by the ISS?

 07                     A.   Yes, it was.

 08   857               Q.   And what about the documents that

 09         came from your iPad in the folder, in the Catalyst

 10         folder?

 11                     A.   In the new production?

 12   858               Q.   Yes.

 13                     A.   I can't explain those.  I thought

 14         I had deleted everything and I can't explain why

 15         those exist.

 16   859               Q.   What do you mean you thought you

 17         had deleted everything?

 18                     A.   I thought I had prior to or when I

 19         left Catalyst, I took steps to delete Catalyst's

 20         information from my computer, my iPad, my DropBox.

 21         I can't explain why there is a copy on my iPad.

 22   860               Q.   Well, beyond not being able to

 23         explain why there were copies of those documents

 24         still on your iPad, why was it that they weren't

 25         produced in your original affidavit?

�0192

 01                     MS. COONEY:  We only discovered that

 02         those documents were still on the iPad in response

 03         to a request that counsel made of our forensic

 04         experts and it was in response to that request that

 05         it was discovered that we still had copies of those

 06         documents and they were disclosed once we

 07         discovered them.

 08                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 09   861               Q.   I guess my question goes a bit

 10         beyond that.  When you were originally preparing

 11         the original Affidavit of Documents, and I

 12         understand, counsel, you guys weren't involved in

 13         that, were you not asked to search your devices,

 14         any devices that you may have used as part of

 15         your --

 16                     A.   I did, and those documents were

 17         not on the device.  I can't explain why a forensic

 18         search then found them.

 19   862               Q.   So you're saying the documents

 20         somehow reappeared or were contained in some part

 21         of the device that you didn't search?

 22                     A.   I can't explain.

 23   863               Q.   And in your letter, I think,

 24         counsel, your letter I'm referring to of I believe

 25         it's either the April letter or the May letter, the
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 01         May letter, you talk about potentially reviewing

 02         another source of documents?

 03                     MR. CENTA:  Can I have a look at that?

 04                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Yes, sure.  (Handed).

 05                     MR. CENTA:  Yes, thank you very much.

 06                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 07   864               Q.   What was that other source of

 08         documents that you were reviewing?

 09                     A.   I wasn't reviewing it but I

 10         believe it was an old phone that I had.

 11   865               Q.   Which phone was that?

 12                     A.   It was a Samsung and it broke in

 13         May or June of 2015.

 14   866               Q.   And how long had you been using

 15         the Samsung phone?

 16                     A.   Between -- since I left Catalyst,

 17         so May 26th or 27th, up to that period of time.

 18   867               Q.   So shortly after leaving Catalyst?

 19                     A.   That was the phone that was imaged

 20         by the ISS, I believe.

 21   868               Q.   Let me understand.  So shortly

 22         after leaving Catalyst you got a new phone?

 23                     A.   Correct.

 24   869               Q.   And that's because you had turned

 25         in the BlackBerry that you were using at that time?
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 01                     A.   Correct.

 02   870               Q.   And was that a phone that you

 03         purchased?  Was it a phone that West Face purchased

 04         for you, do you remember?

 05                     A.   I purchased it.

 06   871               Q.   Okay.  And you were using that as

 07         your primary phone?

 08                     A.   After I resigned, yes.

 09   872               Q.   And you had that phone through to

 10         when it -- when it ceased working when?

 11                     A.   I don't remember exactly but I

 12         think it was about May or June of 2015.

 13   873               Q.   May or June of 2015.  And you say

 14         that phone is the one that was imaged by the ISS in

 15         July of 2014?

 16                     A.   Correct.

 17   874               Q.   Okay.  And did you -- was there

 18         anything relevant to these proceedings post July

 19         2014 that was on that device?

 20                     MR. CENTA:  We had the device after it

 21         stopped working in our possession.  We sent it to

 22         the forensic team and that's what's referred to

 23         here, looking to see if there was anything else on

 24         there.  But the phone is broken, could not be

 25         activated, and that's where the inquiry stopped.
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 01                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 02   875               Q.   Okay.  So we can't determine

 03         whether there was anything relevant to these

 04         proceedings on that phone?

 05                     MR. CENTA:  It was imaged by the ISS as

 06         of July 2014.

 07                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 08   876               Q.   Right.  Okay.  But subsequent to

 09         July 2014, if you were using that as your primary

 10         phone we don't have a record of what was on that

 11         phone?

 12                     A.   I guess not.

 13   877               Q.   And I just want to cover off one

 14         other thing in this letter -- can you give me back

 15         that letter in May?  You can keep a copy.

 16                     MR. CENTA:  Thank you.

 17                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 18   878               Q.   In the letter of April 15th, 2016

 19         from your counsel you respond to an inquiry in

 20         relation to production of your cell phone bills.

 21         I'll give you a copy of this.

 22                     MR. CENTA:  Thanks.

 23                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 24   879               Q.   And Mr. Centa gives a response as

 25         to what you did in order to obtain or try to obtain
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 01         detailed records of your cell phone activity over

 02         the last few years.  And the answer, as far as I

 03         can understand it, is that you don't have detailed

 04         cell phone billing copies, hard copies of any

 05         detailed cell phone billing, right?

 06                     A.   I did not have detailed billing

 07         until I think November of 2014.

 08   880               Q.   Okay.

 09                     A.   And I was not able to obtain from

 10         Rogers detailed billing prior to that.

 11   881               Q.   All right.  And when you went -- I

 12         understand it, you tell me if I'm wrong, from your

 13         counsel's letter, that you contacted Rogers in June

 14         of 2014 yourself?

 15                     A.   That's correct.

 16   882               Q.   Okay.  And --

 17                     MS. COONEY:  I believe it's June 2015,

 18         counsel.

 19                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Is that a mistake?

 20                     MS. COONEY:  Sorry, where?

 21                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  I'm looking at the

 22         letter on page 2.

 23                     MS. COONEY:  Yes, that's an error in

 24         the letter.

 25                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  All right, so that's
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 01         2015 and that was when we were first making

 02         requests for phone bills.

 03                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 04   883               Q.   And you spoke to someone at Rogers

 05         who said that detailed billing records were not

 06         available to you because you didn't enroll in

 07         online billing until November of 2014?

 08                     A.   That's what they explained.

 09   884               Q.   Right.  And your counsel further

 10         says:

 11                          "Rogers also advised Mr. Moyse

 12                     that they cannot provide details on

 13                     any incoming calls or any local home

 14                     phone calls without a court order."

 15                     Do you see that?

 16                     A.   I do.

 17   885               Q.   So did the person at Rogers tell

 18         you that you could get more a detailed record than

 19         what was delivered to you but that you would have

 20         to get a court order in order to do that?

 21                     A.   That's what they told me.

 22   886               Q.   Okay.  And when you answered or

 23         when your counsel sent us answers to undertakings

 24         in relation to that, you didn't tell us that you

 25         could have obtained those records but you needed a

�0198

 01         court order; is that fair?

 02                     MS. COONEY:  That's not true.  I

 03         believe our correspondence said that we required a

 04         court order.

 05                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  At that time?

 06                     MS. COONEY:  At that time, I believe in

 07         June of 2015 I believe we advised you we required a

 08         court order.

 09                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Do you have a copy of

 10         that letter, counsel?

 11         U/T         MR. CENTA:  We'll see if we can find it

 12         and send it along.

 13                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Okay, because I just

 14         took a quick look at the answer --

 15                     MR. CENTA:  Yes, we'll try and find it.

 16                     MS. COONEY:  In fairness, it may not be

 17         in the answers to undertaking.  I believe

 18         Mr. Winton made subsequent inquiries of us about

 19         whether or not Mr. Moyse could obtain those records

 20         and Mr. Moyse made further inquiries and we wrote

 21         to you advising it would require a court order.

 22                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Okay.  If you could let

 23         me see that, I would appreciate it.

 24                     THE DEPONENT:  I took down all the

 25         reference numbers and the people I spoke to at
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 01         Rogers.

 02                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 03   887               Q.   And then as part of the recent

 04         disclosure package, you have included what appear

 05         to be text messages between you and Mr. Creighton?

 06                     A.   That's correct.

 07   888               Q.   And those are text messages, they

 08         must be, I guess, from your new cell phone, i.e.

 09         the one you obtained after the Samsung?

 10                     A.   It's still a Samsung, but yes, the

 11         new cell phone.

 12   889               Q.   So we don't have a record of

 13         whatever text messages may have been sent by you or

 14         received by you on the Samsung that is no longer

 15         functioning?

 16                     A.   I guess not.

 17   890               Q.   And when did you collect the text

 18         messages that you've now produced most recently?

 19         When did you first collect those?

 20                     A.   I think a week ago.

 21                     MR. CENTA:  You're referring to

 22         collecting for production?

 23                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  For the purposes of

 24         producing them to us.

 25                     MR. CENTA:  Yes.
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 01                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 02   891               Q.   And is the reason that the

 03         messages only start as of December 2015 because of

 04         this issue with the phone, the changeover of the

 05         phone?

 06                     A.   No, I delete text messages.

 07   892               Q.   And in the various text messages

 08         and other correspondence that you've disclosed to

 09         us, it's apparent to me that you had some kind of

 10         relationship with Mr. Creighton, obviously.

 11                     A.   Yeah, we were friends.

 12   893               Q.   And you continue to be friends?

 13                     A.   Yes.

 14   894               Q.   And you continue to this day to be

 15         friends?

 16                     A.   I hope so.

 17   895               Q.   And there must have been, I'm

 18         going to suggest to you, contact with him between

 19         May 24th, 2014, which is sort of the last email

 20         that we see between you and Mr. Creighton before

 21         you give your notice, and the new text messages

 22         that have been disclosed to us?

 23                     A.   Correct.

 24   896               Q.   So you continued to maintain a

 25         dialogue with him throughout that period of time?
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 01                     A.   Yes.

 02   897               Q.   And is it fair to say that that

 03         would not only have been a dialogue, you would have

 04         also met up with him on occasion?

 05                     A.   Occasionally, but he was pretty

 06         busy.  We didn't meet very often.

 07   898               Q.   Do you recall order of magnitude

 08         how many times you would have met with

 09         Mr. Creighton?

 10                     A.   I would say over the last two

 11         years fewer than 10.

 12   899               Q.   Okay.  And is it also fair to say,

 13         given that you're a guy who is pretty curious and

 14         you seem to have a fairly open dialogue with

 15         Mr. Creighton about a lot of things that most

 16         people would consider internal workings at a given

 17         firm, is it fair to say that you would have asked

 18         him what he was doing from time to time?

 19                     A.   I might have asked if he was busy

 20         and how things are going but I don't think I ever

 21         really asked him about specific deals or even

 22         industries he was working on.

 23   900               Q.   So notwithstanding that you would

 24         have chatted with him as a friend and met up with

 25         him on less than 10 occasions, you wouldn't have
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 01         bothered to ask him what he was working on?

 02                     A.   Our conversations about Catalyst

 03         were more about the culture and environment, not

 04         really about what he was working on.

 05   901               Q.   Well, were you aware that he was

 06         working on Wind subsequent to your departing?

 07                     A.   I don't know.  I may have assumed

 08         that but I don't know that, have confirmation of

 09         that.

 10   902               Q.   Well, I don't want you to assume.

 11         I'm asking you whether, as a friend of

 12         Mr. Creighton, you would have had any discussions

 13         with him either via text or in meetings about what

 14         he was doing on Wind?

 15                     A.   I don't remember having

 16         conversations about Wind with Lorne after I left.

 17   903               Q.   Did he tell you anything about --

 18         well, I guess you don't recall so you can't tell me

 19         one way or the other whether he would have told you

 20         anything about the fact that Wind was on the table

 21         again or they were involved in a potential Wind

 22         transaction again?

 23                     A.   I don't think he would have but I

 24         can't remember.

 25   904               Q.   You can't say one way or the
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 01         other?

 02                     A.   Well, I don't remember it being

 03         discussed so it's very possible he didn't say that.

 04   905               Q.   Did he ever ask you what you were

 05         doing at West Face?

 06                     A.   No.  Other than how it is.

 07   906               Q.   When you interviewed at Wind, just

 08         coming to the end, Mr. Moyse --

 09                     A.   West Face.

 10   907               Q.   Sorry, West Face.  When you

 11         interviewed at West Face, who did you meet with in

 12         your interview process?

 13                     A.   I had a few meetings there.

 14   908               Q.   Tell me about those.

 15                     A.   I met -- the initial meeting was

 16         with Tom Dea in March of 2014.

 17   909               Q.   That was the coffee meeting?

 18                     A.   Correct.

 19   910               Q.   Yes.

 20                     A.   Then I think there was a meeting

 21         with -- I think it was one-on-one, so it was four

 22         different meetings in the same day with Tom, Peter

 23         Fraser, Tony Griffin and Yu-Jia Zhu.

 24   911               Q.   And do you remember anything about

 25         those various interviews?
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 01                     A.   Yeah, I remember we spoke about

 02         why I wanted to leave, what I wanted to do.  We

 03         talked about generally how West Face approaches

 04         investments, and in the case of my interview with

 05         Mr. Zhu, he did ask me to walk through how I might

 06         think about a hypothetical investment.

 07   912               Q.   And did you speak to any of these

 08         people about the work you were doing at Catalyst at

 09         the time?

 10                     A.   No, I think I mentioned I was

 11         travelling a lot but not specifics.

 12   913               Q.   Did you ever tell them you were

 13         involved in Wind?

 14                     A.   No.

 15   914               Q.   In the email that's at WFC0108593,

 16         this is the email we've all seen before from you to

 17         Mr. Dea on March 27th?

 18                     A.   Correct.

 19   915               Q.   You say -- and this happens to be

 20         on the same day that, you'll recall, you're in the

 21         midst of preparing that presentation to Industry

 22         Canada.  Do you remember that?

 23                     A.   I think this was after that

 24         because I sent it in the late night.

 25   916               Q.   Yeah.  So it was in the midst of

�0205

 01         your preparing that presentation to Industry

 02         Canada?

 03                     A.   I remember the presentation

 04         lasting a day and it was done after I went home.

 05   917               Q.   Right.  I'm not suggesting that

 06         you were doing it as you were typing this email.

 07         I'm saying it was around the time that you were

 08         preparing that presentation?

 09                     A.   I agree with that.

 10   918               Q.   And you say to Mr. Dea in this

 11         email that:

 12                          "[You] kept the deal sheet to

 13                     one page limited to the two deals

 14                     I've done from beginning to end and

 15                     which are closing shortly."

 16                     And then you say:

 17                          "(I am working on a third live

 18                     deal at the moment which is not in

 19                     my CV at all)."

 20                     Is the third live deal you're referring

 21         to the Wind transaction?

 22                     A.   It probably is.

 23   919               Q.   So you considered at the time,

 24         March 27th, 2014, that you were working on a live

 25         deal for Wind?
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 01                     A.   Oh, sorry.  No, no, sorry.  I was

 02         getting mixed up with the dates.

 03   920               Q.   So what is that third live deal

 04         then?

 05                     A.   I actually have no idea.

 06   921               Q.   Can you run through in your mind

 07         what you were working on in March of 2014?

 08                     A.   I have no idea.

 09   922               Q.   And you're sure it's not Wind

 10         you're referring to?

 11                     A.   I'm a hundred percent sure because

 12         I hadn't done any work on Wind.

 13   923               Q.   And when you were going to tell

 14         the people at Catalyst about the fact that you'd

 15         received an offer from West Face, do you remember

 16         telling your friend and former colleague Mr. Yeh

 17         that you would probably send Gabriel an email on

 18         May 17th but that you were considering telling him

 19         in person to see his reaction?

 20                     A.   Correct.

 21   924               Q.   And what was that, you wanted to

 22         see him get angry?

 23                     A.   No, I just wanted to be able to

 24         gauge how that discussion might go.

 25   925               Q.   You asked:
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 01                          "Do you think more pissed via

 02                     email or in person?  That's the only

 03                     reason why I want to tell him in

 04                     person to see the reaction before he

 05                     has a chance to cool down."

 06                     A.   I thought he might be upset but I

 07         was hoping that maybe doing it in person might

 08         minimize that.

 09   926               Q.   So I must be completely misreading

 10         this email because it seems to me you're saying the

 11         only reason you want to tell him in person is

 12         because you want to see him get mad?

 13                     A.   Can I see the email?

 14   927               Q.   Yes, this is at BM0004978.  I

 15         think it is, anyway.

 16                     A.   I don't think I want him to be

 17         mad.

 18   928               Q.   No, you wanted to see his

 19         reaction?

 20                     A.   Yeah, because I wanted to be able

 21         to gauge his reaction.

 22   929               Q.   What's the point in gauging his

 23         reaction?  You can send him an email and then you

 24         don't have to gauge any reaction.  Isn't the point

 25         here quite simply, Mr. Moyse, that you wanted to
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 01         see him get pissed off at you?

 02                     A.   No.

 03   930               Q.   So why would you say I want to see

 04         the reaction before he has a chance to cool down?

 05                     A.   I want to see his honest reaction

 06         to what I was doing.

 07   931               Q.   Which you thought was going to be

 08         anger because you wanted to see it before he had a

 09         chance to cool down, i.e. you didn't want to send

 10         him an email, have him get mad over email and then

 11         only come into the office after he'd had a chance

 12         to cool down.  That's the whole point.

 13                     A.   I wanted to be able to assess how

 14         to discuss the conversation, how angry he got

 15         before he had a chance to say --

 16   932               Q.   What would you want to assess his

 17         reaction for?  I don't get it.

 18                     A.   I just wanted to know what the

 19         reaction was.

 20   933               Q.   So you're not prepared to admit

 21         that the reason you wanted to tell him in person

 22         that you were going to West Face is because you

 23         wanted to see the reaction of him getting pissed?

 24                     A.   I knew it would be a serious

 25         conversation and I just wanted to know what his
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 01         reaction would be so I can appropriately adjust the

 02         tone of that conversation.

 03   934               Q.   All right.  And your friend

 04         says -- your friend seems to get it because he

 05         says:

 06                          "He will think you were playing

 07                     him this whole time and had the

 08                     offer but just waited until you were

 09                     on vacation to tell him."

 10                     And then you say:

 11                          "He hates being played."

 12                     Do you see that?

 13                     A.   I do.

 14   935               Q.   And when you were meeting with Mr.

 15         Dea in the interview process, you told Mr. Dea that

 16         Catalyst was not a pleasant work environment?

 17                     A.   Correct.

 18   936               Q.   And you told him that

 19         vice-presidents would only last one to one and a

 20         half years there?

 21                     A.   No, I think I said that about

 22         analysts and associates and that seems too short.

 23         I think the average is really two and I don't think

 24         I said one to one and a half.

 25   937               Q.   Did you tell him that you were
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 01         subject to verbal abuse or threats?

 02                     A.   I don't remember if I said that

 03         specifically but it...

 04   938               Q.   Did you tell him that there were

 05         incidents of chair throwing?

 06                     A.   I think I did.

 07   939               Q.   Did you tell him that there were

 08         open arguments and fights in the office?

 09                     A.   It's possible but I don't remember

 10         that specifically.

 11   940               Q.   And these are all things you were

 12         telling Mr. Dea in your first interview with him?

 13                     A.   It went to one of the reasons I

 14         wanted to leave.  It wasn't the main reason but one

 15         of them.

 16   941               Q.   And at WFC0109175 we see an

 17         internal email from Mr. Dea.  This is around the

 18         time when you're now -- or they're deciding, I

 19         guess, to make an offer to you, and you see the

 20         email at 10:19 a.m. where Mr. Dea says:

 21                          "By the way, Catalyst is a

 22                     nightmare to work at.  No one VP now

 23                     lasts more than 1.5-1 year."

 24                     A.   That might have been a typo.

 25         Maybe it's 1.5 to 2 years.
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 01                     Q.   "Chair throwing, verbal abuse,

 02                     I'll kill you, open

 03                     arguments/fights.  In other words

 04                     kind of like West Face Capital."

 05                     I am assuming that that would have been

 06         information that came to Mr. Dea from you; is that

 07         fair?

 08                     A.   That's his characterization

 09         because I don't think I've ever heard "I'll kill

 10         you" so I don't know what else --

 11   942               Q.   That's not something you would

 12         have told him?

 13                     A.   No.

 14   943               Q.   Then on --

 15                     MR. CENTA:  Mr. DiPucchio, just by way

 16         of reference, in the introductory part of Mr. Dea's

 17         email he is reporting on having received favourable

 18         references from Mr. Moyse from Credit Suisse and a

 19         former colleague at Catalyst, now at Och-Ziff, so

 20         there is another source that Mr. Dea is referring

 21         to in that email who had been at Catalyst who could

 22         have been the source of some of that.

 23                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  No, fair enough, it may

 24         well have been.  I'm asking whether Mr. Moyse would

 25         have told him those things as well.

�0212

 01                     MR. CENTA:  Thank you.

 02                     THE DEPONENT:  I think I might have

 03         mentioned the chair.

 04                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 05   944               Q.   Okay.  And then if you turn up

 06         BM0004979, you see an email chain again with

 07         Mr. Creighton on the 16th of May speaking to the

 08         fact that you got an offer from West Face, that you

 09         were likely going to send an email to Gabriel over

 10         the weekend, which I take it you obviously didn't

 11         do at that time, right?

 12                     A.   Correct.

 13   945               Q.   And then you say you spoke to Zach

 14         and will probably hold off until you get back.

 15                     So you had a conversation with Zach

 16         Michaud on May 16th?

 17                     A.   I did.

 18   946               Q.   Do you recall what was discussed?

 19                     A.   I called him.  I let him know that

 20         I had received an offer from West Face.  He

 21         mentioned -- either he mentioned or I knew but

 22         essentially he offered to put me in touch with a

 23         friend of his who had previously worked at West

 24         Face.  That was really the bulk of the

 25         conversation.
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 01   947               Q.   Did you tell him not to tell

 02         anybody else that you had received an offer from

 03         West Face?

 04                     A.   I don't know if I told him that.

 05   948               Q.   And is the person that Mr. Michaud

 06         connected you with a person by the name of Kuldip?

 07                     A.   Correct.

 08   949               Q.   And you spoke to that person?

 09                     A.   I did.

 10   950               Q.   Can you turn up WFC0003553.

 11                     MS. COONEY:  Are you sure?

 12                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  WFC0003553.  Is

 13         anything coming up for you?

 14                     MS. COONEY:  It is, but it seems to

 15         be...

 16                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  A series of links.

 17                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  I was just going to

 18         ask, does anybody know what this is.

 19                     MR. VERMEERSCH:  And the reason,

 20         counsel, is just because it says here "Mailbox:

 21         Brandon Moyse."  Presumably this is coming out of

 22         Mr. Moyse's email inbox.

 23                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Can one of you folks

 24         look into it and just let me know what it is?

 25                     MR. CENTA:  I don't think that's one of
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 01         our productions.

 02                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 03   951               Q.   All right.  Mr. Moyse, when did

 04         you first come to learn that West Face had closed

 05         the deal to purchase Wind?

 06                     A.   Closed the deal?

 07   952               Q.   Yeah, closed the deal.

 08                     A.   I found out on Twitter.  I

 09         actually remember I just landed from a trip and I

 10         saw it on Twitter.

 11   953               Q.   Okay.  And then did you have

 12         discussions with anybody about that?

 13                     A.   I certainly discussed it with

 14         people.

 15   954               Q.   People at West Face?

 16                     A.   Oh, no, no.

 17   955               Q.   Who did you discuss it with?

 18                     A.   Friends, my dad, fiancee.

 19   956               Q.   And what were you saying to them?

 20                     A.   I wasn't really saying much of

 21         anything, just this seemed like an incredible

 22         coincidence when I saw it.

 23   957               Q.   What was the coincidence?

 24                     A.   That the firm I went to, I mean

 25         that firm I went to bought a company that my old
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 01         firm tried to -- had been a bidder for.

 02   958               Q.   I'm sure you didn't think it was a

 03         coincidence at that point.  I'm sure you must have

 04         known by that point in time that there was an

 05         overlapping interest?

 06                     A.   I didn't realize how serious it

 07         was.

 08   959               Q.   You didn't realize how serious the

 09         interest was that West Face had in Wind?

 10                     A.   All I knew is they put up a

 11         confidentiality wall and I didn't know anything

 12         else.

 13   960               Q.   What happened before the

 14         confidentiality wall was put up?  Did you not have

 15         any idea that Wind was something that West Face was

 16         interested in?

 17                     A.   No, Gabriel had mentioned to me

 18         when I left but I don't -- I didn't necessarily

 19         believe him at the time.

 20   961               Q.   Well, you were there for two weeks

 21         at West Face, were you not?

 22                     A.   I was.

 23   962               Q.   And nobody asked you --

 24                     A.   I think I was there three weeks.

 25   963               Q.   Three weeks, sorry.  You didn't
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 01         have any conversation with anybody about this

 02         transaction that you were acutely interested in?

 03                     A.   Never.

 04   964               Q.   You didn't have one conversation?

 05                     A.   No.

 06   965               Q.   Okay.  And you had no knowledge

 07         that West Face was even interested in Wind until a

 08         wall was established, at which point you must have

 09         understood that something was going on; is that

 10         what you're telling us?

 11                     A.   I understood they might have an

 12         interest and I don't really know, I don't know if

 13         they were just being cautious, taking precautionary

 14         measures but I did suspect it at that point.

 15   966               Q.   Okay.  What I'm trying to get at

 16         is you only came to the understanding as a result

 17         of receiving a communication saying that a wall was

 18         being set up?

 19                     A.   That's right.

 20   967               Q.   You had no knowledge of it prior

 21         to that fact?

 22                     A.   No.

 23   968               Q.   And why were you sending the

 24         article to your father?  I think you have produced

 25         something that indicates that you were sending it
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 01         to your father.

 02                     A.   My dad takes an interest in my

 03         work and he would -- I just wanted to let him know

 04         that the firm I had moved to closed this big deal.

 05   969               Q.   Did you do that in relation to any

 06         other transaction?

 07                     A.   I certainly let him know.

 08   970               Q.   About other transactions, you

 09         would have sent along random news stories about

 10         transactions that had closed?

 11                     A.   I send my dad, yeah, random

 12         emails.

 13   971               Q.   And can you turn up BM0004989.

 14                     A.   Okay.

 15   972               Q.   So this is September 16th, 2014,

 16         someone, Ben Matlin, is emailing you.  Who is that?

 17                     A.   He is a friend of mine who lives

 18         in Montreal.

 19   973               Q.   And he's emailing you about this

 20         Wind transaction?

 21                     A.   Yeah, I guess he had seen it.

 22   974               Q.   And by this time obviously you

 23         were aware of it, right?

 24                     A.   Yes.

 25   975               Q.   And you say:
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 01                          "I think they're just backing

 02                     them financially.  My guess is they

 03                     are lenders to the new company and

 04                     maybe have some equity or warrants."

 05                     How did you come to that view?

 06                     A.   Just a total guess.

 07   976               Q.   Why would you even be guessing?

 08                     A.   I don't know.

 09   977               Q.   But why would you take that guess

 10         specifically?

 11                     A.   Because he said they need more

 12         people, so my response was they don't need more

 13         people because I assume they're just backing them

 14         financially and not getting deeply involved in the

 15         company.

 16   978               Q.   But why would you even form that

 17         view?

 18                     A.   Just -- I mean, I had no basis for

 19         it.

 20   979               Q.   Why wouldn't you think they were

 21         just -- why would you think that they would just be

 22         lenders as opposed to --

 23                     A.   I must have read something in an

 24         article that made me think that.  I don't know.

 25   980               Q.   That wasn't as a result of any
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 01         discussions you had had at one point?

 02                     A.   No.  I think from what I have read

 03         since that this is wrong but --

 04   981               Q.   I understand it is wrong, but what

 05         I'm asking you is would that have been as a result

 06         of any discussions you had at a specific point in

 07         time?

 08                     A.   No, I think it's really just a bad

 09         guess from what I read in the papers.

 10   982               Q.   And can you point me to something

 11         you may have read in the papers that would refer to

 12         them as being just simply financial backers?  Or

 13         lenders?

 14                     A.   I don't know.  Right now?

 15   983               Q.   Well, if you can point me to

 16         anything that you say would have led to this view

 17         on your part that they were just simply financial

 18         backers.

 19                     A.   I'm not sure where I formed this

 20         view because it's so, what I understand to be, very

 21         wrong.

 22   984               Q.   Well, that's what I'm trying to

 23         understand.

 24                     A.   I don't understand it.

 25   985               Q.   And if you go to CCG00028632.
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 01                     MR. VERMEERSCH:  It might be only two

 02         zeroes, counsel.

 03                     MS. COONEY:  Got it.

 04                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  0028632, yes.

 05                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 06   986               Q.   Here you're now forwarding a story

 07         from the Globe and Mail to Mr. Creighton, it looks

 08         like.

 09                     A.   Um-hmm.

 10   987               Q.   With the caption:

 11                          "Oh man."

 12                     A.   Right.

 13   988               Q.   Why are you sending that with that

 14         caption?

 15                     A.   Because I thought it might

 16         complicate things between Catalyst, West Face and

 17         myself because it was such a ridiculous

 18         coincidence.  It's just like I was completely

 19         amazed when I read this news.

 20   989               Q.   And then Mr. Creighton says:

 21                          "Haha, yeah, probably not the

 22                     best for you."

 23                     Why would he say it's probably not the

 24         best for you?

 25                     MR. CENTA:  I'm not sure how --
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 01                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 02   990               Q.   Well, does he have any

 03         understanding?

 04                     A.   I can't really speculate but...

 05   991               Q.   Do you have any information,

 06         belief, anything?

 07                     A.   My belief is that Catalyst would

 08         try and take advantage of that news.

 09   992               Q.   And if you go to BM0005095, here

 10         again on November 24th, 2014 you are sending a news

 11         link to Mr. Creighton on a story about Catalyst

 12         prepared to back Mobilicity spectrum bid.  Do you

 13         see that?

 14                     A.   I do.

 15   993               Q.   Why were you sending that to

 16         Mr. Creighton at this time?

 17                     A.   Because I read it in the news and

 18         Lorne works at Catalyst.  I send other friends

 19         articles that --

 20   994               Q.   Well, did you need to keep Lorne

 21         advised as to what was going on in his own

 22         workplace?

 23                     A.   I do that with other friends too.

 24         I just send them articles.

 25   995               Q.   Well, is it fair to say you would
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 01         have had some conversations with Mr. Creighton

 02         about this?

 03                     A.   No, I don't think we did.

 04   996               Q.   You just were emailing random

 05         stories about Catalyst being -- Catalyst being

 06         prepared to back a Mobilicity spectrum bid?

 07                     A.   That's right.

 08   997               Q.   And if you go to BM005097.

 09                     A.   Okay.

 10   998               Q.   This is a bit of a discussion with

 11         Mr. Yeh about Callidus and certain allegations that

 12         were being made in the litigation vis-a-vis

 13         Callidus.  And you were talking about this with

 14         Mr. Yeh at that time?

 15                     A.   Yes.

 16   999               Q.   And what were you -- what was the

 17         context for this discussion?

 18                     A.   Context?

 19  1000               Q.   Yeah.  Why were you having a

 20         discussion with Mr. Yeh generally about what was

 21         happening in the litigation?

 22                     A.   We are also friends, we both

 23         worked at Catalyst together.

 24  1001               Q.   All right.  And up top there is an

 25         email from you that says:

�0223

 01                          "Not right now."

 02                     This is in relation to his talking

 03         about you possibly finding a job with a fund in LA?

 04                     A.   Um-hmm.

 05                     Q.   "I have started to think about

 06                     contingency plans but West Face has

 07                     been supportive financially and by

 08                     not cutting me loose."

 09                     What did you mean by that?  How was

 10         West Face being supportive of you financially?

 11                     A.   Well, they continued to pay my

 12         salary even though I wasn't working there.  And

 13         they paid some of my legal bills.

 14  1002               Q.   Okay.  And was there an agreement

 15         between you and West Face to that effect?

 16                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Hold on.  What's the

 17         relevance of this?

 18                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  What, whether there was

 19         an indemnification agreement and the terms of that.

 20                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Yes.

 21                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  I say it's always

 22         relevant to credibility.

 23         U/A         MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Take it under

 24         advisement.

 25                     MR. CENTA:  This has already been
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 01         addressed in a prior cross-examination.

 02                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Sorry, what was your

 03         position, counsel?

 04         U/A         MR. CENTA:  That's all I remember.

 05         We'll take it under advisement.

 06                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  That's not very

 07         helpful.

 08                     MS. COONEY:  We provided it in an

 09         answer to an undertaking and we can point you to

 10         that answer to undertaking.

 11                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Sorry, I'm getting slow

 12         as the day goes on.

 13                     MS. COONEY:  We'll get back to you.

 14                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Thanks.  It's actually

 15         helpful that Mr. Milne-Smith jumps in and makes

 16         objections to a request that I am making on the

 17         record in an examination of your client.

 18                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Well, if you are

 19         making a request about an agreement that involves

 20         my client, I think I'm more than entitled to jump

 21         in.

 22                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 23  1003               Q.   So let's go to BM0005122.

 24                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Go off the record.

 25                     -- OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION --
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 01                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 02  1004               Q.   This is an email chain, again it

 03         looks like you're getting Google Alerts on

 04         Catalyst; is that fair?

 05                     A.   Yeah, those were set up before I

 06         even left.  I just -- I never changed them.

 07  1005               Q.   And then you email this Google

 08         alert to Lorne Creighton again on June 24th, 2015?

 09                     A.   Sorry, maybe we don't have the

 10         right document.

 11                     MS. COONEY:  Are you at 5122?

 12                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  Sorry, I'm at 5109.

 13         That's my mistake.  Sorry, I'm on the wrong one.

 14         Sorry about that.

 15                     MR. MILNE-SMITH:  Which is the correct

 16         document we should be at?

 17                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  The correct document is

 18         5122.

 19                     MS. COONEY:  Sorry.

 20                     MR. CENTA:  We're now at 5122.

 21                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 22  1006               Q.   All right.  5122 is another story

 23         that you're forwarding, it looks, to Mr. Creighton.

 24         And then I'm interested in the email up top from

 25         you at 9:52 a.m. where you say:
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 01                          "If West Face isn't in Callidus

 02                     anymore..."

 03                     Do you see that?

 04                     A.   I do.

 05  1007               Q.   And did you come to learn about

 06         West Face having some kind of position in Callidus?

 07                     A.   Through the court filings.

 08  1008               Q.   And is that all you knew?

 09                     A.   Yeah.

 10  1009               Q.   What was published in the court

 11         filings?

 12                     A.   That's all.

 13  1010               Q.   And I guess, to close off the loop

 14         on one other thing that I wasn't able to find an

 15         answer to, is do you recall, Mr. Moyse, when you

 16         initially met with Mr. Dea for coffee when he was

 17         initially interviewing you, there was a follow-up

 18         email from Mr. Dea in which he asked you a question

 19         about Callidus.  Do you remember that?

 20                     A.   I do.

 21  1011               Q.   What I wanted to ask you is, and I

 22         think I did ask you this previously, in fairness,

 23         and I think you said you remember responding to

 24         that?

 25                     A.   Yes.
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 01  1012               Q.   And I imagine given that you were

 02         interviewing with the man and you were hoping to

 03         get a job that it would not have been a smart idea

 04         not to respond to him or not to in any way

 05         acknowledge the email, right?

 06                     A.   I agree that probably would have

 07         been the case.

 08  1013               Q.   And I'm not going to ask you to

 09         repeat your evidence as to what your recollection

 10         was of the answer you gave.  My only question is, I

 11         haven't seen a copy of the email that you sent in

 12         response either in your production or, frankly, in

 13         West Face's production.  Have you made a search for

 14         that email, counsel?

 15                     MS. COONEY:  I believe that was asked

 16         at Mr. Moyse's previous cross-examination and

 17         Mr. Moyse made efforts to find that email and

 18         wasn't able to.  I think that was answered by way

 19         of answer to undertaking or under advisement.

 20                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  And obviously we

 21         haven't seen it in the West Face productions

 22         either.

 23                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 24  1014               Q.   So let's turn to the final matter

 25         I want to address with you, which is the phone
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 01         records that were recently produced to us by West

 02         Face.  I just want to get your take on these,

 03         Mr. Moyse, so if you look at, I'll give you the

 04         number in a second, WFC0109530.

 05                     The first call that is recorded there

 06         occurs on May 22nd and it indicates you had a

 07         telephone conversation with someone at West Face

 08         for 11 minutes and 26 seconds.  Do you have any

 09         recollection as to who you would have been speaking

 10         to at West Face on May 22nd?

 11                     A.   I think the only people I was

 12         speaking to at that time were Tom Dea and Alex

 13         Singh.

 14  1015               Q.   And do you recall the nature of

 15         any conversation you may have had with Mr. Dea or

 16         Mr. Singh on May 22nd?

 17                     A.   With Mr. Singh it would have been

 18         around certain legal parts of the agreement; with

 19         Mr. Dea it would have been with respect to business

 20         parts of the employment agreement.  So salary,

 21         position, that kind of stuff.

 22  1016               Q.   So are you telling me that you

 23         don't remember specifically who you would have

 24         spoken to on May 22nd?  It would have been either

 25         of Mr. Dea or Mr. Singh, correct?
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 01                     A.   That's correct.

 02  1017               Q.   And you're saying in both cases

 03         you would have been talking about the employment

 04         agreement itself?

 05                     A.   Yes.  Because this is -- is this

 06         Eastern time?

 07  1018               Q.   I can only assume.

 08                     A.   Because that's 3 in the morning

 09         where I was, so I do remember speaking about that

 10         time to both Alex and Tom, but there's two calls at

 11         about that same time.

 12  1019               Q.   At 3 in the morning?

 13                     A.   Yeah, my time.

 14  1020               Q.   And May 23rd there is another call

 15         recorded, this time with Tom Dea, for 16 minutes

 16         and 10 seconds.  So are you guessing that probably

 17         the May 22nd call was the one with Mr. Singh?

 18                     A.   It probably was.

 19  1021               Q.   And then the May 23rd call is the

 20         one with Mr. Dea?

 21                     A.   Definitely that one.

 22  1022               Q.   And was anything discussed beyond

 23         the terms of your employment contract?

 24                     A.   No, not that I remember.

 25  1023               Q.   And what was it that you were
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 01         raising as a concern in relation to your employment

 02         contract with Mr. Dea?

 03                     A.   Title and compensation.

 04  1024               Q.   And on June 9th, which is the next

 05         call that's recorded, you were contacted by someone

 06         at West Face.  Do you remember what that was about?

 07                     A.   I don't.

 08  1025               Q.   June 19th, there is a call from

 09         you to Supriya Kapoor.  Do you remember what that

 10         conversation was about?

 11                     A.   I don't but I think that was the

 12         same day the wall went up, so maybe it was in

 13         relation to that but I don't know for sure.

 14  1026               Q.   Okay.  On July 8th and 15th there

 15         are what look to be very short calls to your cell

 16         phone.  Do you remember what the nature of those

 17         calls were?

 18                     A.   No.

 19  1027               Q.   Do you remember whether you

 20         returned any calls at that time?

 21                     A.   I don't.

 22  1028               Q.   On August 8th there is a call with

 23         Alison Campbell.  Do you recall that call?

 24                     A.   I do.

 25  1029               Q.   What was that about?
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 01                     A.   I don't know if it was this call

 02         specifically because I think it's 26 seconds but I

 03         know we did talk about HR matters, so I think at

 04         this point we're trying to figure out how to get me

 05         paid in accordance with the agreement, and I

 06         probably wanted to know about health benefits.  I

 07         don't know if that was all covered in this call but

 08         certainly that was something we would have talked

 09         about.

 10  1030               Q.   Alison Campbell, I take it from

 11         your answer, was somebody in the HR department?

 12                     A.   Correct.

 13  1031               Q.   And on August 15th you make

 14         another call to Supriya Kapoor.  Do you remember

 15         what that was about?

 16                     A.   I don't.

 17  1032               Q.   November 25th, 2014 there is a

 18         call recorded from West Face to you.  Do you

 19         remember the nature of that call?

 20                     A.   I don't but at that time I was

 21         putting in a few -- I still had to go through

 22         compliance to trade securities, so it could have

 23         been in relation to that.  At that time I was

 24         making a few trades.

 25  1033               Q.   Okay.  On February 10th of 2015
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 01         there is another call to Supriya Kapoor.  Do you

 02         remember that conversation?

 03                     A.   Not specifically but I think it

 04         was -- I think in early 2015 she needed -- she was

 05         asking for records from my securities accounts, so

 06         it's possible that's what this call covered.

 07  1034               Q.   All right.  And then on September

 08         2nd, 2015 there was a call from you to Phil Panet.

 09         Did you speak to him?

 10                     A.   I don't know but all that was was

 11         I was going up to their office to return or to

 12         retrieve items from my desk as I had tendered my

 13         resignation prior to that.

 14  1035               Q.   And you resigned from West Face;

 15         is that what happened?

 16                     A.   That's correct.

 17  1036               Q.   And that was in relation to your

 18         acceptance of a position at your current employer?

 19                     A.   No.

 20  1037               Q.   Okay.  Why were you resigning from

 21         West Face on September 2nd, 2015?

 22                     A.   I mean, it was made clear that I

 23         probably wouldn't be able to go back to work there,

 24         so we came to an agreement where I could leave.  Or

 25         I could resign.
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 01  1038               Q.   Can you tell me what was the

 02         conversation that led you to believe that you

 03         weren't going to go back to work at West Face?

 04                     A.   I was notified by counsel.  By

 05         counsel.

 06  1039               Q.   Your counsel.  I don't want to get

 07         into any kind of privileged conversation but to the

 08         extent we're talking about what was reported to you

 09         vis-a-vis West Face's position on that, what was

 10         reported to you in terms of what West Face was

 11         saying?

 12                     A.   That basically I would not be able

 13         to go back to work and we could work out an

 14         agreement by which -- under which I would resign.

 15  1040               Q.   Okay.  And was an agreement worked

 16         out, some sort of resignation agreement?

 17                     A.   Yes.

 18  1041               Q.   Can you produce that agreement for

 19         me?

 20         U/A         MR. CENTA:  Take that under advisement.

 21                     BY MR. DIPUCCHIO:

 22  1042               Q.   Do you recall any other calls

 23         beyond the ones listed here, Mr. Moyse?

 24                     A.   No, I wouldn't have called West

 25         Face.
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 01                     MR. DIPUCCHIO:  I think, subject to the

 02         undertakings and advisements, counsel, those are my

 03         questions.

 04                     MR. CENTA:  Thank you.

 05         -- Whereupon the examination concluded at 4:02 p.m.
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